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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERE WD

The board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of Golden Century
International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) hereby presents the
audited consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group has already ceased certain businesses during the Year, and that
the comparative figures of the consolidated statement of profit or loss have
been restated to conform with the presentation adopted in the Year.

Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$44,747,000 for the Year,
which represented an increase of approximately 49.12% when compared
with that of last year (2021 (restated): approximately HK$30,008,000).

Due to the tough business environment, the revenue contributed by the
financial business recorded a regression and recorded a significant drop
from approximately HK$19,520,000 in 2021 (restated) to approximately
HK$2,612,000 during the Year.

The negative impact brought by the financial business has been outweighed
by the contributions made by general trading business and comprehensive
healthcare business. During the Year, the Group has commenced to engage
in trading business of plastic components which contributed a revenue of
approximately HK$13,590,000. With the sale of mask products during the
5th wave of coronavirus pandemic in Hong Kong, the contribution from
the comprehensive healthcare business has recorded an increase from
approximately HK$10,488,000 (restated) to approximately HK$28,196,000.

It was also noted that revenue of approximately HK$349,000 came from the
coalbed methane exploration and exploitation business for the Year (2021:
Nil).

Gross Profit

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$2,735,000 for the
Year which indicated a decrease of about 84.48% when compared with that
of last year (2021 (restated): approximately HK$17,623,000). It was mainly
attributable to the contraction of businesses in the financial sector.

Other Income

The other income decreased by about 47.80% from approximately
HK$7,439,000 for 2021 (restated) to approximately HK$3,883,000 for the
Year. It was mainly attributable to the decline in the income of sublease
office area to an independent third party as well as some referral incomes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Gains and Losses

The gains of approximately HK$40,838,000 for 2021 (restated) decreased
to approximately HK$4,367,000 for the Year. It was mainly attributable to
(i) impairment loss on right-of-use asset of approximately HK$10,116,000
recognised for the Year; and (ii) a gain on fair value change of convertible
notes — embedded derivatives of approximately HK$34,383,000 was
recognised for 2021.

Administrative Expenses

The Group recorded the administrative expenses of approximately
HK$65,518,000 for the Year, which indicated a slight increase of about 1.83%
from approximately HK$64,342,000 of last year (restated).

Loss from Continuing Operations

The Group increased the loss of approximately HK$10,349,000 of last year
(restated) to a loss of approximately HK$154,701,000 for the Year, which
was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in gross profit; (ii) the significant
increase in write-off of property, plant and equipment for the Year; (iii) the
increase in the impairment loss on production sharing contract; (iv) the
increase in the impairment loss on property, plant and equipment; and (v) the
significant decrease in other gains.

Finance Costs

The finance costs incurred for the Year were approximately HK$3,405,000
(2021 (restated): approximately HK$53,825,000), which were mainly
imputed interests on lease liabilities. The significant decrease was because no
imputed interest on convertible notes was incurred during the Year.

Loss from Discontinued Operations

During the Year, the Group has decided to discontinue the operation of the
wealth management business and disposed of the electronic components
business. Please refer to the notes 15 and 37 to the consolidated financial
statements for details.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The businesses of the Group were classified as “Industrial Sector” and
“Financial Sector”. During the Year, the Group has decided to discontinue
the operation of electronic components business and wealth management
business.

.
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Industrial Sector
The industrial sector comprises (a) coalbed methane (“CBM”) business; (b)
general trading business; and (c) comprehensive healthcare business.

(@) CBM Business (@) REREXE

SiEEERZREEAR LA | GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

The Group, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Canada Can-
Elite Energy Limited (“Can-Elite”), entered into the production sharing
contract (the “PSC”) with China United Coalbed Methane Corporation
Limited (“China United”), a state-owned company which is wholly-
owned by China National Offshore Oil Corporation (“CNOOC”)
authorised by the government of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
to partner with foreign companies to explore, develop and produce
CBM resources. Pursuant to the PSC, Can-Elite is the operator of the
Anhui CBM resources and holds 70% of participating interests in the
PSC for a term of 30 years starting from 2008.

The contract area is divided into Area A (part of Luling Block with
an area of 23.686 square kilometres that has its proven reserves
submitted) (“Area A”) and Area B (primary part of Su’nan Block with an
area of 401.942 square kilometres, with the proven reserve yet to be
submitted) (“Area B”). Area A can start production as soon as the overall
development plan (“ODP”) has been filed with relevant government
authorities of the PRC. The fifth revised agreement of the PSC made
between Can-Elite and China United on 10 August 2020 in respect of
the extension of the exploration period expired on 31 March 2022. After
lengthy discussion, the parties concerned entered into an agreement on
3 January 2023, and details of which were: (a) an agreement, pursuant
to which each of Can-Elite and China United agreed to release the
obligations and liabilities of Can-Elite in Area B under the PSC; and
(b) the sixth modified agreement of the PSC, pursuant to which the
exploration period of Area A had been further extended to 31 March
2024 (the “Sixth Modification Agreement”). For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 3 January 2023.
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The Area A is currently in the preparation stage before the overall
development, including the preparation of the ODP for the Luling gas
field, the continuation of the production test of the horizontal wells, the
processing and test marketing of the produced gas from the horizontal
wells, etc. In particular, new progress was made in the production
trial for a horizontal well (CLG20HL-01). Although the production
management of the well was more difficult than expected, we were able
to preliminarily explore the most appropriate dewatering and production
system as well as equipment selection and management technology
suitable for horizontal well and this type of well, which provided
valuable technical data and experience to the production management
for development and production in large-batch wells. Earlier this
year, a surface gas compression treatment facility was built near the
site of the horizontal well. Meanwhile, through an agreement entered
into by China United and Suzhou Zhongran City Gas Development
Co., Ltd. (“Suzhou Zhongran Company”), which is a subsidiary of
China Gas Holdings Limited, one of the largest transregional energy
services company in the PRC, Suzhou Zhongran Company has laid
the pipeline to the well site and shall be responsible for transporting
the processed CBM to urban users. Can-Elite began to supply gas in
February 2022. However, the gas produced gradually decreased due
to technical clogging of downhole reservoirs in the horizontal well and
other reasons. At the second half of 2022, gas supply and sales were
suspended because of insufficient gas production to meet the minimum
operations of compression and processing treatment equipment. As
of the end of 2022, the horizontal well was also shut down for repair
as a result of downhole failure, which has cumulatively produced
approximately 404,000 cubic meters of CBM. As of the end of 2022,
the cumulative total gas supplied and sales of CMB was approximately
163,000 cubic meters. Although there were temporary technical issues
such as downhole reservoirs clogging and frequent repair operations,
CLG20HL-01 is the first horizontal well with successful technical testing
result in Luling Block, and its initial achievement of the production,
transportation and sales of CBM marked a milestone for the CBM
development in this block.
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The preparation of the ODP of Area A and the completion of its
filing with the government department are important prerequisites for
commercial production. In 2022, although the preparation of the ODP
report and the necessary stage review were affected by uncertain factors
such as the domestic coronavirus pandemic situation in Beijing and
Suzhou, as well as changes in the CNOOC project management review
mechanism, the preparation work has generally been progressing in
an orderly manner. The recalculation of reserves in the block has been
completed, reviewed and approved by the experts from China United
in December 2021. The results of the core basic work of the special
proposal for geology and gas reservoir engineering officially passed
the expert review of CNOOC at the end of May 2022, making it a rare
development and investment project in the CNOOC system that passed
its very first formal review. The drilling engineering design, surface
gathering and transmission engineering design, investment estimation
and economic evaluation parts of the development proposal were
basically completed and approved by the experts from China United
in October 2022. In accordance with the overall review process,
the above-mentioned overall proposal is pending submission of the
application for final approval by China United to CNOOC. After the
final approval, China United will initiate the filing of the application
with the National Energy Administration , which means that the
technical work of the ODP establishment has been basically completed
and significant progress has been made in the preparation and filing
works. Meanwhile, with the progress of the preparation of the ODP,
the preparation and approval process of other government support
documents required for the development and production has also been
initiated with the support of China United, and will be given priority in
2023. While the ODP and various documents are being prepared for
filing, the development trial and various preparatory work will continue
to be completed, and strive to enter a new stage of comprehensive
development and construction in 2024.

The Group has been reviewing its business needs and financial
position on a regular basis with an aim to optimise its strategic business
development. To this end, Can-Elite will keep on working closely
with its partner, China United, to complete the preparation for the
development of the Area A and to achieve the best interests of the
shareholders, and also contribute to the “dual carbon” strategy of the
State.
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The CBM business has recorded revenue of approximately HK$349,000
during the Year (2021 (restated): Nil) and a loss of approximately
HK$92,790,000 (2021 (restated): approximately HK$43,834,000). The
significant increase in the loss was mainly due to the recognition of an
impairment loss on the PSC of approximately HK$32,464,000 (2021
(restated): approximately HK$5,342,000) and a one-off property, plant
and equipment written off of approximately HK$38,468,000, which
was mainly the results of the release of obligations and liabilities in
Area B, and no effect of convertible notes was recorded in the Year
(2021 (restated): imputed interest of approximately HK$48,388,000
and gain on fair value change of the embedded derivative portion of
approximately HK$34,383,000).

General Trading Business

To broaden the income stream of the Group, the Company has
embarked on trading business of plastic components since the second
half of the Year. During the Year, the business derived revenue of
approximately HK$13,590,000 and a minor loss of approximately
HK$177,000.

Comprehensive Healthcare Business

During the Year, the Group derived revenue of approximately
HK$28,196,000 (2021 (restated): approximately HK$10,488,000)
and a loss of approximately HK$21,302,000 (2021 (restated): loss of
approximately HK$692,000) from this business, mainly from the sales
of meltblown fabrics used for the filtration layer in face masks and sales
of related raw materials and mask products.

Due to the keen competition in the PRC market, the Group has halted
the production of meltblown fabrics in the second half of the Year.
As such, the relevant property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$19,345,000 has been impaired. On the other hand, the Group
distributed mask products during the 5th wave of coronavirus pandemic
in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to monitor the development of
this business so as to adapt to the market change. As at 31 December
2022, the Group had invested US$300,000 into a fund which focuses
on investment in pharmaceutical technology companies.
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Financial Sector EERSE
The financial sector includes (a) financial business and (b) proprietary — ©EURIEEIEQ) S BZER (b)) B EREER -

investment business.

(@) Financial Business (@ THEH
The financial business consisted of securities brokerage, money lending, TRIEBRERESSCL  NE - BEE - BE
consultancy, asset management and referral service. IR B RTS o
The overall business performance was adversely affected by the BEEBRRZINERTS T RFEDNR
downtrend in the capital market and persistent coronavirus pandemic. RERBNTNZE - REBEBAT - &
Under such circumstances, to reduce the operating costs, the Company FRREERE  RRAAIE@REIEEER
has decided to cease the operation of its indirectly wholly-owned ME2ENBAAEERER(BEB)E
subsidiary, GCINT (HK) Limited which engaged in Type 1 (dealing in RARI(EREEBENES7NBEES LB
securities) and Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) regulated activities BRI RERBEMRG DETRENE
within the meaning under the Securities and Future Ordinance (Cap.571 1B(EFRZ) RE2B(HEEORS)R
of the laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”). For details, please refer to the REEY) - FBEHFL2HARREHR-Z
Company’s announcement dated 6 December 2022. During the Year, TCFETZARBRRAE cRAFERN
the business derived revenue of approximately HK$2,612,000 (2021 ZEBEEWFEL2,612,0008T(ZE=—
(restated): approximately HK$19,520,000) and a loss of approximately F(LEF) - 419,520,000 7T) MEEEL
HK$11,329,000 (2021 (restated): a profit of approximately 11,329,000/ ( ZFEZ—F (KL E7]) : &
HK$4,497,000). F494,497 0005 7T )

(b) Proprietary Investment Business (b) HERE¥H
Under the impact of coronavirus pandemic, tense Sino-US relations REEFERN - RS - PEERBEREIK
and global political uncertainty, the stock market remained volatile BUATHTEMZET RHHERY -
during the Year. Thus, the Group has adopted a more prudent approach I AEERREREN G ERET - W
in proprietary investment and recorded a profit of approximately R [E A 8515 4 A1 £ 400,0008 T (= F
HK$400,000 during the Year (2021 (restated): loss of approximately ——F(EF) : BHELI946,00087T) °

HK$946,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any securities RZE_ZF+_A=+—0 FEEILL
investments. BRFBEHAERKE -

Discontinued Operations B Jl=

(@) Wealth Management Business (@ HEEEXEH
To conduct general and long term business (including linked long RRBEBETRE-RERBER (REHEE
business) relating to regulated activities in Hong Kong, the indirectly REIRB)MEBEZRRERT  AOrHE
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, GCINT Wealth Management 2ENBRARCEBRETEERERRAF
Limited (“GCINT WM”) was in possession of a principal intermediary ([EEERBEERE ) FEEEENE485
registration within the meaning under the Mandatory Provident Fund BRI NES T EBRBIPTIEN EER T A
Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the laws of Hong Kong) and insurance FHI R BB EDI FE 41 BRI FEBIPTIEER
brokerage company license within the meaning under the Insurance rasag A EIEIR -

Ordinance (Cap. 41 of the laws of Hong Kong).

Due to negative impacts arising from the prolonged border restriction ZHEREBNRBERREIARBRES
between the PRC and Hong Kong as well as the persistent coronavirus RERENEELE  UEEREBNER
pandemic, there is enormous pressure being exerted on the development EREREN - KEEZERE - KARARRE
of the wealth management business. After careful consideration, the (RIEEEZETRS - WK A& REE L iEARRE
Company has decided to cease the operation of this business and will [ - FIBF2EARRERA-Z =
apply for revoke of the relevant licenses afterwards. For details, please TZARBOREREGEEWBRERMES -

refer to the Company’s announcement on 6 December 2022 and note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(b)  Electronic Components Business

Due to the fact that the global consumables market has been
sliding into a recession, the revenue generated from the electronic
components segment further dropped to approximately HK$980,000
(2021: approximately HK$1,772,000) which represented a decrease
of approximately 44.70% and recorded a loss of approximately
HK$930,000 (2021: loss of approximately HK$1,115,000) when
compared with last year. In view of the stringent market situation, the
Group decided to dispose its interest in this business segment to its
minority shareholder by the end of the Year. Please also refer to the
note 15 and 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROSPECT

Owing to the stringent and fluctuating business environment, the Group
has encountered tremendous challenges during the Year. Despite this, the
Directors will continue striving to improve the financial position of the
Group by exploring various business opportunities, chances for fund raising
and cost reduction etc. In addition, the Group will continue to work with its
business partner(s) to develop the CBM business for the optimal interests of
the shareholders of the Company.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash and bank balances amounted
to approximately HK$34,632,000 (2021: approximately HK$106,379,000),
which were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The
net current liabilities of the Group were approximately HK$186,618,000
(2021: the net current liabilities of approximately HK$157,442,000). As at
31 December 2022, the Group did not have bonds (2021: approximately
HK$9,999,000), and there were loan from Century Gold Millennium
International Holdings Group Limited (“Ultimate Holding Company”) of
approximately HK$107,460,000 (2021: approximately HK$107,510,000)
and loan from Mr. Pan Jibiao, the ultimate controlling party of the
Company (“Ultimate Controlling Party” or “Mr. Pan”) of approximately
HK$66,080,000 (2021: approximately HK$70,477,000).

The amount due to the Ultimate Holding Company and the Ultimate
Controlling Party were unsecured, interest-free and denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB, while the bonds was interest bearing with a fixed
interest rate of 7% per annum and were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

EEBENWEON

(b) EFEMHEHR
HREERMTERARR EFEHS
HEANWGZE— P TEKZE4980,00078 T

T4 #1,772,00087T) © BEF
W #)44.70% - R ExASEHE49930,00078 T
(ZZT=—F : BENI,11500087T) - &
RTISH 2B ERE - REERTERARFEFEA
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(ZEZ—%F : 499,999,000/ 7C)  REMLSE
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BEER R DT

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$124,383,000 (2021: approximately HK$366,232,000)
and total liabilities of approximately HK$250,739,000 (2021: approximately
HK$341,480,000). The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total net
debt over total capital and expressed as percentage figure, was 424.81% as at
31 December 2022 (2021: 82.72%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital deficiency of approximately
HK$126,306,000 (2021: equity attributable to the Shareholders of
approximately HK$30,410,000).

During the Year, the Group generally financed its operations from net
proceeds from issuance of shares under general mandate in 2021 and cash
flow from various operations.

COMMITMENTS

Details of the commitments of the Group are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC with most of the
transactions settled in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States
dollars. The existing currency peg of Hong Kong dollars with United States
dollars will likely continue in the near future, so the exposure to foreign
exchange fluctuation is minimal.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure

and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

CONTINGENCIES

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had no other contingencies as at 31 December 2022.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no charges on assets.

BEESMELE

RZE-_—_F+-A=+—H8 KEFZ#E
BEAK1243830008 (=T = —F + 4
366,232,000/ 7T ) kBB (& A#)250,739,0007 7T
(ZZT=—F : #341,480,000/87T) - NEEZE
EAELER(RFERAERNEERTE - WA
BOLBTI RN ZF+=A=+—AH%
424.81%(=FE=—4F : 82.72%) °
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LITIGATION

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2022,
Evershine Cleaning Service Company Limited (“Plaintiff”) issued a writ of
summons dated 27 May 2022 in the District Court of Hong Kong (“District
Court”) under the action number DCCJ 1930 of 2022 (“Action”) against
GCINT WM, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, claiming
that GCINT WM was allegedly in breach of duty of care owed to the Plaintiff
and/or vicariously liable for the alleged breach of duty of care by a former
staff of GCINT WM in handling the Plaintiff’s claim request under a public
liability insurance applied through GCINT WM (“Alleged Breach of Duty”) in
relation to an accident involving a third party (“Third Party”).

The remedies sought by the Plaintiff against GCINT WM under the Action
are (i) a sum of HK$721,485.61 being contribution to the employees’
compensation paid by the employer of the Third Party to the Third Party
together with interest and costs, of which the Plaintiff is liable to pay to
the said employer in an action under the case number DCCJ 713/2022
in the District Court (“DCCJ 713/2022"); (ii) a sum of HK$395,000 being
compensation paid by the Plaintiff to the Third Party in a separate personal
injury action under the case number DCPI 815/2021 in the District Court
(“DCPI 815/2021"); (iii) the Plaintiff’s legal costs incurred in relation to DCCJ
713/2022 and DCPI 815/2021; (iv) further loss and damage; (v) costs; and (vi)
interest.

The Alleged Breach of Duty happened prior to the Group’s acquisition of
GCINT WM, which took place in September 2020. Please also refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2022 for the Action. There
was no significant update about the litigation as of the date of this report.

Save for the above, there was no material litigation, arbitration or claim of
material importance in which the Company is engaged or pending or which
was threatened against the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had no material event after the reporting period.
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EEENWROMN

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 40 employees, of which 20 were
in Hong Kong and 20 were in the PRC. Employee remuneration policy of the
Group is reviewed periodically and is determined based on performance of
the Group and employees’ responsibilities, qualifications and performances.
Remuneration packages comprise basic salary, discretionary bonus,
mandatory provident fund schemes for employees in Hong Kong and the
state-managed employee pension schemes for employees in the PRC.

The emolument payable to the Directors was determined with reference to
their qualification and experience and subject to review of the remuneration
committee of the Company.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures in the Year.

DETAILS OF AUDIT QUALIFICATION AND RESPONSE FROM
THE COMPANY

Details of the Audit Qualification

a.  Material uncertainties relating to going concern
The Group incurred a net loss attributable to owners to the Company of
approximately HK$155,759,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.
As at the same date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$186,618,000, the Group's total liabilities
exceeded its total assets by approximately HK$126,356,000 and its
total borrowings amounted to approximately HK$184,726,000 while its
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$34,332,000.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded outstanding loans from
the Ultimate Holding Company and the Ultimate Controlling Party of
approximately HK$107,460,000 and HK$66,080,000 respectively and
the convertible notes interest payables due to the Ultimate Holding
Company (“Convertible Notes Interest Payables”) of approximately
HK$5,831,000 which are due for repayment within the next twelve
months.

EERFMBR
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b. Insufficient audit evidence in respect of Convertible Notes Interest  b.
Payables, loans from the Ultimate Holding Company and the Ultimate

Controlling Party

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of the loans from
Ultimate Holding Company and Ultimate Controlling Party were
approximately HK$107,460,000 and HK$66,080,000 respectively, and
the Convertible Notes Interest Payables respectively was approximately
HK$5,831,000.

Up to the date of this annual report, no confirmation was received
by the auditor from the Ultimate Holding Company and Ultimate
Controlling Party in relation to the interest expenses, interest payables,
the carrying amounts of the loans and Convertible Notes Interest
Payables. The auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy themselves as to the completeness, existence and
accuracy of the Convertible Notes Interest Payables, loans from the
Ultimate Holding Company and the Ultimate Controlling Party and the
related accrued interest.

In this regard, the auditor issued a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated
financial statement of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 on
material uncertainties on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and the insufficient audit evidence in respect of Convertible Notes Interest
Payables, loans from the Ultimate Holding Company and the Ultimate
Controlling Party (the “Audit Qualification”).

Proposed Action Plan of the Group to Address the Audit Qualification
In order to address the uncertainties which may cast doubt regarding the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and with a view to removing
the disclaimer, the Company had taken and intends to continue to implement
the measures as detailed below to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve its cash flows, including:

(i) the Group will continue its ongoing efforts in convincing the existing
creditors (including the Ultimate Holding Company and the Ultimate
Controlling Party) not to take any actions against the Group for
immediate payment of the principals and interest of the borrowings.
During the course of the audit, the management of the Group has
considered several methods to contact each of the Ultimate Holding
Company and the Ultimate Controlling Party and based on its best
effort, the Board sent a negative confirmation to the Ultimate Holding
Company on 14 March 2023 (the “Confirmation”) and intends to
confirm that each of the Ultimate Holding Company and the Ultimate
Controlling Party has no any current intention to take action against the
Group to demand immediate payment. Up to the date of this annual
report, there has been no response from the Ultimate Holding Company
and the Ultimate Controlling Party about its intention as opposed to the
Confirmation;

RZZEZE-_—F+-_A=+—H H&KE
AT RGEEESFERNEREES A
7 %9 107,460,000 7 7T & #) 66,080,000 /&
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BERENWNR M

the Group is tightening cost controls over the daily administrative and
other operating expenses including staff payroll, IT expenditure and
directors’ fee etc., aiming at improving the working capital and cash
flow position of the Group; and

the Group will also continue to seek other alternative financing,
including proceeds from the disposal of assets, to finance the settlement
of its existing financial obligations and future operating and capital
expenditures.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
management of the Company will be able to achieve its plans and measures

as de

scribed above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going

concern would subject to the following:

(i)

(if)

there may be uncertainties on the Ultimate Holding Company and the
Ultimate Controlling Party of not taking actions against the Group to
exercise their rights to demand immediate payment of the principals
and interests of the borrowings; and

on 3 January 2023, the Group successfully entered into the Sixth
Modification Agreement to extend the exploration period of Area A to
31 March 2024 on the conditions that the Group shall pay a minimum
exploration expenditure amount and drill a required number of new
wells in Area A as agreed within the exploration period. In light of this,
there may be uncertainties about the Group's ability to obtain additional
sources of financing to finance to the Group’s CBM business, including
capital expenditure needed as well as other funding needs, before
generating any operation cash flow.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and measures, it
might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has not

been

reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WONG Man Keung, aged 55, was appointed as an executive director in
January 2023. He was a member of the Institute of Certified Management
Accountants of Australia. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in direct
investment, commercial banking and manufacturing in the People’s Republic
of China.

From November 2011 to January 2017, Mr. Wong was appointed as the
executive director and chief executive officer of Green International Holdings
Limited, whose shares are listed on main board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 2700). From November
2017 to March 2020, Mr. Wong was appointed as the executive director
of Lamtex Holdings Limited, whose shares was formerly listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1041).

LEE Nga Ching, aged 45, was appointed as an executive director in January
2023. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration in
Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong in 2004. Ms. Lee has
extensive experiences in corporate management. Since June 2015, Ms. Lee
has been appointed as an executive director of Orient Securities International
Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8001).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LAI Kin Keung, aged 72, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company in April 2020. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Lai received his Doctor of Philosophy
degree in civil engineering from Michigan State University, United States
of American, in September 1977. He is currently a professor at the College
of Economics, Shenzhen University, the PRC and an honorary professor at
the Department of Industrial and Manufacturing Systems Engineering, the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lai is also currently an independent non-
executive director of Zoomlion Heavy Industry Science and Technology
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1157) and Freetech Road Recycling Technology
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 6888), whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also an independent director of Bank
of Communications Schroders in Shanghai since October 2018. Mr. Lai was
an independent non-executive director of Minshang Creative Technology
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Food Wise Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1632) from November
2016 to July 2018. Mr. Lai was teaching at the City University of Hong Kong
from July 1985 to August 2016 where his last post was the chair professor
of management science between September 2003 and August 2016. Mr.
Lai was also the dean of the College of Business Administration of Hunan
University, the PRC, from February 2005 to February 2008.

Mr. Siu Kin Wai, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company in March 2023. He is also the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He was appointed as an executive
director of Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited (“Beijing Properties”), whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 925),
in July 2009 and the chief executive officer of Beijing Properties in July
2017. Following the reform of the internal management structure of Beijing
Properties, Mr. Siu’s title was changed from the chief executive officer to the
general manager of Beijing Properties in February 2023 without substantial
alteration in duties and responsibilities.

Mr. Siu graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Mr. Siu has extensive experience in corporate
management.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Siu is a director of Brilliant Bright Holdings Limited, which is a controlling
shareholder of Beijing Properties. Mr. Siu is the non-executive director of
CAQ Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange (stock code: CAQ) since April 2015, an executive director of
Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (stock Code: 2389) since May 2017, a
director of MillenMin Ventures Inc., a company listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange (TSXV stock code: MVM) since July 2017, an independent non-
executive director of Orient Securities International Holdings Limited (stock
Code: 8001), whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
since September 2017, respectively. Mr. Siu served as an independent non-
executive director of Agritrade Resources Limited (formerly listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock Code: 1131)) during the period from 24
August 2010 to 9 June 2021.

WONG Man Hung Patrick, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in April 2021. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the University of East Asia, Macau in 1991 and
was a member of the Executive Program for International Managers given at
Columbia University in the City of New York in the United States of America
in 1982. Mr. Wong was also admitted as an associate of The Association of
Cost and Executive Accountants in 1994. Mr. Wong has extensive experience
in corporate management and has over 30 years of experience in providing
financial advisory service for institutional clients and has involved in the
financing activities for various infrastructure projects in Hong Kong and the
PRC since the 1990s.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of Golden Century
International Holdings Group Limited (“Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance
practices and believes that maintaining high standard of corporate
governance practices is crucial to the development of the Company
and essential for maintaining and promoting investor’s confidence and
maximising shareholders’ returns.

The Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules had been amended effective on 1 January 2022 (the “New CG Code”),
and the amendments apply to fiscal year beginning on or after 1 January
2022. Major amendments of the New CG Code includes the alignment of
the Company’s culture with its purpose, values and strategy, establishment
of anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies, board independence and
diversity or its members, communication with shareholders, publication of
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) reports at the same time as
publication of annual reports, and rearrangement of the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code. To strengthen and enhance the highest
level of corporate governance practices and conduct, the Company had
adopted the code provisions under the New CG Code with the exception of
code provision C.2.1, details of which will be explained below.

In order to protect and enhance the benefits of the shareholders, the Board
and its executive management will continue to monitor and review the
governance policies so as to ensure that such policies comply with the
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the directors’
securities transactions on exactly the terms and required standard contained
in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry to all the Directors, they confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code and its code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the Year.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The primary responsibilities of the Board are to make decision on the
objectives, strategic plans, budgets and management structure of the
Company; to oversee the management of the business and affairs of the
Group; to supervise the management of the business and affairs with the
objective of enhancing the Company and its shareholders’ value with the
proper delegation of power to the management for its day-to-day operation;
to implement the Board’s decision by implementing the budgets and strategic
plans and developing the organisation of the Company.

The Board has reviewed, inter alia, the performance and formulated business
strategy of the Group during the Year. Also, the Board has reviewed and
approved the annual and interim results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 respectively.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company.

The Board also holds the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting, as well as managing its ESG-related issues. The Board
recognises the importance of identifying and addressing ESG-related risks,
including those related to climate, and believes that a focus on managing
these factors can result in enhanced and long-lasting business value for the
Group.

Composition

The Board reviews and approves corporate matters such as business strategies
and investments as well as the general administration and management of
the Group. As at 31 December 2022, the Board consists of one executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”):

Executive Director
Shao Yanxia (resigned with effect from 17 January 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Lai Kin Keung

Yeung Chi Wai (resigned with effect from 22 March 2023)
Wong Man Hung Patrick

The Directors excepted for the resigned Directors as aforesaid, accompanied
by their respective biographical details, are listed in the section of
“Biographical Details of Directors” in this annual report and that the
INEDs are expressly identified in all the Company’s publication such as
announcement, circular or relevant corporate communications in which the
names of directors of the Company as disclosed.
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Out of the three INEDs, Mr. Yeung Chi Wai possesses appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and related financial management
expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Each of the
INEDs has made an annual confirmation of independence as required under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered that all INEDs
are independent and ensured that independent views and input are made
available to the Board.

The Company considers that the Board has the necessary skills and
experience appropriate for discharging their duties as Directors in the
best interest of the Company and that the current Board size is adequate
for its present operations. Each of the Directors keeps abreast of his/her
responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Company. All Directors are updated from
time to time with development in the laws and regulations applicable to the
Company.

The Board has regularly reviewed the contribution required from the
Directors to perform their responsibilities to the Company, and whether they
are spending sufficient time performing them.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) among the members of the Board.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts meeting on a regular basis at approximately quarterly
intervals and on an ad hoc basis, as required by business needs. The articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) allow Board meetings to be
conducted by way of telephone or otherwise orally and any resolutions to be
passed by way of written resolutions circulated to and signed by all Directors
from time to time when necessary unless any matters in which a substantial
shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest. Notices of regular Board
meetings were served to all Directors at least 14 days before the meetings
while reasonable notice is generally given for other Board meetings so as to
ensure that each of them had an opportunity to attend the meetings. Agendas
and accompanying Board papers were given to all Directors in a timely
manner before the appointed date of Board meetings and at least 3 days
before the regular Board meetings. All Directors are given an opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings. Sufficient
information was also supplied by the management to the Board to keep the
Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make decisions, which are made in the best
interests of the Company. Separate independent professional advice would
be provided to the Directors, upon reasonable request, to assist them to
discharge their duties. The Company has also arranged appropriate insurance
cover in respect of legal action against the Directors. Minutes of Board
meetings recorded in sufficient detail of matters considered and the decisions
reached were kept by the company secretary and available for inspection by
the Directors.
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The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings and general
meetings during the Year is set out below:

N\
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REAWME

FRAREENEZRSELBRAS I HE L
Rl CNE

Attendance/Number of

BEHER XY
Annual

Board General
Name of Directors Meetings Meeting
EEpns EsREE BREEFRE
Mr. Pan Jibiao (Note 1) BRI Sk (MatT) 3/6 171
Ms. Shao Yanxia (Note 2) BRYBEE 4 (Hf3t2) 6/6 11
Mr. Lai Kin Keung REREE 6/6 11
Mr. Yeung Chi Wai (Note 3) BB (HE3) 6/6 11
Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick F XS 6/6 11
Note: Bt
1. Resigned as an executive director, the chairman and the chief executive officer with 1. BH{EITESE - FEHRTBEH R T __F+—

effect from 14 November 2022 A+ BaER

2. Resigned as an executive director with effect from 17 January 2023 2. BERTEER R-To=F-ATLHER
3. Resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from 22 March 2023 3. BHEBUFRTEF BT -_=F=A_+_Hi

The chairman promotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating
the effective contribution of INEDs in particular and ensuring constructive
relations between executive Directors and INEDs. During the Year, the
chairman held a meeting with the INEDs without the presence of the other
Director.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Deviation from Code Provision
C.2.1)

Under the code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer (“CEO”) should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The divisions of responsibilities between the chairman and CEO
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the Year, Mr. Pan was the CEO of the Company and the chairman
of the Board (the “Chairman”) until his resignation as an executive director,
CEO and the Chairman on 14 November 2022. This constitutes a deviation
from the code provision C.2.1, but the Board took the view that Mr. Pan
should assume the roles of CEO and Chairman so as to enhance the strategic
development of business and operation of the Group more efficiently
and effectively. As of the date of this report, the Board is in the process of
identifying a suitable candidate for filling in the vacancies of the Chairman
and CEO of the Group.

In order to protect and enhance the benefits of the shareholders of the
Company, the Board and its executive management will continue to monitor
and review the governance policies so as to ensure that such policies comply
with the increasingly stringent regulatory requirements.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
directors are laid down in the Articles. The Board as a whole is responsible
for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the appointment of
Directors and assessing the independence of INEDs.

Under the code provision B.2.2 and in accordance with the Articles, directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any new directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the board should be subject to election by shareholders at the next annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) after their appointment.

Attendance of Non-executive Directors at General Meetings

Under the code provision C.1.6, INEDs and other non-executive directors,
as equal board members, should give the board and any committees on
which they serve the benefit of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds
and qualifications through regular attendance and active participation.
Generally, they should also attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders.

At the respective general meetings of the Company, there were executive
Directors and INEDs present to enable the Board to develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the shareholders of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. All Board appointments shall
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives and
measurable objectives including but not limited to gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how. The
ultimate decision shall be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee will review
the Policy and the measurable objectives at least annually to ensure the
continued effectiveness of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Policy
and review the Board composition under diversified perspectives annually
to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the needs of the businesses of the Company.
The Nomination Committee would receive nominations from shareholders
or directors when such are tendered and make recommendations to the
Board on the candidacy of the nominees, having regard to the Board’s
compositional requirements and suitability of the nominees. As at the date
of this report, the Board comprises five Directors. Three of them are INEDs,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management process.
The Company targets to maintain a Board with female representation,
and gender diversity is achieved in respect of the Board. The Company is
conscious of gender diversity when considering potential successors to the
Board to achieve gender diversity, all appointments are ultimately made on a
merit basis taking into account available and suitable candidates. The Board
is also characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of
gender, nationality, professional background and skills.

Our diversity philosophy including gender diversity was generally followed in
the workforce throughout the Group for the Year. As at 31 December 2022,
approximately 48% of the total workforce was female. The Board considered
that the Group’s workforce is diverse in terms of gender. The Group will
continue to maintain the gender diversity of the Group’s workforce in the
coming years.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Development Programme

All Directors are provided with necessary induction and information to ensure
that they have a proper understanding of the operations and businesses of the
Company as well as their responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules
and regulations. Moreover, Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a

whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional A ARIHEZEEFDEIFESERE - BFEW
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the ~ E¥{E S Mk L iEE - RAFE » 2RES
Year, all Directors are provided with updates on the latest development Rt ETR AR EMABBEEZREERT 2 &
and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory ~ ¥T3EREB T - BETE R EEHZEHKE
requirements. Some Directors also attended seminars and/or conferences — F#2 GRIMEE)S - EMMRBIER - A0 E
and/or talks organised by professional bodies on topics including corporate kIS EFEFE 2 A& R Eg#H L5
governance, Listing Rules updates, legal supervising or financial updates. &z o RIFEBATRENLS: EFHNEE-T

A summary of training received by Directors during the year ended 31 ==+ ZA=+—HIFFEEZIEIOHEZ 0
December 2022 according to the records provided by the Directors is as T :
follows:

Types of Training

Name of Directors BEENE IR
Mr. Pan Jibiao (Note 1) BT SE (BTEET) A
Ms. Shao Yanxia (Note 2) BrunEs = (H1at2) A, B
Mr. Lai Kin Keung REoR bt A B
Mr. Yeung Chi Wai (Note 3) GBS (M1AE3) A, B
Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick EXERE A B
A: Attending seminars and/or conferences and/or talks A MEEE R EE R RS

B:  Reading updates on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other ~ B: B#EABLHRAIREMBREERESRTE 2 &H

relevant legal and regulatory requirements BRIEEEH
Note: At
1. Resigned as an executive director, the chairman and the chief executive officer with 1. BIIWITES TRFTREH  WZT==F1+—
effect from 14 November 2022 A+HBEER
2. Resigned as an executive director with effect from 17 January 2023 2. BERTEER N-To=F-A+TLHER
3. Resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from 22 March 2023 3. BHEBYIFMTEE AT _=ZF=-HA-t+_RH&
R

SiEEERZREEAR LA | GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

N
(o)}

o




Al

A

\

AN/
=N} // \\
ﬂ/»%//////////j N

gy
I/ﬂ

/7

%

W
2\

\

N

1

4.

Corporate Governance Report

BOARD COMMITTEE

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee (collectively
“Board Committees”), with defined written terms of reference which are in
line with the code provisions of the New CG Code describing their respective
authority and duties and for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. The terms of reference of the Board Committees are published on
the websites of the Company (www.gci.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk). All the members of the Board committees are INEDs.
All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties, and upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
Minutes of the Board Committees meetings recorded sufficient detail of
matters and the decisions reached were kept by the company secretary and
available for inspection by the respective committee members.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration structure and
policy, determining the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and the senior management as well as making recommendations
to the Board the remuneration of non-executive Directors with reference to
the corporate goals and objectives of the Board. No Director takes part in any
discussion on his/her own remuneration. As at 31 December 2022, members
of the Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick
(Chairman), Mr. Lai Kin Keung and Mr. Yeung Chi Wai, all of whom are
INEDs.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the Year and has
reviewed the salary trend and discussed human resources matter of the
Group. The attendance record is set out below:

N\

1> 7= =3

REAWME

EERZEEE

EER[E=-AZEEE  HAATHEEE 17
2ZEghERZEg (B EEREES])
SEERZEGYUEHEMATHBES
CBEMEEAMASEEREZESMBER
BEREEARASEBENRTEBONCES
BTz FRAGX - EEREE R ESET
B R B A U (www.gci.com.hk) K B 32 BT 48 ik
(www.hkexnews.hk) - EEREZEZMAEKEE
BB TESR - MBEEFREEGHERH
BAERUBITERE - AN B AR EKRRE

BEBATSKBEUEEZR - BRAERQAR
E-EERZEENERLEFATHEREE
RETZERRRE - ARARWEFEZUAIHEERH

=

EExRZEEXEEH -
FMESS
FHEZERBE2REFROXBFEME R

BEFHEBMBETRILWES BiREHEER
F ETRRUTEESRaAEBABNETH
s o AR IERITE R E E R REE
BEE - EEE2AEHEAATHO TR
woMZE-—F+-A=+—H HFHEES
REBRTBEXHEE(FE)  BEBIEEREGE
B4 BEHRBIUIFNTES -

RAFE  FHEZEGERITMAGHE  UED

HFIBE RN RARENANEREE - HEL
SRESILGNT

Attendance/
Number of
Remuneration
Committee Meetings

N
S /NS

FMZEEEER
Name of Directors EEpng HERRE
Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick (Chairman) TR A(FE) 2/2
Mr. Lai Kin Keung Rizoe st 2/2
Mr. Yeung Chi Wai (Note 1) S BT (M) 2/2
rote: EE
1. Resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from 22 March 2023 1. BEBYHFRTEF B Z-_=F=A-t+-AK
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, taking into account
candidates’ qualifications, in particular any qualifications as required in
the Listing Rules, ability, working experience, leadership and professional
ethics in considering and recommending to the Board suitable persons for
appointment as Directors, reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
to complement the corporate strategy of the Company, and assessing the
independence of the INEDs. As at 31 December 2022, members of the
Nomination Committee comprised Mr. Lai Kin Keung (Chairman), Mr. Yeung
Chi Wai and Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick, all of whom are INEDs.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year and has
reviewed the board composition and discussed the amendments to the
Corporate Governance Code. The attendance record is set out below:

REEEE
REZECAENESREBEGARRES
MARFEZESERERAEE(LEZ LR
AR EREAIER) « 86~ TIEES - BEA 4
LEERT BERNEERMNERE  BERMA
K BREERETFENER - KEEMERUER
BARRNRZDER - AN AETFBIETT
BENBYIM RN-T-_—_F+-_A=+—8"
REZECHEBREREBLE(LEE) BEE
TERTXHEE  BREHABUIENITES -

RAFE REZEGYURTREHE - Wi
EXERMANK KR mEREERTAIRIER -

[RACERETIIT

Attendance/
Number of Nomination
Committee Meetings

REZEEEER
Name of Directors EEpE HEERY
Mr. Lai Kin Keung (Chairman) Razop et (FE) 71
Mr. Yeung Chi Wai (Note 1) SEELE (M) 11
Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick EXHERE 1/1
Note: Bt
1. Resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from 22 March 2023 1. BHEBVIINTEE B-T-_=F=A-+-Hi

R

Audit Committee ERERE

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process and
internal control and risk evaluation, overseeing the audit process, and liaison
among shareholder, the Board and the auditor of the Company. No former
partner of the Company’s existing auditing firm acted as a member of the
Audit Committee within two years from ceasing to be a partner or having any
financial interest in the auditing firm. As at 31 December 2022, members of
the Audit Committee comprised Mr. Yeung Chi Wai (Chairman), Mr. Wong
Man Hung Patrick and Mr. Lai Kin Keung, all of whom are INEDs.

ERZECAERPESTRUBIBHERING
HEBRERASELZERBTHOERME - BB
FiBRE - URBRE EEREAQRZEE 2
MR AR TIE - AR BIREZZE R RINATETAE %
ABEATHETARAEMEFRNLEEZEZE
K8 MERZBRARBETNHBEHZE - B
T FFZA=+—H BFZRZEEKEER
BEEREE(FE)  IXHEEERBREMRL
KBS ABYIERITES -
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Two meetings were held during the Year. The Audit Committee reviewed
(i) the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 and unaudited interim consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2022 of the Group with recommendation
to the Board for approval; (ii) the accounting policies adopted by the Group
and issues related to accounting practices with the senior management
and auditor of the Company, the audit scope and fees, and qualifications,
independence and performance of the auditor of the Company; and (iii) the
financial reporting system and internal control, environmental, social and
governance matters, risk management systems and internal audit function
of the Group. During the Year, the Audit Committee met the Company’s

s ¥ =3

A2 #5838
=) E/nﬁ =
RAFE  BRZESERITMALEHE  NOE

MASEHEE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLLHF
EMEEZEEVBERERBEE T 2F A
=+ HIEANEARREEZFHGREVHRE
HREBHEEREETREL  (VEARAERE
BABAZEMBR S ANEBATRMAZ SRR
He T EfIREEZ2EE BAHEENER  UR
RARIZEENH AR « B IEAMKRIE - R(ii)igad
NEF 2 BB HEZGIANABPESE - I]RE - i
GREREH  BREERGRANDEAE -
RAFE  BRZECHEARRZEMNEFAMKX

=S

auditors twice without the presence of the executive Directors. The SEHTERLENGZ o LELSERTIOT ¢
attendance record is set out below:
Attendance/
Number of Audit
Committee Meetings
EREESEE
Name of Directors EENER HEERE
Mr. Yeung Chi Wai (Chairman) (Note 1) SR (EE) (BaET) 2/2
Mr. Lai Kin Keung RiEeR et 2/2
Mr. Wong Man Hung Patrick T XL 2/2
Note: et -
1. Resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from 22 March 2023 1. BB IFRTES B -_=F=-A-t+-AK
KA
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EREAME
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance ~ RIEHEXEATANRX 2 RE - EFRAEEH

duties as required under the New CG Code:

(@)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the New CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for ensuring sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of the shareholders
and the assets of the Company. The Group has engaged an internal control
adviser which reports directly to the Audit Committee and is responsible
for conducting regular reviews on the major activities of the Group. The
objective is to ensure that all important controls, including financial,
operational, compliance, and risk management functions are in place and
functioning effectively. Review covering the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting, is also
conducted annually. The Board and the Audit Committee have conducted
an annual review on the need of setting up an internal audit function and
having taken into account the scale of the Group, the Board and the Audit
Committee have considered that the setting up of an internal audit function
was not necessary for the time being and the Board might consider engaging
external services provider to perform the internal audit function in future.

Internal Control

The internal control and risk management systems will be reviewed at least
annually to ensure that it is adapted as necessary to any changes in the
Group's risk profile and is considered to be effective and adequate.

The Board has received a report from the outsourced internal control adviser
summarising the reviews concluded in the Year. The report summarised
internal control review findings and any action to be taken by management as
a result. A summary of the internal control review activities during the Year is
as follows:

(@) performed operational review on business units of the Group to ascertain
the adequacy and integrity of their system of internal controls and made
recommendations for improvement where weaknesses were found; and

(b)  conducted follow-up review to determine the adequacy, effectiveness
and timeliness of actions taken by the management on audit
recommendations and provided updates on their status to the Audit
Committee.

After each review, the findings and recommendations for improvement will
be communicated to the respective management for their responses and
corrective actions. The Audit Committee has reviewed the findings and
recommendations made by the outsourced internal control adviser and have
ensured that any issues arising from the review are appropriately resolved by
management in an efficient and timely manner.

REREE IR EBREE

EXERAFAETRRAERBERZEARERE KA
EEAR  MREBRRZMNERARRZEE -
AEECZBAMEZRER  MANEZEBRRE
BRAERZEQER YTEERAEEIEER
EITENEMN - WREERRIEERET - &
ERG  2EARNARERERESD THEI AN
HENE - ARBTEFHARAG - AEBE
it MBHEREARERRRNERE  HE Rk
ERRARBMEERNBEZER BIEER
&5 B RRENTRIEETRY - EF
BEEZZEEOURIIANEZRBAENTRE
THEERY  AEFRARENRIE BEZRR
ERZEERR/RERAEVERTIAREZXR
Bt BERERAURGEEREIMIRE R RE
T EBERTBAE ©
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RiAEE R AR 2 (E 2B EAE L FFE R
B ARBEBEAEREREREE

EEREEEINIA s ABEZERCBEE - K
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@ SEARESEBEMRITEESRHN - AR
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b) HEEZERRBETRER  UHRE
BEEMRBRZITB AR - BRIER - I
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EREERE  UHREEERELYERE
ERZEGERAINIZ AR EERM 2 R R
B WEHARMENEHEEPER ZHEE
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It should be recognised that such review can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as it is designed
to manage rather than eliminate those risks that may affect the Company in
achieving its business objectives.

Risk Management

The successful management of risks (including ESG risks) is essential for the
long term growth and sustainability of the Group’s business. The principal
activities of the Group are the coalbed methane exploration and exploitation
in the PRC, general trading business, comprehensive healthcare business,
financial business and proprietary investment. These can only be achievable
if certain risks are managed effectively.

The Board has overall accountability for determining the type and level of risk
it is prepared to take. The Board is assisted by the Audit Committee which
seeks to identify risks for Board’s consideration. Further, the Audit Committee
monitors, and deploys appropriate actions to control or mitigate the risks.
They also assess the likelihood of these risks occurring. Risk mitigation
factors are reviewed and documented based on the level and likelihood of
occurrence. The Audit Committee reviews the risk register and monitors the
implementation of risk mitigation procedures via executive management.

Based on the report from the outsourced internal control adviser, the Board
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, including (a) the changes, since the
last annual review, in the nature and extent of significant risks (including
ESG risks), and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business
and the external environment; (b) the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks) and of the internal control
systems, and where applicable, the work of its internal audit function and
other assurance providers; (c) the extent and frequency of communication
of monitoring results to the Board and its committees; (d) significant control
failings or weaknesses that have been identified during the period and the
extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material impact
on its financial performance or condition; and (e) the effectiveness of its
processes for financial reporting and Listing Rule compliance. The Board
considers the risk management and internal control systems of the Group to
be adequate and effective and the Group has complied with the New CG
Code.

The Company has also developed inside information policy which sets out
guidelines to the employees of the Group to ensure inside information is
to be disseminated to the public in equal, timely and effectively manner in
accordance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Listing Rules and
all other applicable rules and regulations.

N\

1> 7= =3

REAWME

HERFERASEEEMIFER - LA EARF
EREBRRZRER - Bt - ERRERKER
IR RIRHAE BT IR E HIRE o

EprEE

I EE (BRERE  HE8RERRR) EEY
AEBEB s REERRAIFBEERE AR
Do ARBEZEBEB AR PREEEREREE
kFE - —REHEH - BEAREED &
EBRBERE - RELFEBHEIENET A
HETERIFLERER -

EXRE2EAREEHATER ZERER RK

T EBEEREERZESHEY  AERZESH
RlEmRITIESEERES - It BEREES

ERNFBUEE T AEH SORERR - A KT
hAERREREE AR - WRERERKT &3
Ez At tEdmi MR ERR 2 EE - &
REESEGRERARBREM  WEBTHE
BFREFRHERRIER B

RBINHZ ABEZBRZHREE EEREH
RRERRAMEERGZAREETES - &
BB L—REERAUR  EXER(BER
B nekEaRR)EEREEEE  ARK
SEERAEBRINBRERCHES  DERE
FEEZEAR(BRRE  HeRERRR) AR
NEREH RGN BERE R - UE(ER) AR
AR AT B RE M MR R MM TR ORES
BERhAZEEHREEEARNBERIEX  (DE
HINBERIMEAIEHIRRASSH - UREEZK
RELEEHCK - Al KRR e AR
BRAIMNELEERTZENTAIAERNGERNL
HREN  REPBRERFOERER LT
HRAAKRE - EZRARAEENREREERLA
MENRGRRAMER - EARBECETHE

easrhl -

ARRTFEFTARELBE  MAEEES R
Higsl - UERERBES PGS - ET8
AIRFEEMERRYIER - AF - REEMNE
MR A REMARHEE

NS

B =% | 2207 LNOdIY TYNNNY

31




>

SiEEBRZEREEGRE 2R | GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

o
No

|

NZ==5N12\

= 4
RIS

NN

Corporate Governance Report
ERERA®E

a N\

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Lee Kin Fai and Ms. Lin Yih Yee Jessica are the joint company secretaries
of the Company. Mr. Lee Kin Fai is a full time employee of the Group and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Ms. Lin Yih Yee Jessica of
Diligent Consultancy Limited, an external service provider, has been engaged
by the Company as one of the joint company secretaries. Her primary contact
person at the Company is Ms. Lee Nga Ching, an executive Director of the
Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company
secretaries on corporate governance and matters related to Board practice.

For the Year, both joint company secretaries have confirmed that they have
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in accordance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group as at 31 December 2022, results and cash flows for the year
then ended and in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance;
appropriate accounting policies have been selected, consistently used and
applied, and reasonable judgements and estimates are properly made.

The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 88 to 92 of this annual report.

Uncertainties over Going Concern

Pursuant to code provision D.1.3, the Board draws the attentions of
shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company to a situation where
the directors are aware of certain material uncertainties may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Shareholders and stakeholders of the Company are advised to refer to the
Independent Auditors’ Report and the “Details of Audit Qualification and
Response from the Company” section of the Management Discussion and
Analysis for the details of going concerns issues.
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Auditor’s Remuneration
During the Year, the fees paid to the auditor of the Company comprise
services charges for the following:

CEEABE

BB AT &
RAFE  INTARBZBENERBEAT
RISER

2022 2021

s —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Statutory audit EEEZ 750 750

Review of interim results ERIREIEE 100 100

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS IR SRAEF|

Enquiries to the Board MEERELHEH

The Shareholders may direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the share registrar of the Company, Tricor Standard Limited at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. They may also at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent such information
is publicly available and make enquiries to the Company with the contact
details provided by post, telephone, fax or email.

Convening General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

In accordance with sections 566, 567 and 568 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Ordinance”),
shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders of the Company having a right to vote at general meetings can
send a written request to convene a general meeting (“GM”) in hard copy
form (by depositing at the registered office of the Company at Room 12005,
12/F, Tower 535, 535 Jaffe Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the attention
of the Board) or in electronic form (by email: info@gci.com.hk). Such
requisition, signed by the shareholders concerned, must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting and may include the
text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at the meeting. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of a request (after being verified to be valid) proceed to convene
a GM on a day not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice
convening the GM is given, the shareholders concerned, or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a GM, but any GM so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months after the date on which the Directors become
subject to the requirement to call a meeting.

PR AT sE P s AR ME (R AR 2 RIRR A7) 4B P B RE R 2 A
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To put forward proposals at the shareholders’ meeting, shareholders are
requested to follow sections 580 and 615 of the Ordinance, which a request
in writing must be made by:

(@) shareholders holding at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
shareholders having the right to vote at the shareholder’s meeting; or

(b)  at least 50 shareholders holding shares of the Company having the right
to vote at the meeting,

to the Company to give to shareholders notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at an AGM, or to circulate to
shareholders any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at any general meeting.

The written request must be signed by all the shareholders concerned in one
or more documents in like form and deposited at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of the Board not less than six weeks before the
meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, and not
less than one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition.
Upon the request verified to be valid, the Company will give notice of the
resolution or circulate the statement.

If a shareholder of the Company intends to propose a person other than a
Director for election as a director of the Company at any general meeting, the
shareholder concerned shall lodge with the registered office of the Company
for the attention of the company secretary (i) a written notice of his intention
to propose that person for election as a director of the Company; and (ii) a
notice in writing by that person of his/her willingness to be elected together
with the necessary information within the period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and ending no
later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Detailed procedures can be found in the following documents which are
available on the website of the Company:

e “Shareholders Communication Policy”
e “Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director”

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders
and, in particular, use AGM or other general meetings to communicate with
shareholders and encourage their participation.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantially
separate issue, including the election of individual Directors.

Details of poll voting procedures will be explained during the proceedings of
meetings. The poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange following the general meetings.

RIRRAE TREFRR - REHEEFZIE
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Corporate Governance Report

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. The chairman of
all the committees or in the absence of the chairman of such committee,
another member of the committee or failing this, his duly appointed delegate,
is available to answer questions at the general meetings.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains websites
at www.gci.com.hk, which contains corporation information, interim and
annual reports, announcements and circulars issued by the Company as well
as the recent developments of the Company, to enable the shareholders of
the Company to have timely and updated information of the Company.

The Board has reviewed the “Shareholders Communication Policy” for the
Year. Taking into account the variety of existing channels for communication
and participation, the Company is of the view that the “Shareholders
Communication Policy” has been effectively implemented. Shareholders can
refer to the “Shareholders Communication Policy” posted on the website of
the Company for more details.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may declare dividends in the future after taking into account the
Group’s results of operation of the business, actual and expected financial
performance, general business conditions and strategies, expected working
capital requirements and future expansion plans and other factors as it may
deem relevant at such time. Any proposed distribution of dividends will be
subject to the Company’s constitutional documents and the Companies Law,
including the approval of the Shareholders. Future declarations of dividends
may or may not be reflected from the Company’s historical declarations of
dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of the Board.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 26 March 2021.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

A new articles of association of the Company has been approved in the AGM
held on 15 June 2022.

The latest and consolidated version of the Articles is available for inspection
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

On behalf of the Board
Wong Man Keung
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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INTRODUCTION

Golden Century International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present its seventh
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “ESG Report”).
The businesses of the Group were classified as “Industrial Sector” and
“Financial Sector”. The industrial sector includes coalbed methane (“CBM”)
business, comprehensive healthcare business, general trading business, and
electronic component business, while the financial sector includes financial
business, wealth management business, and proprietary investment business.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year” or “2022"),
the Group has decided to discontinue the operation of electronic components
business and wealth management business.

BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to present
the Group’s ESG Report which summarised the Group’s ESG initiative,
plans, performance, as well as its sustainable development in respect of
environmental protection, labour practices, business operations, supply chain
management, and other ESG issues. As a responsible corporate, the Group
adheres to the management policies of sustainable ESG development. Also, as
the key to its continued success in the future, the Group has put forward ESG as
the core part of its business focus and is committed to handling its ESG affairs
effectively and in a responsible manner.

The Group looks forward to enhancing the communication and collaboration
with its stakeholders, and further promoting the sustainable development
of the Group in preparation of the ESG Report. Therefore, the Group has
conducted the stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment to
determine and enhance the disclosure content of the ESG Report. Details of
which will be described in the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” respectively.

The ESG Governance Structure

The Group conducts a top-down management approach regarding its ESG
issues and has developed a framework to ensure its ESG governance is
aligned with its strategic growth, while advocating for integrating ESG into
its business operation. The ESG governance structure of the Group is mainly
comprised of three components, which are the Board, the Audit Committee
(the “Committee”), and designated personnel from business and functional
departments.

The Board holds the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategies
and reporting, as well as managing its ESG-related issues with the assistance
of the Committee and designated personnel. Members of the Board are
equipped with the skills, experience and knowledge needed for overseeing
the ESG strategies of the Group. The Board discusses, examines and approves
the ESG-related goals and targets, priorities, management approach, policies
and frameworks and reviews progress towards their implementation and
achievement at least annually. Besides, the Board is responsible for ensuring
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system
in managing ESG-related issues through an annual assessment, and assuring
the precision and accuracy of the information disclosed in the ESG reports.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Re ort

The Board authorises the Committee to oversee risk management and internal
control systems. The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems covering financial, operational and
compliance controls along with ESG-related issues, including ESG-related
risks. The Committee identifies matters where action or improvement is
needed and reports to the Board at least annually to make recommendations.
The Committee also reviews and approves ESG reports. The designated
personnel from business and functional departments assist the Committee
with its duties regarding the ESG-related issues. They have the responsibility
for prioritising and managing material ESG-related issues, monitoring and
evaluating the Group’s ESG performance, evaluating the development and
implementation of ESG-related strategies, policies and initiatives, ensuring
compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations, reviewing progress
towards ESG-related goals and targets, as well as preparing ESG reports. The
designated personnel arrange meetings to discuss ESG-related issues and
report to the Committee at least annually.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and measures taken
by the Group during the Year.

REPORTING SCOPE

The management of the Group discusses, identifies and confirms the reporting
scope based on the materiality principle and considers the core business and
main revenue source. The environmental aspects of this ESG Report only
covers businesses with a significant environmental impact, namely the CBM
business, while the reporting scope of the social aspects in this ESG Report is
aligned with the scope of the Group’s annual report 2022.

CBM Business
CBM is a type of high-quality natural gas extracted from coalbed. CBM

0]

is a new type of energy with less pollution and high calorific value. The
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) is estimated to have one of the
world’s largest CBM resource. CBM is an effective alternative energy
source for the PRC and the development of the CBM business plays an
important role in the national plan to become a low-carbon economy.
The 14th Five-Year Plan for Economic and Social Development of the
PRC (“14th Five-Year Plan”) continues the support for the development
of industries related to new energy. The Group has developed the CBM
business in the PRC since 2008. The Group's indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary called Canada Can-Elite Energy Limited (“Can-Elite”) runs the
CBM business in Anhui Province, the PRC. The main business activities
include CBM exploration, development and production. In 2022, the
CBM operation has fulfilled the basic requirement for production and
started the trial sales, which contributed to the Group’s revenue.
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(ii) Comprehensive Healthcare Business
The Group mainly produces and sales medical devices and epidemic-
prevention supplies and products, focusing on meltblown fabrics,
related equipment and raw materials. During the Year, the Group has
ceased the production of meltblown fabrics but tapped into trading of
mask products.
(iii) General Trading Business
To broaden the income stream of the Group, the Company has
embarked on trading business of plastic components since the second
half of the Year. As the Group is not involved in production of plastic
components and the operations of the Group’s general trading business
are office-based, the business has a limited impact on the environment
and natural resources.
(iv) Electronic Components Business
The Group serves as a distributor of electronic components and is
not involved in production stage. Therefore, the Group’s electronic
components business has a limited impact on the environment and
natural resources. During the Year, the Group has ceased the electronic
components business through disposal of a subsidiary.

(v) Financial Business
The operations of the Group’s financial business are office-based,
located in Hong Kong and PRC. Therefore, there is no significant impact
on the environment and natural resources in the business sector.

The ESG key performance indicator (“KP1”) data are gathered and included
business segments that are under the Group’s direct operational control. The
Group will continue to assess the major ESG aspects of different businesses
and to extend the scope of disclosure when and where applicable.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set
out in the Appendix 27 under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Group has established appropriate and effective management policies
and internal control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the disclosed
contents are in compliance with the requirements of the ESG Reporting
Guide.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance practices has been
set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

During the preparation for the ESG Report, the Group has applied the
reporting principles of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted by the Group to diagnose
material ESG issues during the Year, thereby adopting the confirmed material
ESG issues as the focus for the preparation of the ESG Report. The materiality
of ESG issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board and the Committee.
Please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in the calculation of
relevant data in the ESG Report, as well as the applicable assumptions were
disclosed. The KPIs are supplemented by explanatory notes to establish
benchmarks where feasible.

Consistency: The preparation approach of the ESG Report was substantially
consistent with the ESG report of the financial year ended 31 December 2021
(“2021”) and explanations were provided regarding data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies. Due to the changes of the
reporting scope of this ESG Report mentioned above, the environmental data
only consist CBM business, compared with 2021.

The ESG Report has undergone the internal review process of the Group and
was reviewed by the Board.

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes comments and suggestions from stakeholders. You
may provide your comments on the ESG Report or towards the Group’s
performance in respect of sustainability via email to info@gci.com.hk.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible enterprise, the Group pays close attention to communicate
with stakeholders and review their feedback regarding its business operation
and ESG issues, while proactively develop its business and improve its
profitability, to balance the interests of all parties and foster sustainable
development. Stakeholder engagement plays an indispensable role in the
Group’s continuous improvement in sustainable development performance.
To fully understand, respond, and address the core concerns of various
stakeholders, the Group has been maintaining close communication with
key stakeholders, including but not limited to governments and regulatory
bodies, investors and shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, and
the community. The Group is dedicated to working with its stakeholders
to improve the Group’s ESG performance and create higher value for the
community.

By using the diversified cooperation methods and communication channels
shown in the table below, the Group brings the expectation of its stakeholders
into its operation and ESG strategies.

R HERERRE

EEM  ARBCRAEZMNENTR - A
MAFECRE HehELERLEE £
DAFTREREIRE - HEREANEEURERER
EITRE  HEREAMEZRAETIE - EFR
RZESCEHAERZECERN - HI15F2
Bl &2 8 | R ER G IME -

B BN HEREARECEBEA BB
BATRA 2 RERTTENRBERZBR - BRE
BIER A ERER T - LEATTIER MY &

—HH I RE HEREAREZEE S AEE
EZ-_—F+_A=+—HLIBFE(=Z
TFDRRE  HEREAMEELA R I
HEBRHE N E AR EEE) I HIRET TN
B e AR LlERIE - LS REARE 2 HREHE
BAEMB BT —FAK - RESEES
FEEERE

R @ REARECBEAREANI R IE
Fr YHERREN -

BRI

FEBEROFHEREEALEZ - BTAE
T Finfo@gci.com.hk - BLIRIE ~ (& REAMSE

IAEERFARHEERIE o RRERER -
K ESH

ER—MBEEZLE  AEEIZEFHER
EBEERRE HeREREAZBRNEMN
HEE  ANBEGREREYR  ReAMEN - F
BEINEREANHERR - FHEZ 28RS
AEEAHEERRRFENZEZ TR RR
ZIER » REDTHE - ERBRERHNE 2K
DEIEE AEE-EEIZRNE(BREER
BREALEERE REEMEER - REE &
P - HEREMR)RISEER - NEEZ% o)A
FOEaE BAAREZRE HegRERE
B RitEAEESEE -

AEBBEBTRARZ L ZBETRAIBAR
B BRONEZHERALENRRE HEhE

ATRHES o

AN
VEINSSE

B =% | 2207 LNOdIY TYNNNY

39




.\\

/

A\

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HERERHERS

Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations Management’s response
& BERE e EIEfE EFE
Governments and > Compliance advisors > Compliance with relevant >  Uphold integrity and compliance
regulatory bodies > SHER laws and regulations in operations
BURT N B AE A > Legal advisors >  ETHEBNERER > REERREFAENER
> REREM > Fulfilment of tax > Pay tax on time
obligation > R
> RBUIRBEE > Establish a comprehensive and
> Risk management effective internal control system
>  [FEfRER > RBUZEMARNANIEILZRS
Investors and > Annual general meetings > Investment return > The management has relevant
shareholders > REBEFKE >  KREE® experience and expertise to
REE KRR > Financial reports > Compliance with relevant ensure sustainability in the
> RS laws and regulations businesses
> Announcements and >  ETHEERER > EREABHBELBRMERA
circulars >  Corporate governance B BREB AR
> RNERBK system > Publish information regularly
> Company website > BEERIE through the Stock Exchange’s
NG > Corporate sustainability and the Company’s websites
> DEAHEEE > ERNEE AT AR A A TE B
> Operating risks TIEER
Management > Endeavour to improve internal
> RL2RERER control and risk management
> Information transparency > & JEE A RRERE N E b B IR
>  EiBERE
> Business ethics
> BEEEE
. Employees > Performance evaluation > Labour rights > Establish contractual obligations
= &8 or appraisal > BT to protect labour rights
% > BEMETREERZ > Career development >  FIEEHNEEAMRES TR
3 > Employee handbook > BXRZE > Encourage employees to
§ > REEFM > Remuneration and participate in continuous
g > Training programme Benefit educational and professional
2 > IEFIRE > FHERAER training to enhance
; > Regular meetings and > Health and safety competencies
5 communication > RERZZD > BEEIZEFEHEREXE
5 > THEBRR > Corporate culture AR S 88
& > {EXt > Establish a fair, reasonable and
é competitive remuneration system
2 > BYRNT - GEMERF IO
3 Bigex
é > Attach importance to
g occupational health and safety
E > ABEBEREMZE
=
=
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Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations Management’s response
K& BRRE e EEERDE
Customers > Customer service hotline > High quality products > Continuously provide high
=P and email and services quality products and services to
> BPRBEGRELD >  BEEMERE meet customers’ needs
>  Company website > Timely delivery > FHERMEEERERB N
> QA > MERE BEP®H
> Financial reports > Reasonable price > Develop comprehensive quality
>  BiHmE > fBREE assurance process and recall
> Regular customer > Customer privacy procedures
meetings protection >  HIERENESRERENEWR
> EHEFPE: > RETFPLE =
> Customer benefit > Build an efficient and green
> EPH= supply chain
> Compliant operation > RBUSKREGEHERE
> AREE > Ensure contractual obligations
> Green supply chain are fulfilled
> efEs > WBRETANEE
Suppliers > Site visits > Stable supply and > Ensure contractual obligations
e > FiR5 demand are fulfilled
> Teleconference > HREE > WMRETEHEE
> BHEEE > Maintaining a good > Develop supply chain
relationship with the management policy and
Company procedures
> HEARFRBREEE > HIEREEEROBREIESF
> Corporate reputation > Maintain a steady and long-term
> DNEEE collaborative relationship
> Fair and open tendering > {RIFIZE EREN S ERIER
> NG > Strictly select suppliers
> BEMENER
Community > Company website > Environmental protection >  Pay attention to climate change
o > REHE > IRIRRE >  BEREEM
> ESG reports > Community involvement > Encourage employees to actively
> BRI -dgkEamE > HE2E participate in charity events and
> Financial reports > Economic development voluntary services
> BBEWE > EEER > BEEIEG2EEZEHNE
> Media FERRTS
> K > Ensure sound financial results
> Charity events and business growth
> EEEY > BRRENMEEENETER
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group’s directors, management and staff in major functions are involved
in the preparation of the ESG Report. They have assisted the Group to
review its operations, identify key ESG issues, and assess the importance of
those relevant ESG issues to its businesses and stakeholders. The Group has
compiled a materiality assessment survey in accordance with the identified
material ESG issues. Relevant departments, business units, and stakeholders
of the Group were invited to complete the survey. The Group evaluated and
prioritised the ESG issues, and compiled a materiality matrix based on the
results of survey. The results were reviewed and approved by the Board and
the Committee.

The following matrix is a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues:

Materiality Matrix
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group strives to protect the environment through the implementation
of control activities and monitoring measures in its business activities and
workplace. The Group is committed to promoting a green environment
by introducing environmentally friendly business practices, educating
the employees to raise their awareness of environmental protection and
complying with the relevant environmental laws and regulations.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with environmental related laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Noise Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution, and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes that
would have a significant impact on the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL TARGET

The Group’s commitment to environment friendly operations is one of
its core business values. The Group strongly emphasises environmental
consideration and has identified “Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation”
as one of the material ESG issues. To reduce the carbon footprint as well as
achieve sustainability in long term, the Group has set environmental targets
to manage its environmental impact, covering air emissions and GHG
emission control, waste reduction, energy efficiency, and water conservation
during 2021. The Board will review the progress towards the relevant targets
and the measures implemented at least once a year in with the assistance
of the Committee and designated personnel from business and functional
departments and ensure that the Group has sufficient resources to achieve
these targets. The details of these targets and different measures and initiatives
implemented to achieve these targets will be mentioned in the sections
headed “GHG Emissions”, “Disposal of Solid Wastes”, “Energy Conservation”
and “Water Consumption”.
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R HERERHERS

EMISSIONS MANAGEMENT

Air Emissions

The Group’s major sources of air emissions are originated from petrol and
diesel consumed by company vehicles. In 2021, the Group has set a target to
reduce the air emissions intensity of CBM Business gradually by the financial
year ending 31 December 2026 (“2026"), using 2021 as the baseline year.
The intensity of nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO ) and particulate
matter (PM) have been reduced from 3.72 kg/employee', 0.008 kg/employee
and 0.36 kg/employee in 2021 to 3.01 kg/employee, 0.007 kg/employee and
0.29 kg/employee in 2022, respectively. The target is in progress and the
Group will continue to monitor its air emissions performance and actively
take measures to reduce air emissions, hopefully can reduce its air emission
intensity progressively. The measures taken by the Group will be mentioned
in the section headed “GHG Emissions”. the performance of air emissions
generated by company vehicles is summarised below:

HER

EERHERR

REEZ TBEFIEBURE QR EHERE 2 A
RYER - R-_T-—F AEBEERIBEZE
NZZZ—FHEEF  HEEHE_TZF
+Z A=+ HUEVBEFE(ZZ=-XE]) &
PREEEREFHERIEREE - RELD
(NO)  Hr& L (SO, ) REER ) (PM) HEIL 2 %
EHRBH_E=—F43.722T /&8 0.008
AT /BB 0362/ RERLE=Z ==
#3.01 AT/ 1BE - 00072/ 1BE - 0292
T/BE - Rl BEME#ETT  REEESHE
SR EREVE IR D B R - B ERIE B MR KRE
FHRRE - AEERDAEESEEE R
BR—ER IR - AR EWE S 2 BERPRR I
AT :

Unit 2022 2021
Types of exhaust gas BRER B —E-—F —E-—F
NO, NO, kgAfF 45.14 57.88
SO, 50, kgAfT 0.10 0.16
PM PM kg A 432 5.50
Note(s): Hiat
1. The amount of NO,, SO, and PM generated by the CBM business in 2021 is 55.76 1. —ZFZ—FRAEBREFELEFNO, SO KPMD H]

kg, 0.12 kg and 5.34 kg respectively. The employees number of CBM business as at
31 December 2022 using to calculate the intensity is 15 (As at 31 December 2021:
15). The calculation method of air emissions and the related emission factors were
based on, including but not limited to, “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by Stock Exchange.

CBM is a type of natural gas, which is cleaner than other fossil fuels. CBM is
colourless, smell-less, non-toxic and with high calorific value. CBM consists
mostly of methane, but may also contain trace amounts of ethane, propane,
butane, carbon dioxide and nitrogen, etc. The composition of CBM slightly
varies in different coal seams. During exploration, CBM is discharged from
coal seams through exhaust pipes. The Group uses some of the CBM for
gas equipment at the well site to avoid wastage, while the rest is emitted
through the combustion process in accordance with national requirements.
The Group ignites methane gas at the exit of the vents, the gas is transformed
into water vapour during the process. The amount of air pollutants emitted is
minimal.

GHG Emissions

The major sources of GHG emissions of the Group are generated from petrol
and diesel consumed by company vehicles and combustion of natural gas at
the well site (Scope 1), and purchased electricity (Scope 2).
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To further raise employees’ awearness of reducing GHG emissions, during
the Year, the Group has set a new target to organise at least one activity in
the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (“2023”) to raise employees’
awareness of reducing GHG emissions.

In response to the above-mentioned sources and the Group’s environmental
initiatives, the Group has established and implemented a series of measures
to strictly manage and control the use of its vehicles, including:

e Encourage its employees to use public transports during their business
trips;

e Repair company vehicles regularly to maintain the vehicle efficiency
and minimise emissions; and

e Optimise the routes for company vehicles to reduce emissions for
necessary travel.

In addition, the Group actively adopts measures to reduce energy
consumption, and relevant measures will be mentioned in the section headed
“Energy Conservation”.

During the Year, the Group joined the “Green Planet” (({E#R 2IK)) campaign
organised by the Shen Zhen municipal government. The campaign used
mini programme in WeChat to record personal daily step taken and green
traffic choices, and compare the record with other mini programme users to
discourage the use of private car and promote the use of green traffic means.

Due to the change in reporting scope, it is not meaningful to compare the
environmental performances of the Group in the Year and 2021.

Summary of the Group’s GHG emissions performance

Unit

B By

Indicator?

R HERERRE

BIGREESNREESE  AEERAFEI N
BEREBE— T _=F+-A=+—HLEFHF
E([ZB=Z=F)8HzL—18F8)  UERE
TRIBEREERNER -

Y BB R ANREZRRER - AREDH
EAE M — FRFHE M - AR E IR RIS AR
ZIER - B

o HEESEHEHEERAAZTETA

o EHMHERRER  URFEHHELEE
B - &

o BLRAREMELR - BAVEHITZHM -

BN - AR BTRAR RN HER D REIROBAE - AR
RAtE HEAS BRI BR KRR | — 4 -

RAFE - REBZE T RT3
EWRES - ZEBNAMENMEFCHEAS
BITESBANGEREE - WEEM/MEFA
FHEITREE - WHELRELTT  HERE
B o

MRS BEN S - ARRATEN-F =~
FHORRENZ LA EE -

FEEBEEREH LA RHENT

2022
—EC- 8 B4

Scope 1 - Direct GHG emissions ~ #1E——BEEREREHN  CO, el —ELiKEE 1,312.14 1,899.54
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG HE--RREEAERE (COM_4altirEs
emissions HER 82.27 407.98
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 BERBHREE(BE—R tCOM_FltRER
and 2) gE=) 1,394.41 2,307.52
Total GHG emission intensity? BERBERBERE tCO,e/thousand revenue?
WM_gFtmES
F ki 4.00 0.06
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R HERERHERS

Note(s):

2. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and is based
on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an ESG report-Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the “Global
Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2015 (AR5), and
the “Baseline Emission Factors of China’s Regional Power Grids for Emission Reduction
Projects in 2019” published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

3. During the Year, the Group’s revenue in CBM business was approximately
HK$349,000. The Group’s total revenue for intensity calculation in 2021 is
HK$36,931,000 and the Group’s CBM Business did not generate any revenue in 2021.
This data will also be used for calculating other intensity data in the ESG Report.

Wastewater Discharge

The presence of groundwater is used to maintain high pressure in the coalbed
so that CBM can be stored in coalbed in the adsorbed state. CBM can be
extracted from the coalbed using hydraulic fracturing technology. CBM
is released by fracturing coal or rock layers by using water pressure. The
process involves the high-pressure injection of fracking fluid into coal or rock
layers. Fracking fluid is primarily composed of water and a small amount
of quartz sand or other proppants with anti-swelling effect. The purpose of
using fracturing fluid is to dredge the passage in the coalbed and increase
the permeability of the coalbed so that the CBM can be desorbed from the
coalbed and released from the well to the ground. The fracturing fluid drawn
from the well may contain dissolved substances such as potassium, sodium
and other salt substances and will be stored in the reservoir first. Small grain
of crystal will be deposited at the bottom of the reservoir after evaporation.
Besides, to reduce the pressure in the coalbed, CBM extraction requires the
removal of groundwater, in order to allow gas to flow to the surface through
the well as mentioned. The product water may include contaminants,
including elevated levels of salinity, sodicity and trace elements such as
barium and iron.

The Group has built wastewater tanks to store wastewater generated for
testing if its quality has met the national standard before discharge. The
Group will continue monitoring and evaluating the quality of sewage and
implement mitigation measures if necessary to ensure the quality of sewage
in accordance with the national standard. During the Year, the gas mining
and production wells of the Group have discharged approximately 9,509.23
m3 (2021: 9,809.59 m?) of wastewater.

Wiz

2. BERBHHBBA-_SLEREENEAZS - ER
BARAERERARARERCEKERREES
BHENCRERBEEE  CESHMBRERE) -
B 22 PR AP OCINA B ERIR ~ B REAME —
85 IRIBERAEMIERERESD)  BFRREE
EEFZEREMAKERLRTERE(ZE—0F)
(ARS) B ZERTTREBEE) K 3 AR MBI A AR
FHEPTIER0C20194F B HEIA B T Bl I A A AR AR BE
HEF)

3. RAFE AEEEBEREBWAL A349,000
BT - AEER T —FHERENRKRAB
36,931,000 7T * MASENEEREFN T =—
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B REEMEPOEMEEE L -
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Disposal of Solid Wastes

Hazardous wastes

Due to the Group’s business nature, no material hazardous waste was
generated by the Group during the Year. As the amount of hazardous wastes
generated by the Group during the Year is negligible, no related reduction
target was set.

Although the Group did not generate hazardous wastes during the Year,
the Group has established guidelines in governing the management and
disposal of hazardous wastes. In case there is any hazardous waste produced,
the Group must engage a qualified chemical waste collector to handle
such wastes, which complies with the relevant environmental laws and
regulations.

Non-hazardous wastes

As a responsible corporate, the Group values paper saving and regularly
monitors the effectiveness of policies implemented in relation to office paper.
A paperless office is promoted by encouraging its employees to distribute files
via electronic means to reduce paper consumption from photocopying, faxing
and printing. For unavoidable paper photocopying and printing, the Group
encourages its employees to use double-sided printing instead of single-sided
printing and reuse single-sided paper whenever possible. Double-sided used
papers are gathered in a recycling box and collected by qualified recyclers
for their handling.

Moreover, the procurement and disposal of office equipment and stationery
serve as another focus of the Group’s efforts in operating sustainably. The
Group encourages its employees to maximise every stationary lifespan (such as
plastic binding rings, paper clip, etc.) by searching opportunities to reuse and
refurbish them internally whenever feasible. The Group also avoids single-
use disposable items. For example, the Group provides reusable cups in the
pantry room. In addition, the Group purchases office equipment with energy
efficiency label. The employees’ awareness of waste management has been
increased through these implementations.

In 2021, the Group has set a target of organising at least one activity in
2022 to raise employees’ awareness of waste reduction. During the Year,
the Group has achieved the target set by organising a hiking and mountain-
cleaning activity. The event raised the employees’ awareness of the
importance of reducing wastes. The Group will continuously strive to seek
more opportunities to deliver the message of reducing waste to its employees.
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During the Year, the Group has set a new target of organising at least one ~ #E1Z » RN T == FRift= D —IEHEEE)
waste reduction activity in 2023.
Due to the change in reporting scope, it is not meaningful to compare the ~HRFFEHENE (L AEBMAFEM - = —

environmental performances of the Group in the Year and 2021.
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Summary of the Group’s non-hazardous wastes disposal performance

FEEEZEY R E XTI E T

Unit 2022 2021
Types of non-hazardous wastes ~ EZEEEYERE B —B-CF —_TE_—%F
Office paper I NESS S Tonnesli# 0.07 1.22
General wastes —RRREY) Tonnes/i# - 1.59
Plastic wastes BRBREEY) TonnesM - 0.75
Total non-hazardous wastes BEBEYHEE TonnesM§ 0.07 3.56
Total non-hazardous wastes BEBRYHRERE Tonnes/thousand revenue
intensity W, T 0.000201 0.000096
USE OF RESOURCES BEREA

The Group has formulated Regulations on Energy Use Management (€ 7K -

B - RASREAEIERT)) for the production departments and offices of CBM
business to ensure that every employee understands the importance of resource
conservation and make full use of resources to maximise their effectiveness and
prevent wastage. The Group has also issued Notice on Strengthening Office
Environmental Sanitation and Electricity Management € (B hns& it A =385
RiAE - BEEBEMEA)) to its employees working in offices to increase their
awareness of electricity, water and paper conservation.

Energy Conservation

The Group strives to minimise the environmental impacts resulting from
its operations by adopting appropriate measures. Energy conservation
policies, measures, and practices have been developed to show the Group’s
commitment to energy efficiency. All employees are required to adopt such
measures and practices and assume responsibility for the Group’s overall
energy efficiency.

(i) Petrol and Diesel
Petrol and diesel are mainly consumed by company vehicles. The
Group has actively adopted measures to reduce the fuel consumption
from company vehicles. Such measures are mentioned in the section
headed “GHG Emissions”.

(i)  Natural Gas
CBM is a type of natural gas. Since the CBM business has entered the
trial sales stage, some CBM is supplied to customers, while the rest
is emitted through combustion process in accordance with national
requirements. The Group requires staff at well site to turn off gas
equipment when not in use and inspect gas pipelines every one to two
weeks to prevent gas leakage, and avoid wastage and safety issues.

During the Year, the gas mining and production wells of the Group have
produced approximately 832,104 m3 (2021: 884,900 m®) of natural gas,
612,245.00 m* of natural gas was emitted through combustion (2021:
884,900 m?).
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(iii) Electricity

The Group has established strict requirements regarding electricity
consumption at well site. The operation time of electrical equipment at
the well site is strictly controlled. All electrical equipment and electrical
wiring are regularly inspected and maintained in good condition in
order to maximise their energy efficiency. The Group also keeps the
record of inspection and maintenance. If any problem is found, it
should be repaired or replaced immediately.

Echoing the commitment and target set, the Group encourages
employees to establish energy-saving habits at different operation
locations. The Group has introduced various measures to achieve the
goal of electricity saving and efficient consumption, including:

e Adopt lighting control based on actual needs;

e Purchase equipment with high energy efficiency on the
replacement of old equipment;

e Encourage employees to turn off idling equipment, computers and
lightings when not in use or after working hours;

e Utilise natural lighting where possible;
e Apply optimal temperature setting for air-conditioning;
. Use solar streetlight in the well site;

e Change the lighting to Light Emitting Diode (“LED”) in offices; and

e Install solar panels to increase the use of renewable energy.

In 2021, the Group has set a target to install motion sensors in offices
to enable automatic lighting control by 2026. In 2022, motion sensor
lighting has been installed in the public corridor in Hong Kong's office.
The relevant target is in progress, the Group will keep working toward
this target and review its progress regularly.

Due to the change in reporting scope, it is not meaningful to compare

the environmental performances of the Group in the Year and 2021.
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Summary of the Group’s energy consumption performance

Unit 2022 2021
Types of energy* BETRAE R By —EB-F T
Direct energy consumption EERRERE MWhJK F 6,469.36 9,361.55
— Petrol consumed by company  — A& EEFTFEA RS
vehicles and generators MWhJK FL IR 40.70 79.08
- Diesel consumed by company — — A & EEIFTFEA RS0
vehicles MWhJKEL B 25.26 27.40
— Combustion of natural gas at — RIS EV R A RS
the well site MWhJK L B 6,403.40 9,255.07
Indirect energy consumption RERERUE MWhJK F B 138.87 693.10
— Purchased electricity —SMNEE N MWh K FL B 138.87 693.10
Total energy consumption BERUHAERE MWh ¥k FL B 6,608.23 10,054.65
Total energy consumption BRFHERERE MWh/thousand revenue
intensity FKER Tl 18.93 0.27
Note(s): it -
BERFE M

4. The calculation of unit conversion is based on, but not limited to, the Energy Statistics 4. BRI E TR IR (BT BERE
(B

Manual issued by the International Energy Agency. IREET ) ©

IKEIRIE A

Water Consumption
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The water consumption of the Group is mainly used in the daily operation
of offices. The Group has always attached importance to the efficient use of
water resources and formulated different policies and systems to regulate the
water consumption of different business activities. The Group has educated
and encouraged all employees to develop the habit of water conservation.
The Group has been strengthening its water-saving promotion, posting water-
saving reminders, and guiding employees to use water reasonably.

In 2021, the Group has set a target to organise at least one activity in 2022
to raise employees’ awareness of water conservation. During the Year, the
Group has achieved the target by organising a water reservoir cleaning
activity for its employees. In the event, the employees helped to clean the
rubbish in the local water reservoir and learned about the importance of
saving water and protecting water resources. During the Year, the Group has
set a new target of organising at least one water conservation activity in 2023.
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RIE -HERE ﬁﬂ:

The followings are some measures that the Group has implemented to AT AR ME A EITUAREKE RIEABEH I

improve the utilisation efficiency of water resources: D
e Place posters in toilets and pantries to encourage water conservation; o HEAFHEEAKMERME®R  SEELD
K s
e Conduct inspection and maintenance on water taps, water pipelines, o  TR2EFHIRE RYEEKESE - KE - KR
pumps and valves regularly by the engineering department; MR
e Fix dripping taps promptly to avoid water leakage and wastage; o BIRFAEER/KAKEESR - ABIRKIIRE
K
e Prohibit disposal of rubbish and debris to sewers to prevent blockage; ¢  ZFIESIF RAMBATKE B - ByLEE
and E N
e Install flow restrictors in offices. o HEWNRERERN -

Due to the change in reporting scope, it is not meaningful to compare the ~ HRREHBEN S REBAFEM T =—

environmental performances of the Group in the Year and 2021. FORIBERZLLBORBES »
Summary of the Group’s water consumption performance AEBFEKZEREENT
Unit 2022 2021
Indicator BE B —E-CF —T-—F
Water consumption® FEkEs M35 oK 568.00 1,185.00
Water consumption intensity FKEE m?/thousand revenue
VDR VA v 6 1.63 0.03
Note(s): Bt
5. Water used during the exploration process of CBM was mainly groundwater, 5.  BERBERIZOMKEZRAKDEBEREMT - i
injecting back to the coal or rock layers after extraction under the hydraulic fracturing BREEFMIARSEABRMTK - At - FKEH
technology. Therefore, water used in the exploration process CBM business is excluded B NBIEEEREBHIRBIZN AKX o

from the data of water consumption.

The water used by the Group is supplied by local governments. During the — AN EH) KA BUFHE - RAFE - K&
Year, the Group did not have any issue in sourcing water. S AT A A RS KR RS -

Use of Packaging Materials EREEME

As the CBM business does not consumed a material amount of packaging ~HIRAFEREREBILAEEAEBEMF -
material during the Year, the Group does not consider the use of packaging ~ARERABEMFNERLTEK -

material as material.

B ==& = | 7207 LIOdT TVNNNY

)




\€?7’ ﬁif\“
$5 ==$==!\‘

SiEEBRZEREEGRE 2R | GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

9)]
No

A

Environmental, Soaal and Governance Report

RE - dERERRE

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

To enhance working efficiency, the Group is committed to providing
employees a comfortable and green working environment. The Group is
dedicated to maintaining office order and environmental sanitation, and
keeping the offices and public areas clean and tidy. Once the Group has
found problems within the workplace, precautionary measures will be taken
to minimise the potential harm to employees.

Although the impact on the environment and natural resources during the
exploration stages of the CBM business is not significant, the Group has
established Environmental Protection Management Measures for China
Regional ({71 B K [& 55 5% IR 7 & 1 J1)% )) and Management Requirements
in Well Site Construction Environment ({335 35 i T 3335 #) & 12 Z5K)).
The Group has adopted preventive and remedial measures to minimise
its impact on the ecology, surface water, noise and solid wastes at every
stage of its operations. For example, the Group is planning to install noise-
proofing board, prevent drilling in the night and increase frequency of noise
monitoring in the well site of CBM exploitation.

CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION AND ADAPTATION

The Group recognises that human activities are crucial factors affecting
climate change, which is one of the most urgent challenges the world facing
today. The Group strives to further strengthen its resilience against climate
change by identifying climate-related risks and opportunities in line with the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosures
(“TCFD”) and developing mitigation measures with the reference to industry
best practices. The Group has conducted climate change assessments and
performed meeting regularly to identify climate-related issues that have a
significant impact on the Group, in order to formulate the ESG strategies and
response to the impact of climate change on its operations. Furthermore, the
Group has included climate-related issues in its enterprise risk management
system in order to manage climate-related risks and opportunities more
effectively.

BRERARER

RESITEMEX  AEER N ARERETER
HRETHERE - AREZINEFNAETRT R
REHE  RERAERATMITER - 1A%
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BRI

AR EREGEDRERYRERRRERD
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AEECHRATED REfiES  fRERERRE

PRERS AR - EKIR - BERERENNY
2 o i AEEFIERERARISLER
iR BB REER - EINRBEASAR -

R N B SRR ML

AEEBFARAARLDAFERRELLNERA
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The following is a summary of the Group’s disclosures on climate-related
risks and opportunities:

Transition Risks

The trend of transitioning to a low-carbon economy poses risks to the
Group'’s businesses. More stringent climate policies, laws and regulations are
expected to be implemented to support decarbonisation goals. For example,
the ESG Reporting Guide published by the Stock Exchange has been
updated to require issuers to disclose significant climate-related impacts. As
a listed company in the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to increase
the climate-related information disclosures. Besides, the environmental
regulation and climate-related information disclosures have been tightened
in the PRC. Stricter environmental laws and regulations may expose the
Group to higher risks of claims and lawsuits. Corporate reputation may also
be impacted due to failure to meet the compliance requirements for climate
change. The Group’s related capital investment and compliance costs thus
increase. In response to the policy and legal risks as well as the reputation
risks, the Group regularly monitors existing and emerging trends, policies
and regulations relevant to climate change and is prepared to alert the top
management where necessary to avoid cost increments, non-compliance
fines or reputational risks due to delayed response.

Moreover, investors’ awareness of integrating climate-related risks into the
overall risk management is rapidly evolving. In light of investors’ growing
demand for information regarding a company’s management of climate-
related issues, the Group has integrated climate change into its enterprise
risk management system. The Group also analyses market trends regularly
and responds as required. The Group is committed to maintaining a high
level of transparency regarding its climate risk management to build trust and
confidence among its investors through the publication of ESG reports.

Physical Risks

Climate change increases severity and frequency of extreme weather events
such as typhoons, intense precipitation, and flooding. Extreme weather
events could cause structural damage to buildings, increase the risk of power
shortages, disrupt supply chains, and interrupt business operations. Business
disruptions result in reduced revenue, as well as increased costs to repair
or restore damaged facilitates. Particularly, climate change is influential to
the Group’s CBM business. Since outdoor exploration and development are
required, extreme weather events and high temperature could halt the CBM
exploration and development, reducing its production capacity.

To respond, the Group has incorporated business operational risks related
to extreme weather events into enterprise risk management system and
evaluated events that may suspend the Group’s operations. The Group
has also developed and regularly reviews the contingency plan, including
extreme weather scenarios that could halt its business operations. Guidelines
with specified work arrangements under potential environmental hazards and
corresponding circumstances, such as typhoons and rainstorms, are clearly
stated to ensure all employees know how to respond to the crisis or accident,
safeguarding their safety and avoiding incidents.
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Opportunities

Incorporating climate-change considerations into business can bring
opportunities to the Group. The Group may benefit from national policies on
carbon reduction and changes in customers’ preferences towards low-carbon
products and services.

As global warming is becoming more and more serious, the public’s
awareness of climate change is gradually increasing, and all sectors of society
are actively responding to the national policies. CBM is a cleaner energy
source compared to other fossil fuel energy sources. In response to the “14th
Five-Year Plan” promulgated by the PRC authorities which emphasises the
active promotion of low-carbon and clean transformation to achieve the goal
of carbon peak and carbon neutrality, the Group does its part to increase its
development in accordance with the national policy.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Employment Practices

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets for building
a sustainable business model for future development. Therefore, a
comprehensive talent management mechanism has been established to attract
and retain talents. The Group is devoted to creating a non-discriminatory,
equal, harmonious and safe workplace in order to build a relationship
of mutual respect with employees. The Group provides commensurate
remuneration, personal and career development training, as well as various
fringe benefits, which helps the Group to create a favourable condition to
attract, retain and reward talents. Employment-related policies are formally
documented in the Employment Agreement ({ {& f 1# # ) ) and the Staff
Code of Conduct (K 8 T17/5F 1)), covering compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. The Group
periodically reviews existing policies and employment practices to ensure
continuous improvement of its employment standards and competitiveness
among the industry.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with employment-related laws and regulations, including but not limited
to the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Hong Kong Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, and the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 40 employees that were all full-time ~ RZZTZZF+=A=+—H ' AEBELFI0%
employees, and the composition is shown below: BE - HREBET  HAKIIRAT :

Number of
Employees Percentage
as at 2022 as at 2022
—E-F —ECCF
HES AH HNESEDL
By gender BRI E D
Male B 21 52.50%
Female 7 19 47.50%
By age group RERERE D
Under 30 years old 30BRA T - -
30-50 years old 30Z505% 30 75.00%
Over 50 years old 508504 = 10 25.00%
By geographical location REFSVEE S
The PRC H 20 50.00%
Hong Kong B 20 50.00%
By employee category RERERNE S
Executive directors WITES 1 2.50%
Management EEE 5 12.50%
Other employees HitES 34 85.00%

Recruitment, Promotion, and Dismissal

Employees are recruited via a robust, transparent and fair recruitment process.
During the Year, the Group has recruited new employees through diversified
channels, including online recruitment, referral, job fair, etc. Job applicants
are assessed based on their suitability for the positions and potential to
fulfil the Group’s current and future needs, regardless of their race, religion,
colour, gender, physical or mental disability, age, place of origin, marital
status, and sexual orientation.

The Group offers promotion and development opportunities for outperforming
employees through an open and fair assessment system to explore their
potential and contribute to the Group’s sustainable growth. Promotions are
subjected to annual performance review.

Besides, the Group does not tolerate the dismissal of employees on any
unreasonable basis. Any termination of employment contract would be based
on reasonable and lawful grounds. The Group strictly prohibits any kind of
unfair or unreasonable dismissals.
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R HERERHERS

During the Year, the total employee turnover rate® was approximately
45.95%. The employee turnover rate by gender, age group, and geographical
location is shown below:

WA - BI80E B Rk o4 545.95% « R
Bl - ERARIRESEES 2 8 TinkEdR
T :

Employee
turnover rate
in 2022
—E_FH
EERALE
By gender RUERIE D
Male B 48.78%
Female gegi 42.42%
By age group RERERED
Under 30 years old 305 A T 100.00%
30-50 years old 302505% 36.17%
Over 50 years old 50B% A £ 50.00%
By geographical location REeSVESE S
The PRC i 41.18%
Hong Kong HE 50.00%
Note(s): Wit -
6.  The employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the total number of employees 6. {EERAFEIZRAUBEE 2 B ELABGEZD ) B

leaving employment during the financial year (by category) by the sum of total number
of employees at the end of the previous financial year (by category) and the number of
new hired employees during the financial year (by category), multiplying by 100%.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group has established a fair, reasonable and competitive remuneration
system that provides compensation to employees. The Group offers
competitive remuneration and benefits for employees, which are determined
by referencing market benchmarks in order to attract high-calibre candidates.
The Group regularly reviews the remuneration and benefits to ensure
its market competitiveness. Employees are recognised and rewarded
according to their individual performances, working experience, respective
responsibilities, merits, qualifications and competencies. The Group will
conduct performance appraisal and salary review regularly to determine any
salary adjustments and/or promotion opportunities.

AL —BIBEFE 2 B B AR (20 18) RN R F &
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Basic remuneration packages of employees include salary, bonus and
various subsidies, such as overtime pay, meal allowance, telecommunication
allowance, housing subsidy, holiday allowance and marriage subsidy. All
employees are entitled to statutory holidays, including statutory festive
holidays, paid annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave and compassionate leave. The Group also signs and executes
labour contracts with all employees in the PRC in accordance with the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and employ employees in
Hong Kong under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The Group pays the state-managed employee pension scheme for employees
in the PRC and a mandatory provident fund scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees in Hong Kong.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group cares for the well-being of employees and recognises the
importance of work-life balance to employees. Therefore, the Group develops
basic working hours and overtime system according to different business
needs, with the hope to enable employees to achieve work-life balance. The
Group has formulated policies in determining the working hours and rest
periods for employees, following local employment laws and regulations. The
employees working in the offices work five days a week, while employees
working at the well site work in shifts in accordance with the work schedule
established by the respective department head. Employee consent must be
obtained for any necessary overtime arrangements, and the employees must
be compensated in accordance with the laws and regulations to prevent any
forced overtime work.

Diversity, Equal Opportunities and Anti-discrimination

The Group recognises the value of a diverse and skilled workforce, and
is committed to creating and maintaining an inclusive and collaborative
workplace culture in which all can thrive. The Group is dedicated to
providing equal opportunity in all aspects of employment and maintaining
a workplace that is free from discrimination, physical or verbal harassment
against any individuals on the basis of race, religion, colour, gender,
physical or mental disability, age, place of origin, marital status, and sexual
orientation.

The Group has zero tolerance to any workplace discrimination, harassment
or victimisation. Any employee who is intimidated, humiliated, bullied or
harassed may report to the employees’ representative, or file complaints
directly to the management representative. Besides, all recruitment processes
is closely monitored under the Group’s human resources management
scheme to prevent any discrimination. The Group also prohibits any punitive

R HERERRE
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measures, management practices and behaviours involving verbal abuse, {4 REE - 8857 - FiA - H5RE 2 EIHEE -

physical punishment, oppression, sexual harassment, including inappropriate
languages, postures and physical contact, against its employees for any
reason. The Group strives to ensure that complaints, grievances and concerns,
including whistleblowing, are dealt with promptly and confidentially.
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During the Year, the Group organised an anti-discrimination training for
employees which aims at familiarising them with related laws and regulation,
increasing their sense of compliance and empowering them to against
discrimination.

During 2022, the Group did not identify any material non-compliance of
laws and regulations related to discrimination involving race, religion, colour,
gender, physical or mental disability, age, place of origin, marital status, and
sexual orientation.

Health and Safety

The Group adheres to the principle of “Safety First and Take Good
Precaution” and puts employees’ health and safety in the first place. The
Group has adopted a comprehensive preventive approach to prevent the
occurrence of illness and injury in the offices group-wide. The Group
provides employees with a healthy and safe working environment. Working
arrangement during typhoon and rainstorm has been clearly specified
by the Group to avoid any confusions which might lead to safety issue.
Fire extinguishers are placed in an accessible way, fire exits are free from
obstruction, and first aid boxes are available at easily accessible locations in
the offices. The Group also prohibits smoking in the office areas.

Among the business segments of the Group, the health and safety of the CBM
business is highlighted because of the potential risk in the well site.

The Group has formulated the Management Requirements in Well Site
Construction Environment (#3516 TIRIFHE 2 £5K)) to strengthen the
safety management of CBM mining and to prevent fires, explosions, personal
injuries and deaths. The Group has also formulated Safety Management
Regulations ((&Z &4 E B IRHE )), which sets strict safety requirements on
the layout of CBM field, ground equipment, electricity current testing, use of
vehicles and fire extinguishing system. Besides, the Group has implemented
a safety production responsibility system to clearly define the safety
responsibilities of different positions.

The Group carries out regular inspection and maintenance of critical
equipment, and keeps the maintenance and repair record. The Group also
assigns safety personnel to conduct random inspections at the well site. If
potential safety issues are identified, they will be dealt with immediately, and
contingency plans and solutions will be formulated.
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To effectively prevent and deal with emergencies at various construction
sites, and to ensure the safety of on-site employees and equipment, the
Group has established the Emergency Response Plan for Construction Site
Safety (I LIRS %L 2R E M E2ERIE THFTAR)). Basic principles include
placing personal safety above all else, and minimising the losses. In case of
emergency, on-site staff must promptly report to the emergency response
team and carry out self-rescue immediately. Each member of the emergency
response team is always vigilant, coordinates all communication channels,
ensures adequate emergency vehicles standby, and follows the instructions
and arrangements made by the security and safety department. After the
incident, the emergency response team needs to submit an investigation
report to reflect the problem and suggest measures that can be taken to avoid
further similar incidents. Review on the policy is conducted regularly to
monitor the proper execution.

The Group believes that safety production training is the first step to
achieving “zero accident”. All the employees working at the well site need
to attend a 3-level safety training before being assigned to their work duties.
The safety training content includes job-related safety guidelines, protective
measures, such as wearing work clothes and helmets, and all kinds of
practical operation trainings. Employees can only take up duties after they
have passed all the tests on safety production. Safety personnel will convey
safety knowledge to employees on an irregular basis to remind them of the
requirements and importance of safety at the construction sites. Mining
personnel is required to undergo more rigorous safety production training.
Special operation personnel who works at key positions is required to obtain
a special operating permit.

The Group provides its staff with a safe and hygienic working environment
that is in line with national regulations and necessary protective equipment.
Clear and visible warning signs, such as “Wear Helmet at all times”, “Wear
Protective Clothing at all times”, “No Fires in the Well”, “Beware of Electric
Shock”, and “No Entry”, are placed in the well site. All workers are required
to wear safety helmets for every entry to the site. The gas pipelines are
checked at least every two weeks by on-site personnel to avoid any gas
leakage. The Group also arranges annual physical examination for staff
who engages in high-risk work. In addition to the insurance required by the
local laws and regulations, the Group purchases accident insurance for staff.
Besides, the Group invites national fire services department to carry out fire
safety training for staff regularly, organise fire drills and regularly check the
status of the fire extinguisher to ensure fire safety.

The health and safety measures are reviewed regularly by the Group in order
to ensure the effectiveness of such measures.

During the Year, there was no significant incident of safety and work-related
injuries. At the same time, the Group had no work-related fatalities occurred
in the past three years including the Year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R HERERHERS

During 2022, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with
health and safety-related laws and regulations including but not limited to the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
and the Fire Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China that would
have a significant impact on the Group.

Response to the coronavirus pandemic and its Variant Virus

In response to the continuity of the coronavirus pandemic and the variant
virus, the Group has taken various actions to strengthen the health and
safety precautionary measures in the workplace to ensure the health of
its employees and workers. The Group has strengthened the sanitation of
its operations to ensure a healthy and safe working environment, such as
providing alcohol-based hand rub and surgical masks to its employees, and
applying stringent temperature screening on employees and customers before
entry into the workplace, to ensure a safe working environment. The Group
has also sent out guidelines to employees to advise on the reporting measures
in case of an outbreak of the coronavirus among employees and related
family members.

Development and Training

A high-quality team is vital to the sustainable and long-term development of
the Group. Therefore, the Group has developed a long-term talent training
strategy that focuses on creating values and serving the needs of its customers,
its talents and society. In order to strengthen employees’ work-related skills
and improve operational efficiency, each business unit of the Group has
formulated its training programmes and development opportunities for its
employees. For example, all new employees of the Group has to attend a
new joiner training to familiarise themselves with the Group and their duties.
During the Year, the Group also provided a communication skill training as
a welfare for employees. The participated employees could sharpen their
communication skill through the help of the Group’s management.
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During the Year, approximately 100.00%’ of the Group’s employees received R ANFE + REEE £100.00% 2 18 B #% 215
training with average training hours of approximately 28.00 hours® per 3l + F¥EH R 8 ZF14728.00/) 858 o 1% R K&
employee. The percentage of trained employees and the average training EEMERIEIS 2 ZIIEEEB D RERREREZF
hours per employee, by gender and employee category, are shown below: BRIEEFIRAT
Breakdown of trained

Percentage of trained Average training hours

employees’ employees®  per employee (hours)'
BEEEZTFY
ZIEEE AL ZHESHMA" SZHIRFE N

By gender RERIE 2

Male E2] 100.00% 52.50% 28.00

Female gog 3 100.00% 47.50% 28.00

By employee category RERERNE D

Executive directors WITES 100.00% 2.50% 28.00

Management EIRfE 100.00% 12.50% 28.00

Other employees Hitfg g 100.00% 85.00% 28.00

Note(s): Bt

7. This percentage is calculated by dividing the total number of employees who took part Z B DL TRR I EE E 2N 2 (B B AR AR
in training during the financial year by the total number of employees at the end of the BFER 2 B ARBETRIA100%:1 & -
financial year X 100%.

8. The average training hours per employee is calculated by dividing the total number of BEEE 2 THRIR BTN B EF EE AR 2
training hours during the financial year by the total number of employees at the end of BUAMBEER EEEEH -
the financial year.

9. The percentage of trained employees by category is calculated by dividing the number REREDNRIEENB DL RN B FEIEE
of trained employees in the specified category during the financial year by the number BRZIEBABBRURMBEEREERAIZER
of employees in the specified category at the end of the financial year X 100%. ABUTRLAT00%ETH ©

10.  The breakdown of trained employees by category is calculated by dividing the number IR B D 2 R B B4R T Z N B IR FEE $R A
of trained employees in the specified category during the financial year by the total FAE B ABRRUR M EFERZINE S BB
number of trained employees during the financial year X 100%. 100%71 &

11.  The average training hours by category is calculated by dividing the number of training RIS 2 FARISBANTBEEREHAE

hours for employees in the specified category during the financial year by the number
of employees in the specified category at the end of the financial year.
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R HERERHERS

The Group provides both internal and external training to staff in the PRC.
Internal training covers professional knowledge, industry information,
management skills, and other knowledge and information that are of interest
to the staff. Internal training is conducted in the form of lectures, seminars
or conference meetings. The staff is encouraged to express their opinions
after the training on various aspects such as the training content, format and
instructor, which form the basis for future improvement. External training
can be divided into (1) practical training, involving professional technical
knowledge, selling skills, management approach, leadership skills, and
corporate mission; (2) senior management training, including corporate
strategies and development; and (3) self-enhancement training, such as
professional technical certification. Technical staff, such as mining staff at
well site, are required to undergo rigorous safety production and knowledge
training, to ensure occupational safety.

The Group provides on-the-job training for employees in Hong Kong. The
human resources department and relevant department heads will introduce
the corporate culture, industry knowledge, and job responsibilities to new
employees. Directors and professional staff, such as chief financial officer,
finance manager, company secretary and accountant, regularly participate
in external training organised by professional organisations. The training
is conducted in the form of lectures. The training topics include corporate
governance, ethical conduct of accountants, merger and acquisition, anti-
money laundering, etc.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group respects human rights and safeguards the interests of all its
employees. Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during the
recruitment process as defined by the laws and regulations. The Group
strictly complies with local laws to prohibit any child and forced labour
employment. The Group’s human resources department is responsible
to monitor and ensure compliance with the latest and relevant laws and
regulations that prohibit child labour and forced labour.

To combat against illegal employment of child labour and underage workers,
the Group requires all new employees to provide true and accurate personal
identification information. All personal information, including identity cards
and bank accounts, will be strictly scrutinised by its recruiters. The Group
has established a refined recruitment process for checking candidates’
backgrounds and formal reporting procedures to handle any exceptional
cases. The Group will conduct investigations, terminate the employment of
child labour and report to related government authorities when any non-
compliance is discovered. The Group will review the related mechanism
regularly. If necessary, the Group will further improve the labour mechanism
against child labour.
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To prevent forced labour, the Group ensures the acknowledgement of the
Group human resources policy by the employees. The human resources
policy of the Group has stated in the Employment Agreement the employees
have to sign when they enter the Group. The Group also conducts self-
audits and inspections on a regular basis to prevent forced labour. The Group
will conduct investigations, punishment or dismissal of relevant employees
immediately when any non-compliance is discovered. The Group will review
the mechanism regularly. If necessary, the Group will further improve the
labour mechanism against forced labour.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with child and forced labour-related laws and regulation, including but not
limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China that would have a significant impact on the Group. The
Group also avoids engaging suppliers with known records of using child
labour and forced labour in their operations.

SUSTAINABLE OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

The Group understands the importance of supply chain management in
mitigating the indirect environmental and social risks and tries to engage
suppliers to have responsible acts to society and environment in the view of
green supply chain management. All suppliers are evaluated carefully and
are subjected to regular monitoring and assessment.

The Group had a total of 3 major suppliers and subcontractors during the
Year. All of the Group’s suppliers are evaluated and engaged according to
the Group'’s standardised procurement process, which is clearly stated in the
Group’s Quality Control Procedure and Purchasing Policy. The breakdown of
the Group’s suppliers is as follows:
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In order to ensure that the Group's suppliers and subcontractors have met the
Group's requirements regarding quality as well as environmental and safety
standards, the Group has formulated procedures in selecting suppliers and
subcontractors. The Group maintains an internal list of qualified suppliers and
subcontractors. During the selection process, the Group does not only review
their basic information, but also considers a number of other factors such as
pricing, service quality, business reputation, and compliance with relevant
industrial laws, regulations and standards. Suppliers’ and subcontractors’
environmental and social performances are also considered as one of the
selection criteria for establishing long-term relationships. Assessments and
evaluations on supplier performance are carried out on a regular basis for its
suppliers and subcontractors, in which evaluation is performed annually in
form of questionnaires. The policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to
ensure their effectiveness in identifying up-to-date environmental and social
risks.

To promote environmentally preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, the Group communicates with suppliers frequently about the
availability in providing environmentally preferable products or services, and
products or services that meet certain green standard and specification. The
Group provides initiative of offering environmentally friendly products and
services by informing its suppliers that there will be higher scores in bidding
for having such practices. The selection of suppliers and subcontractors
is determined by the overall score, regarding to the criteria mentioned,
assessment and evaluation on the supplier performance, and their green
practices. The Group’s CBM business selects environmental friendly
construction material for well drilling to prevent pollutions to soil and
underground water. Such procedures are reviewed regularly to ensure their
effectiveness in promoting environmentally preferable products and services.

Besides, the Group has formulated policies and procedures to ensure that
suppliers could compete in a fair and transparent way in the tender and
procurement process. The procedures would strictly monitor and prevent all
kinds of business bribery and conflict of interest. The Group also encourages
employees, suppliers, customers and other individuals related to the Group’s
business to report any abuse of power that violates laws and regulations. Any
violation of the law and regulations will be subject to disciplinary sanctions.
During the Year, the Group did not receive any report on any significant
violation in this respect.

Product Responsibility

The Group is determined to provide the highest quality of product and
service to its customers and to fulfil its responsibility in bringing customer
satisfaction. The Group actively safeguards the quality of the products
through a strict procurement procedure.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with any laws and regulations relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress, such laws and regulations include but are not limited to
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests, the
Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China that would have a significant impact on the Group.

During the Year, the Group did not receive any cases of product or service-
related complaints, nor was it subjected to any product recalls for safety and
health reasons.

Product Quality and Safety

During the Year, the Group’s CBM business has met the basic requirement
of production, and has started the trial sales of CBM. The Group sets relevant
procedures to ensure that the CBM supplied by the Group complies with
the PRC national standard on natural gas, which sets requirements on the
intensity of sulfur and hydrogen sulfide in natural gas, the maximum calorific
value and the intensity of carbon dioxide per mole of natural gas. To ensure
the quality of the CBM products, the Group will engage a qualified third-
party testing institution to carry out an assessment on the quality of CBM
when necessary.

Protection of Customer Privacy

The Group has formulated policies and procedures for protecting sensitive
customer information, which is available in the Staff Code of Conduct ( &
T 17 A& =F A )). All confidential data related to the Group’s business and
customer information including but not limited to, customer lists, projects,
prices, sales contracts are securely protected and only used for internal
purposes. Any leakage of confidential information to third parties is strictly
prohibited. Employees are subject to disciplinary punishment in case of
violations. Such policies and procedures are reviewed regularly by the Group
in order to ensure their effectiveness.

Customer Satisfaction

Feedbacks from customers are welcomed as it is the key to enhancing the
Group’s service. Procedures for handling feedbacks have been set up. Should
the Group receive any complaints, the Group will strive to act immediately to
resolve the issue with effective corrective actions. In addition, any complaints
received are discussed and reviewed by the management during regular
meetings to prevent re-occurrence.
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IP Rights

The Group has established relevant guidelines to govern the information
technology (“IT”) management within the Group. Besides, the IT department
is responsible for obtaining proper licences for software, hardware and
information used by the Group in its business operation. Duplication or
downloading of information, software, and images from the internet must
be approved by relevant departments. Furthermore, the Group closely
monitors the infringement actions in the market and prevent any infringement
behaviour, such as counterfeit trademarks.

Advertising and Labelling

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group’s business operation do not
involve material advertising and labelling related risks. Nevertheless, in order
to ensure that the promotion of the Group’s services conforms to the actual
situation of the service, the Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and
regulations on advertising marketing. The Group strictly prohibits the use
of false and misleading descriptions in advertisements and is committed to
ensuring that all advertising contents are clear, real and authentic.

Anti-corruption

The Group values and upholds integrity, honesty, and fairness, and strives
to achieve high standards of ethics in its business operations. The Group has
established the Staff Code of Conduct (( E T1745FAI)) and the Regulations
regarding Anti-Corruption and Staff Probity and Self-Discipline AR & &
M ETIRRZAREMT)), to define appropriate measures in handling conflict
of interests, leakage of confidential information, and embezzlement of the
Group’s asset in one’s position. All employees are expected to perform
their duties with integrity, to act fairly and professionally, and to abstain
from involving in any bribery activities or activities that might exploit their
positions against the Group's interests.

During the Year, there was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees nor any related impact.
The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with any laws
and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China that would have a significant impact
on the Group.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

The Group encourages its employees to report alleged malpractices or
misconduct through the existing complaint box and hotline. The Group
will take immediate action to investigate the issue. The Group endeavours
to protect the whistleblower from common concerns such as potential
retaliation and is assured that their identity as a whistleblower will be kept
confidential. The Group has adopted a zero-tolerance approach towards all
forms of corruption, including deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, fraud,
conspiracy, embezzlement, money laundering and collusion. Disciplinary
actions or even a straight dismissal will be taken against any kinds of
misconduct or malpractice. Such procedures are reviewed regularly by the
Group in order to ensure their effectiveness.
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Operational Compliance

The Group strongly emphasises on operational compliance and strict
compliance with relevant laws and regulations in its business ethics. To
achieve the goals, the Group implements relevant policies and standards, and
revises them regularly.

To ensure that all employees can perform their duties with high ethical
standards and professionalism, the Group has arranged internal and external
anti-corruption and corporate governance trainings and encouraged
employees to actively learn about the latest development and future trends
of global anti-money laundering and bribery legal liability. External trainings
are provided by professional parties and associations. The Group commits to
providing anti-corruption training to the Group’s directors and employees at
least annually. During the Year, the Group provided anti-corruption trainings
in different topics including anti-corruption-related laws and regulations, to its
director and employees in the mode of lectures, seminars or reading materials.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to supporting the community by various means of
social participation and contribution as part of its strategic development.
The Group has formulated relevant guidelines and focuses on environmental
protection and charity activities. The Group also encourages its staff to
engage in community participation during their work and spare time.

In order to raise employees’ awareness on environmental protection, the Group
organised a tree planting activity during the Year to let the employees contribute
directly to greening and relax in the natural environment. The employees also
participated in a reservoir cleaning activity and a hill cleaning activity.

The Group is also dedicated to contribute to the community. The Group has
organised visit and material donation to show care to the family-in-need and
environmental workers. The employee also participated in a volunteer charity
activity to help collect unwanted bread from bakery and send it to the people-
in-need.

Continuing the ethic business practice, the Group plans to give back to
society through more active participation in community programmes, which
not only benefit society but also nurture a good corporate culture.

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
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B HBRER

wE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Section/
FEHHE  EBHE - —MIFEK | Description Declaration
BRENIER 2k BE B
Aspect AT: Emissions
BHEAL : BB
General Disclosure Information on: Environmental
— = (@) the policies; and Protection
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | JRIF{R#E
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes.
E%@ﬁ&?iﬁ%ﬁfﬁ& KR EHEHEET BEREEERYNES
=/ -
(@ B R )
(b) ETHETABEAZENHBERIIROINER -
KPI AT1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
RSB IEIRALL HE R AR K AR RABE R EUE Management —
Air Emissions,
Wastewater
Discharge

BERUEIE —BER
HER - BETKBERR

KPI A1.2
RASRAE IRIZEAL.2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions
(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (BE—) ReUREE (FBE — ) REREINE AR E) & (EA)

Emissions
Management —
GHG Emissions
BREE - AZE

FEEAEERYEE A E) R () 2E (WA SER S - 518
BiEEtE) -

BE(ASESEN  BIAREAE) © R
KPI' AT.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | Emissions
RIRERURRALS intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Management —

Disposal of Solid
Wastes
HEETE — [EBe

TEEashEneR WG R(naR) TE(IsEE R - 51

FER E
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | Emissions
BB BURIRALA intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Management —

Disposal of Solid
Wastes
PEUEIE — [El88

BEMRE
KPI' A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Emissions
BABHEIEIRALS fRL PR SLEVBEINE B AR K B iE Lk B ARFTIRERA) 2P 5% Management —

Air Emissions,
GHG Emissions
BENEE - ER
PERR - AERES
BEnk

KPI A1.6
RARAABUIEIRALLG

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and
a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

W ERIE A = MEEEEYNINE - R ATRISLARRE B R R AERIE
LE B ARFTERENR B

Emissions
Management —
Disposal of Solid
Wastes

PEEIE — [El88
BEVEREE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HERERRE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Section/
FEEE - BE - —MRIFER | Description Declaration
BREMER 2k g L
Aspect A2: Use of Resources

[ETHA2 : EREA

General Disclosure

—RRIEE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

BRUEBER(BIERIR - KEEMRIED) BB -

Use of Resources

BREM

KPI A2.1
B RUIEIRA2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or
oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

REREIDNERE R LREEER(NE - JRaoh) BFEE CATETF R
H)RZmE(WABES SN - BRREAHE) ©

Use of Resources
— Energy
Conservation
BIRER &4

oS
BE/T

KPI A2.2
FARIERUISIRA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
RFKERERE(MASEEEN - BHREAHE)

Use of Resources
— Water
Consumption
BREA—KE
RIEA

KPI A2.3
RARAARUIEIRA2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

WAL FTRT SRV BEIRE AR B R R AR5 & B R PTIRE 28R, -

Use of Resources
— Energy
Conservation
BIREA— &4

BER

KPI' A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for | Use of Resources
BRI RUERIRA2.4 purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. - Water
FSKEGE B OR ERI BRI R - AR PTRI BBk B IE R A#EE] | Consumption
L B IRPTEREREY P8R o BIRER—KE
TRIE R
KPI'A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if | Use of

PRSI RIEIRA2.5

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

Resources — Use

SR REM AR (A E) R(ER) BEERMIGE - of Packaging

Materials
BRER—FH
BEME
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BRiR - HE8RER

wE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Section/
FEHE  BME - —MFER | Description Declaration
BREMER 2k g L
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
JBTAS : BRERRARER
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment | The Environment
—RRIER and natural resources. and Natural
BUR BT NGB IR RE TRER E R ZBRIBUR © Resources
BRIERRNER
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and | The Environment
BARAE DU IRAS.1 natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. and Natural
WAEBEHHRERRAERNEAZERCKNERERTENTTE © | Resources
RERAARER

Aspect A4:
[ETEA4

Climate Change
RIxEE

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues

Climate Change

BABHERUIEIRA4

and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.

WA R EHETAEEVENEARIKEBEELEHTE

— MR which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. Mitigation and
BRI EH AR AR H R ITAELEF ENEAREHBEENBEK - Adaptation
AR N e SRR
g1t
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, | Climate Change

Mitigation and
Adaptation
R KB FE SRR
e
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Section/
FEHHE  EBHE - —MIFEK | Description Declaration
BRENIER 2k g L
Aspect B1: Employment
BB :
General Disclosure Information on: Employment and
— MR (@) the policies; and Labour Practices
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | 1&{% &% T{E 0l
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
ERFHH LR  BELET  THERZ - RY FEEE 2t R
I A5 A Ko EoA 48 e AR ARG
@ BOE: &
b) EFHETABEAZENBEREERBROINER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part- | Employment and
BARE BUREB1.1 time), age group and geographical region. Labour Practices
IR - BRI (Pl ’_TEH%EJZ%H@%) C FERARI KRB D HEELR - | - Employment
Practices
TEfR K55 TIE
5] — R B 1E B

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment and
RSB IE1EB1.2 RILR - FiRERIRREDBESRKLLE - Labour Practices
— Employment
Practices
EEKSTIE
5] — R 1B 1EH
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
FEEB2 RERZE
General Disclosure Information on: Employment and
— = (@) the policies; and Labour Practices
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | — Health and
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment | Safety
and protecting employees from occupational hazards. ERKRBIIE
*ﬁ‘E@?Eg\gﬁl{’ﬁfﬁfi&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁaﬂ%%’l&fi%ﬁ@ : pl—@mRLe
@ BE: Kk
(b) BTHETABEAZENHBERIIROINER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three | Employment and

BB UIE1RB2.1

years including the reporting year.

Labour Practices

BE=F(BRERFE)SFRATITHHABRLE - — Health and
Safety
ERERSIIE

fl—RERLE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Employment and
RAR AR RUIE1RB2.2 RIEmERNIIERE Labour Practices
— Health and

Safety z

EFERSIIE é

pl-emRze | 2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how | Employment and 3

RASRAE WUIE1RB2.3 they are implemented and monitored. Labour Practices 5
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Section/
FEEE - BE - —MRIFER | Description Declaration
BREMER 2k g L
Aspect B3: Development and Training

FE B3 : BREEA

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging

Employment and

RASAE AIE1RB3.1

senior management, middle management).

BRI EEER(MERERE PREERE)EINZIIBEBIL °

— AR ER duties at work. Description of training activities. Labour Practices
BRARTHE S E1T TIEBE M MBS MBUER - #d RS - — Development
and Training
EENSTIE
1] — R M IE5)
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. | Employment and

Labour Practices
— Development
and Training
REKRBTIE
5 — B & K35

KPI B3.2
PSR AR RIEIRB3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

BRI RIEREREI D T B IES TR A ISR -

Employment and
Labour Practices
— Development
and Training
RRERBTIE
1) — 2% K 3E 3l

Aspect B4:
[ETEB4

Labour Standards

TR

General Disclosure

Information on:

Employment and

RASAE AIE1RB4.1

forced labour.

fidiig s A B DI b AR o T RSBl T -

— AR ER (@) the policies; and Labour Practices
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | — Labour
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour. Standards
B IEET RARGIBTH EERSTIE
@ HE: K 17— 85 T#R]
b) EFHETABEAZENHEREEZRBROINER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and | Employment and

Labour Practices
— Labour
Standards
EENBTIE
Il — &5 T2AER|

KPI B4.2
FASRAARIEIRB4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

I IR R BN ER G RIS U R 28]

Employment and
Labour Practices
— Labour
Standards
ERERETIE
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R HERERRE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Section/

FEEE - BE - —MRIFER | Description Declaration

BREMER 2k g L

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

FEEBS5 : HEgEe

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Sustainable

—RRIER ERHIEROERIR At G EMRECR o Operating
Practices —
Supply Chain
Management
EESE 4

18—t rese

=g

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Sustainable

BB RUEIEB5.1 i Bl D e Em e o Operating
Practices —
Supply Chain
Management
QIESE i

&) — s

=

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers | Sustainable
RASR A8 I 1RB5.2 where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented | Operating
and monitored. Practices —
A RS P R R B ) - (AT BRI BIRO RS BKE - LURAS B | Supply Chain
ERIRBITREEERTTE © Management
AIFFEKE
Ef — s
B
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks | Sustainable
RSB IR 1EB5.3 along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Operating
A R ER R S ERE R R Mt 2R ED] - LANAERIFATT N | Practices -
ERAE- Supply Chain
Management
AR
B — fpEsE
=g
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable | Sustainable
B A DR IEB5.4 products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are | Operating %’
implemented and monitored. Practices — <
H L TE SRR R R 2 IRRE m L RFERIE D] - IARAEB#TT R E | Supply Chain =
BRI e Management g
RS s
Bl —fHrEsE =
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs Section/
FEEE - BE - —MRIFER | Description Declaration
BRENIER AES BE B
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
FEEB6 EmEE
General Disclosure Information on: Sustainable
—RRAREE (@) the policies; and Operating
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | Practices
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling | — Product
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and | Responsibility
methods of redress. AR
—REBEEHARHERMRBHRERLZE  BE  RELREEENR | B -EREE
NAEROTER
@ BE: R
(b) ETHETABEAZENHB@ERIIROINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and | Sustainable
RIS 4B IR 1EB6.1 health reasons. Operating
EEREEXEMBEH PR BEEFERAMALKNBE DL - Practices
— Product
Responsibility
CIESs a4
Bl -EmaE
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they | Sustainable
B 48 MR 1EB6.2 are dealt with. Operating
BEERAPAE o RIS VIR BB AR B 0% © Practices
— Product
Responsibility
AR
. B -EmaE
s KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual | Sustainable
g AR A8 IS 1RB6.3 property rights. Operating
S AR R AREE MRE A R ED - Practices
b — Product
b Responsibility
5 R
2 Ef—EmafT
é KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Sustainable
z RSB BUIEIRB6.4 S S48 BIE RE RBIYIET o Operating
E Practices
z — Product
2 Responsibility
5 RESE 5
‘ B - EREE
8 KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how | Sustainable
g RS 4 B 1EB6.5 they are implemented and monitored. Operating
= WU EEERRERLBBER - ARBEBERITRERITE - Practices
— Product
= Responsibility
& BIESE 3
= 1B - EREMA
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RiR - dERERBHRS
Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs Section/
FEHE  BME - —MFER | Description Declaration
BREMER 2k g L
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
FEEB7 : REE
General Disclosure Information on: Sustainable
— AR ER (@ the policies; and Operating
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | Practices — Anti-
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money | corruption
laundering. BESE 3
BRI - B3 - BGFROLEM Bf-RES
@ BOR: K )
(b) BTHETABEAZENHB@ERIIROINER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought | Sustainable
RSB IR 1EB7.1 against the issuer or its employees during the Year and the outcomes of the | Operating
cases. Practices — Anti-
RAFEHETASHRBIREWEFLENESHRARMFNEE RFFAL | corruption
R AIFFAEAR
BHl—-R&ES
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, how | Sustainable
RSB IE1RBY 2 they are implemented and monitored. Operating
TR FE b R AR - A RAABIIT R R ITA o Practices — Anti-
corruption
BESE Fcd
BH—-KRES
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Sustainable
RSB IEEB7 3 ftmE SR8 TREMNRE5E - Operating
Practices — Anti-
corruption
BESH i
Bf—-RES
Aspect B8: Community Investment
FEEBS HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the | Sustainable
—RRIREE communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into | Operating
consideration the communities’ interests. Practices —
BRUAHRSERTRETALEMELRFENRREEZEZHEEE | Community
R EEHBOR © Investment
BESE 3
Bl —1tREE
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour | Sustainable
A AE BUE1EBS. 1 needs, health, culture, sport). ) Operating
HIERBE(WHE  REFHE  BTHFR  @F Xt 85) - Practices —
Community
Investment z
EEET i €
Bpl-uERE | ¢
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Sustainable g
RSB N IE1RBS.2 EEIHEMDAER(INE EIRH) - Operating =
Practices — I
Community o
Investment I
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B —HERE bl
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Report of the Directors

ESRMEE

The board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of Golden Century
International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
(“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the performance of the Group for the Year by business and
geographical segments is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on page 93.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the businesses of the Group, discussion and analysis of the
performance of the Group during the Year and the material factors underlying
its financial performance and financial position as well as the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, as required by Schedule 5 to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is set out in the section of “Management
Discussion and Analysis” pages 4 to 16 of this annual report and in note 4
and note 6(2) to the consolidated financial statements. These discussions
form part of this directors’ report.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, as far as the Directors are aware, there was no material non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a
significant impact on the Group'’s business and operations.

Environmental policy

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its
business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify and manage
environmental impacts attributable to its operational activities in order to
minimise these impacts if possible. The Group aims to maximise energy
conversation in its offices by promoting efficient use of resources and
adopting green technologies, such as double-sided printing and copying,
setting up recycling bins, promoting using recycled paper and reducing
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance.

CEABEREREGRAR([EAT I REMEA
Al AE@DEER((EER N ESEDREFS
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The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and
will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in
the operation of the Group’s businesses to move towards adhering the 3Rs —
“Reduce”, “Recycle” and “Reuse” and enhance environmental sustainability.

Relationships with stakeholders

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of the
Group. Competitive remuneration packages and a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives are provided and implemented
to attract and motivate employees. In addition, to conform to the market
standard, the Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments. Moreover, the Group
understands the importance of maintaining good relationship with business
partners is vital to achieve its long-term goals. Thus, senior management of
the Group have kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and
shared business update with them as and when appropriate.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the Year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 97 and the movements
in the reserves of the Company during the Year are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share options

Under the terms of the share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) approved by the shareholders on 11 November 2014 (the
“Adoption Date”), the Directors may, at their discretion, offer any eligible
participants (including any Directors) of the Company or of any of its
subsidiaries option(s) to subscribe for shares in the Company (the “Option(s)”)
subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the Share Option Scheme. A
summary of the Share Option Scheme is set out below:

(1) Purpose
(@) To recognise and acknowledge the contributions which the
eligible participants have made or may make to the Group.

(b)  The Share Option Scheme will provide the eligible participants an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with a view
to achieving the following objectives:

(i) motivate the eligible participants to utilise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationship
with the eligible participants whose contributions are or will
be beneficial to the long term growth of the Group.

(2) Eligible participants
(@) any Director (whether executive or non-executive or independent
non-executive), employee (whether full time or part time), officer,
consultant, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or any invested entity of the Company
(“Invested Entity”); and

(b) any discretionary trust who discretionary objects include any
Director (whether executive or non-executive or independent
non-executive), employee (whether full time or part time), officer,
consultant, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or any Invested Entity;

and for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the Option may be
granted to any corporation wholly-owned by any person under (a)
above.
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(3) Total number of shares available for issue

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
the Options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue (or the shares of the subsidiary) as at
the Adoption Date, being 406,907,955 shares (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”).

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2016, an
ordinary resolution was passed refreshing the Scheme Mandate Limit so
that the Company would be allowed to grant options under the Share
Option Scheme for subscription up to a total of 578,765,179 shares,
representing 10% of the number of shares in issue as at 2 June 2016.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 June 2017, an
ordinary resolution was passed refreshing the Scheme Mandate Limit so
that the Company would be allowed to grant options under the Share
Option Scheme for subscription up to a total of 479,079,342 shares,
representing 10% of the number of shares in issue as at 7 June 2017.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
for the time being of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed such
number of shares as equals 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to an eligible participant (including exercised and
outstanding options) in any twelve-month period must not exceed 1%
of the shares in issue from time to time.

Subject to separate approval by the shareholders in general meeting
with the relevant participant and his associates (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”)) abstaining from voting provided that the Company shall issue
a circular to shareholders before such approval is sought, the Company
may grant a participant options which would exceed this limit.

Option period
The period within which the shares must be taken up under the Option
must not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the relevant option.
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Minimum period for which the Option must be held before it can vest

The minimum period, if any, for which the Option must be held before
it can vest shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion.
The Share Option Scheme itself does not specify any minimum holding
period.

Payment on acceptance of the Option

HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of
the Option offer. An offer must be accepted within 30 days from the
date of grant.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion at the time of the grant but shall not be less than the higher
of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares on the date of grant; and

(if)

the average closing prices of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The life of the Share Option Scheme is 10 years commencing on the
Adoption Date and will expire on 10 November 2024.

During the Year and as at 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding

share

option granted to the eligible participants. As at the date of this report,

the total number of shares available for issue upon exercise of share options

to be

granted under the Share Option Scheme is 47,907,934 ordinary shares,

being 10% of the number of shares in issue on 7 June 2017 and adjusted for
the effect of the share consolidation completed on 26 July 2018, representing
approximately 1.08% of the number of shares of the Company in issue.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had no material event after the reporting period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive directors

Wong Man Keung (appointed with effect from 17 January 2023)
Lee Nga Ching (appointed with effect from 17 January 2023)
Pan Jibiao (resigned with effect from 14 November 2022)

Shao Yanxia (resigned with effect from 17 January 2023)

Independent non-executive directors

Lai Kin Keung

Yeung Chi Wai (resigned with effect from 22 March 2023)
Wong Man Hung Patrick

Siu Kin Wai (appointed with effect from 22 March 2023)

In accordance with Article 104 of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but greater than one-third, shall retire from office. Details of the retiring
Directors shall be set out in the circular, among other things, for proposal for
re-election of retiring directors accompanying to the notice of annual general
meeting to be sent to be shareholders in due course.

Pursuant to article 104, article 105 and article 110 of the articles of association
of the Company, Mr. Wong Man Keung, Ms. Lee Nga Ching, Mr. Siu Kin Wai
and Mr. Wong Man Hung, Patrick will retire at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

All the Directors do not have service contracts with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

As at 31 December 2022, Ms. Shao Yanxia were also directors of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Other directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
included Mr. Chan Chiu Shing, Mr. Lee Kin Fai, Mr. Fung Fai Dennis, Mr.
Man Kin Wah, Mr. Wong Wai Chi Frederick, Mr. Lai Tsung Yu, Mr. Chan
Ming Chun, Mr. Chen Ganghao, Mr. Lau Nam Fung, Henry, Mr. Shi Long
and Mr. Zhou Mingyi.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on the remuneration of senior management of the
Group. Details of the emoluments of each Director and the five highest paid
individuals of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in note 12 and note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision as required by section 470 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”)
that meets the requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies
Ordinance for the benefits of the Directors is currently in force and was in
force throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as those disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions/
Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Report of the Directors of this
annual report and “Related Party Transactions” in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, there is no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any
of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director (including any person who at any time during the Year was
a Director) or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

Save as those disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions/
Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Report of the Directors of this
annual report and “Related Party Transaction” in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, there was not any contract of significance between the
Company, or one of its subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries during the Year.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the substantial
shareholders of the Company (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and required to be kept in the
register under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

N
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share

capital of

Number of the Company

Name of substantial Shareholders Nature of interest ordinary shares (Note 1)

EEARE
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BREI
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Century Gold (Note 2) Beneficial owner 3,278,604,864 73.61%

e SE(HaE2) BEREAA 3,278,604,864 73.61%

Notes: Wit -

1. Based on 4,454,196,695 ordinary shares of the Company issued as at 31 December 1. EAAFRNR-T-—F+-A=+-HEFTEER

2022.

2. These 3,278,604,864 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Century Gold
Millennium International Holdings Group Limited (the “Century Gold”), which is
wholly owned by Mr. Pan Jibiao. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr. Pan Jibiao is deemed to be
interested in these ordinary shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company has not
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company, which are required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT FOR THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year was the Company or
any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or their associates to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES IN
THE COMPANY

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the Year. Neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any listed
securities of the Company during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue during the Year attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was 52.43% of the Group’s total revenue, of which 17.32% was
made to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchase during the Year attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers was 81.21% of the Group’s total purchases, of which
48.39% was made from the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any shareholder
of the Company who to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital has an interest in the suppliers or customers
disclosed above.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received the annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors as required under Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group carried out the following connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions with the following connected persons,
namely:

(1) Mr. Pan Jibiao (“Mr. Pan”, who resigned with effect from 14 November
2022) and Ms. Shao Yanxia (“Ms. Shao”, who resigned with effect from
17 January 2023), both being former executive Directors; and

(2)  Ms. Li Dan (“Ms. Li”), the spouse of Mr. Pan and hence an associate
(within the meaning under the Listing Rules).

The Group conducted the following connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions (other than those exempted from the annual reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) during the Year:

(@) Insurance Brokerage Agreement

On 10 November 2020, GCINT Wealth Management Limited (“GCINT
WM”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered
into an insurance brokerage agreement with Ms. Li (“Insurance
Brokerage Agreement”) pursuant to which GCINT WM provided the
packaged insurance brokerage services to Ms. Li for a term of 12 months
commencing from 10 November 2020 and expiring on 9 November
2021.

Pursuant to the Insurance Brokerage Agreement, GCINT WM shall assist
Ms. Li in procuring insurance policies to be taken out with third party
insurer(s) by the provision of packaged insurance brokerage services
and the provision of such insurance brokerage services shall be subject
to the terms and conditions of the standard client agreement of GCINT
WM as amended or modified from time to time. The premium to be
made by Ms. Li under the Insurance Brokerage Agreement comprises (i)
the premium payable to third party insurers as set out in the insurance
policies; and (ii) the commission paid by the third party insurers to
GCINT WM.

The transactions with Ms. Li under the Insurance Brokerage Agreement
constituted a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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(b)

The insurance brokerage income under the Insurance Brokerage
Agreement

According to the relevant insurance policies entered into among
GCINT WM, the third-party insurer and Ms. Li on 10 November 2020
and 22 December 2020, Ms. Li applied for two insurance policies
and each of them has a term of 5 years. Based on the Insurance
Brokerage Agreement, Ms. Li will pay the third party insurer a premium
in accordance with the rates set out in the relevant fee schedule,
while GCINT WM is remunerated for its brokerage service by way of
the commission paid by the third party insurer based on the agreed
commission rates and payment schedule. According to the terms of
the signed insurance policies taken out with the third party insurer,
the aggregate commission to be received by GCINT WM from the
third party insurer under the Insurance Brokerage Agreement was
approximately HK$3,269,000 during the Year.

For details in relation to the Insurance Brokerage Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 24 May 2021.

Financing Services Agreement

GCINT (HK) Limited (“GCINT (HK)“) and GCINT Asset Management
Limited (“GCINT AM”), indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, entered into the financing services agreements with Mr. Pan,
Ms. Li and Ms. Shao on 22 November 2021 (the “Financing Services
Agreements”), pursuant to which GCINT (HK) agrees to provide,
among other, IPO financing services to each of Mr. Pan, Ms. Li and
Ms. Shao upon their request and/or GCINT AM in the capacity of the
investment manager of each of Mr. Pan, Ms. Li and Ms. Shao for a term
commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 subject to the
terms and conditions contained herein.

For details in respect of the Financing Services Agreement, please refer
to the Company’s circular dated 30 November 2021.

During the Year, no IPO financing service was granted to Mr. Pan, Ms.
Li and Ms. Shao.

During the Year, related party transactions in note 38(A) to the
consolidated financial statements fell under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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During the Year, related party transactions in relation to the key
management personnel compensation who are Directors or chief
executive of the Company in note 38(C) to the consolidated financial
statements fell under the definition of “connected transaction” or
“continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) and they were
fully exempt under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the then
prevailing Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules throughout the Year except the deviations set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022 were audited by Confucius and have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Confucius will retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Confucius as the auditor of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Report of the Directors

EERWES
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IR ARARRAFERN—EET LRI
B IOEE R AR BEEATA -

RHNDIBRIERE

RERRBAIRFABRENER  UERESH
o RAFHTEF 2 REBERAITEE AR
BIRA LMRAMREZ RARRERE -

BBED

ARBRHEZZT_ZTF ZT-—FRZTZZ
F+Z A=+ —HIEFEGAEVBRERARER
% WEHRBZREZEEEMN -

REBNERERRBFAG LRE  UHFTEER
FREBEREE - ARAHREERRBFAE L
RERBREBRE AR RIZEED -

On behalf of the Board REEER
Wong Man Keung HITEE
Executive Director FIER

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Confucius International

RRBEREFTENFBH AR

CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Golden
Century International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to
211, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

ST EUE1815ABRE1501-08%
Rooms 1501-08,15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
% Tel: (852) 3103 6980
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FEZREEGER HKABRXREMZAEKA
K REEZEHE  GKEBRSRERURERE

MR (BRI ESHBRME)

BEEUTH BERBEZHEAMBHRERERER
HRMES 2 HE NERBR AR | —Hprd
FHEZERN  BEARENERALEE ZEZ
BRELSBCAEHRAMBHRREHRERER - £
FIEEMAE @ BEERARGEAVBRRERES
BRBGHIZ KRBEREZERE



Al

A

\

AN/
=N} // \\
ﬂ/»‘%//////////,/,/ N

gy
//ﬂ

7

/

\‘/

/
2N

//

%

N

G\

al

Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to going concern

The Group incurred a net loss attributable to owners to the Company of
approximately HK$155,759,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.
As at the same date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$186,618,000, the Group’s total liabilities
exceeded its total assets by approximately HK$126,356,000 and its
total borrowings amounted to approximately HK$184,726,000 while its
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$34,332,000.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded outstanding loans
from Ultimate Holding Company and Ultimate Controlling Party of
approximately HK$107,460,000 and HK$66,080,000 respectively
and the convertible notes interest payables due to Ultimate Holding
Company (“Convertible Notes Interest Payables”) of approximately
HK$5,831,000 which are due for repayment within the next twelve
months.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis on the assumptions that (i) there is no indication of
Ultimate Holding Company and Ultimate Controlling Party have
any current intention to exercise their right to demand for immediate
repayment of outstanding loans from Ultimate Holding Company and
Ultimate Controlling Party; (ii) the Group is able to obtain financing
when required; (iii) the Group is able to generate sufficient cash
flow from operations and to control costs. We were unable to assess
the appropriateness or reasonableness of these assumptions in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the value of assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effect of
these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

We consider that the going concern basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements has been adequately disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements. Up to date of our report, no
confirmations have been received from the Ultimate Holding Company
and Ultimate Controlling Party as to whether they will not exercise
their right to demand immediate repayment of these balances or to
extend the repayment. Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence in relation to the adoption of the going
concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)
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Insufficient audit evidence in respect of Convertible Notes Interest
Payables, loan from Ultimate Holding Company and Ultimate
Controlling Party

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the loan from Ultimate
Holding Company and Ultimate Controlling Party were approximately
HK$107,460,000 and HK$66,080,000 respectively and the Convertible
Notes Interest Payables was approximately HK$5,831,000.

Up to the date of our report, no confirmation was received from
Ultimate Holding Company and Ultimate Controlling Party in related
to the interest expenses, interest payables, the carrying amounts of
the loans and Convertible Notes Interest Payables. We were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as
to the completeness, existence and accuracy of the Convertible Notes
Interest Payables, loans from Ultimate Holding Company and Ultimate
Controlling Party and the related accrued interest because no direct
confirmation was received by us.

In view of the scope limitations described above, there was no
satisfactory alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the closing balances and the movements of
the Convertible Notes Interest Payables, loans from Ultimate Holding
Company and Ultimate Controlling Party and accrued interest have
been properly accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of
the Company. Any adjustments that might have been found necessary
may have a significant effect on the Group’s net liabilities at 31
December 2022 and its financial performance and cash flows for the
year ended 31 December 2022, and the related disclosures thereof in
the consolidated financial statements.

Any adjustments to the figures as described in points 1 and 2 above might

a significant consequential effect on the Group’s consolidated financial

performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31 December

2022 and the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and such
internal control as the directors of the Company determined is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the matter
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a
basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

BYRBARES
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We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of ~ IRIEFE G A @M FE S TAERTRI([F
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our  8]1) » EEBR S£E  BESJYRESTE]

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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REPORT ON OTHER MATTERS UNDER SECTIONS 407(3) OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
as described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report
above:

*  we have not obtained all the information or explanations that, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary and material for the
purpose of the audit.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yip Yuen Nga

Practising Certificate Number: P05908
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBRmEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

2022 2021
—E-_—F —E-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
lirza FTRT FHET
(Restated)
(F&&E75)
Continuing operations HERERR
Revenue Weas
Contracts with customers BEAH 44,712 29,312
Interest income FEHA 35 696
Total revenue B 7 44,747 30,008
Cost of sales SHE A (42,012) (12,385)
Gross profit ES 2,735 17,623
Other income HABA 8 3,883 7,439
Other gains and losses HithWoes N EriE 9 4,367 40,838
Administrative expenses 1TFASE . (65,518) (64,342)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment — #i#E¥3 - #28 & 18 (38,468) (141)
Amortisation of production sharing contract  E ) A& Fl 2 #5 20 (4,294) (4,754)
Impairment loss on production sharing EmpKE R RERE
contract ‘ R = ) 20 (32,464) (5,342)
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - HES RERB ZRERE
equipment o 18 (19,532) (1,670)
Provision of impairment loss under expected HftEUYTFIE 7 FEHIE B BB
credit loss (“ECL”) model on other (FEHEERE DRAIAT
receivables, net of reversal REEERE - IBRED (5,410) -
Loss from continuing operations REFAREEB 2EHR (154,701) (10,349)
Finance costs BhE AR 10 (3,405) (53,825)
Loss before tax from continuing operations R BIFELE £ 2 MRBIATE B 11 (158,106) (64,174)
Income tax FRGHE 14(a) 5,869 2,382
Loss for the year from continuing REFESCEEBCFEEFE
operations (152,237) (61,792)
Discontinued operations R )
Loss for the year from discontinued REDRIEE 2 FEREA
operations 15 (3,930) (637)
Loss for the year FEEE (156,167) (62,429)
Attributable to: JEfy
Owners of the Company ARFEEA
— from continuing operations —REBERLEET (152,201) (61,802)
— from discontinued operations —REERIEFRT (3,558) (158)
Non-controlling interests IiEpEs
— from continuing operations —REFBELEER (36) 10
— from discontinued operations —REDHIEED (372) (479)
(156,167) (62,429)
Loss per share from continuing and REFEAREXEBRELILEEK
discontinued operations ZEBREE ‘
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EARREE (ZBOEW) 17 (3.50) (3.71)
Loss per share from continuing operations REGELEEL 2 EREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EARREE (ZRE) (3.42) (3.70)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEEmREMZEBRARRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 = F = —F+=A=+—HIFF/E

2022 2021
—E-C=F —TBo—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(#8&751)
Loss for the year FEBE (156,167) (62,429)
Other comprehensive expense Hti 2 HB X
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to BEAJEFSE LB IER -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BEBINEBEE EREER
operations (957) (5,288)
Other comprehensive expense for the year, FEHM2EMAX - NRAEH
net of income tax (957) (5,288)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year FEXHEHBXEARE (157,124) (67,717)
Attributable to: JEfE
Owners of the Company /NEIEZ ZE N (156,716) (67,248)
Non-controlling interests FEIEIR R (408) (469)
(157,124) (67,717)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PHIRRR

At 31 December 2022 R —FE - —#+—-H=+—H

2022 2021
—Eo—fF T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
e FE T FHT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - I LRE 18 33,684 108,895
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 19 3,134 23,399
Intangible assets | EE 20 33,921 77,560
Deposits birera 24 3,043 3,072
73,782 212,926
Current assets REBEE
Intangible assets mVEE 20 1,000 -
Inventories FE 22 540 255
Financial assets at fair value through BATVESABRRZ 2 REE
profit or loss 23 2,283 2,318
Trade and other receivables H 5 R EAM R IE 24 11,433 34,068
Cash and bank balances Be KIRTTM R 26 34,632 106,379
Cash held on behalf of clients REFEEZES 25 713 10,286
50,601 153,306
Current liabilities REBAE
Loan from Ultimate Holding Company RERELIFRA B 2 ER 30 107,460 107,510
Loan from Ultimate Controlling Party KEZRIEH T Z2ER 30 66,080 70,477
Other borrowing, unsecured E b g - EE 27 11,186 12,138
Trade and other payables B 5 K H M N FUR 28 37,032 95,391
Bonds (e 29 - 9,999
Lease liabilities HEAR 31 10,129 9,455
Tax payables e I8 14(c) 5,332 5,491
Contract liabilities aHaE = 287
237,219 310,748
Net current liabilities REEEFE (186,618) (157,442)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERARBEE (112,836) 55,484
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR R

At 31 December 2022 R—FE - —&F+—-H=+—H

2022 2021
—Eo—fF T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it FET FAET
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 5,034 15,004
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 14(d) 8,486 15,728
13,520 30,732
Net (liabilities) assets (BB)EETE (126,356) 24,752
Capital and reserves ERRHE
Share capital A& A 32 2,551,588 2,551,588
Reserves 5 (2,677,894) (2,521,178)
(Capital deficiency) equity attributable to RNRRER AL (B EAL)
owners of the Company P (126,306) 30,410
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR A 2 (50) (5,658)
(Capital deficiency) total equity (6 &8 (126,356) 24,752

The consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to 211 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Wong Man Keung
BEXA
DIRECTOR
BEF

HRBRE2NAZGEAMBHRREEERN
Eo=F=A=+RHEREETE  THET
JIEERKREE

Lee Nga Ching

A
DIRECTOR

EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEREZEBER

Ft—A=+—HIFFE

v

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2 —F ——

Attributable to the owners of the Company

FRRRE ALY
Special Non- Total equity/
Share capital  Translation Accumulated controlling (capital
capital reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests deficiency)
RHER EneE/
e & E R RitER Pit FERER  (BREA)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TRL TRL TRL TRL TRL TRT TRL
(note 41(a))  (note 41(b))
(Wit41@) _(HiE410)
At 1 January 2021 RZZEZ—5-A-H 2,075,632 579,799 143,114 (3,176,804) (378,259) (4,849) (383,108)
Loss for the year FEEEB - - - (61,960) (61,960) (469) (62,429)
Other comprehensive FREMEPERX
expense for the year - - (5,288) - (5,288) - (5,288)
Total comprehensive FRAERZAH
expenses for the year - - (5,288) (61,960) (67,248) (469) (67,717)
Issue of shares upon RECERETTRG
placement 109,504 - - - 109,504 - 109,504
Conversion of convertible — EHARIARZIE AR
notes into shares 366,452 - - - 366,452 - 366,452
Acquisition of WS e
non-controlling interest - - - (39) (39) (340) (379)
At31 December 2021 and ~ R=T=—%F
1 January 2022 TZA=+—-Bk
2 —-F—H 2,551,588 579,799 137,826 (3,238,803) 30,410 (5,658) 24,752
Loss for the year FEER - - - (155759 (155,759) (408)  (156,167)
Other comprehensive FEAMEZERX
expense for the year - - (957) - (957) - (957)
Total comprehensive FRIERZEH
expenses for the year - - (957) (155,759) (156,716) (408) (157,124)
Derecognition of non- BIERHE BB
controlling interest on NP 22 g
disposal of a subsidiary (Hi5237)
(note 37) - - - - - 6,016 6,016
At31 December 2022 RZFZZF
+=ZA=+-H 2,551,588 579,799 136,869 (3,394,562)  (126,306) (50)  (126,356)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

%%iﬁﬁﬁii

2022 2021
ot St - —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mzt TR FHET
Operating activities REES
Loss before tax R A ET1E
From continuing operations REFELLEERS (158,106) (64,174)
From discontinued operations REBRIEER (3,932) (638)
Adjustments for: TEHARAT ¢
Interest income MEKA 8 (263) (10)
Finance costs A& R A 3,416 53,838
Dividend income A B A 8 17) (28)
Gain on fair value change of convertible —Hy—ﬂﬁmﬂé NETETAEZ
notes — embedded derivatives N EEE 2 WS 9 - (34,383)
(Gain) loss on disposal of financial assets HERATHER AR
at fair value through profit or loss (MRAHEAEBREDZ
(“FVTPL") TRAE (W) 18 9 (197) 814
Net loss on revaluation on financial assets ~ EHIEAF(EFT AIBE 2
at FVTPL TREEZEBRFHE 9 35 19
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HME ARz Was 9 (18,203) -
Depreciation of property, M - S LREBINE
plant and equipment 18 15,465 14,690
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 19 10,039 11,852
Amortisation of production sharing contract DA R 2 BE 20 4,294 4,754
Impairment loss on production sharing EmaKa Rz mEsE
contract 20 32,464 5,342
Impairment loss on property, WE - WIS RRE O RERE
plant and equipment 18 19,532 1,670
Impairment loss on goodwill R E & 9 - 308
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - HWRREREH
plant and equipment Wz 9 - (53)
Write-off of trade receivables EHE 7 e IR 9 1,410 -
a Write-off of inventories WiEEE 9 113 -
g Provision of impairment loss under ECL Hith e YR IE 2 TR R (E B & 18
5 model on other receivables, net of REVE TR EE RS
3 reversal BB %R 5,410 -
g Impairment loss on right-of-use asset AL ERERE 9 10,116 -
3 Gain on early termination of lease contract ~ HEF R IFAE S K2 zs @ -
g Write-back of inventories mEFE = 9
o) Write-off of property, plant and equipment — #fis5¥% - #88 R & 18 38,468 166
2 Loss on derecognition of a subsidiary BILER—ERE LR
& B2 9 - 16
:
E Operating cash flow before movements EEECHIPF I RLERDRE
> in working capital (39,960) (5,826)
> (Increase) decrease in inventories FEGEm R (385) 523
& Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 N H At e WGk IR R > 15,026 41,276
z Decrease in contract liabilities aRamEd (272) -
2 Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 R H AR FIRR (31,905) (39,619)
]
& Cash used in operations REXBHARE (57,496) (3,646)
r Income tax paid EASPTISH (86) (159)
Interest received BEIF B 263 10
% Net cash used in operating activities RETEBAZRSFE (57,319) (3,795)
@

O
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n _\éiﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - — 41+ - A =+—HIFF/Z

2022 2021
—E-F T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mzt TR FHET
Investing activities REED
Decrease in restricted bank balances SR HIERTTEE R = 2,901
Decrease in cash held on behalf of clients ~ REFPFF RS 9,573 1,151
Dividend received B S 17 28
Payment of rental deposit HEZREMR = 3)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B3 - #2832 KR 18 (4,374) (12,978)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - R REREPTS IR
plant and equipment - 53
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERNHES ARG 2R
BE (15,135) (50,155)
Purchase of additional interest in a EE KB R R 2 FEIMERS
subsidiary - (380)
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEMBAREEZRRE
a subsidiary FER 37 (412) —
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERAFEFF ABH 2 @/REE
FVTPL EEFTISIE 15,332 51,462
Net cash generated from (used in) investing REFBES (BH) 2R FHE
activities 5,001 (7,921)
Financing activities REEE
Principal elements of lease payment HENRZ AT (9,183) (9,961)
Proceeds from borrowings fERATS 5E - 20,000
Loan from Ultimate Controlling Party KBRS 2 ER 2,328 -
Interest paid SRS (4,629) (5,210)
Repayment of bonds BERS (10,000) -
Proceeds from issue of new shares under IRHRAC &S 31T R AR (9 By P15 R TE
placement - 109,504
Repayment of borrowings ERER = (20,000)
Net cash (used in) generated from financing BEEE (B R)EL RS TE
activities (21,484) 94,333
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash B RREHFEED OR) LN
equivalents FER (73,802) 82,617
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FzRE LREHFERR
of year 106,054 31,236
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNERE R 2 28 2,080 (7,799)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FERCBESRESEEER 26 34,332 106,054
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash ~ BE&RBSSEBRLH DT -
equivalents:
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTHE 4 26 34,632 106,379
Less: Restricted bank balances A IR BIRI TR 26 (300) (325)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FR7BESMREEEER 34,332 106,054
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong
Kong and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the Company has
changed from 45th Floor, Tower 1, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong to Room 12005, 12/F, Tower 535, 535 Jaffe
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong with effect from 17 November 2022.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Century Gold Millennium International
Holdings Group Limited (the “Ultimate Holding Company”), which is
a private limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Pan Jibiao (the “Ultimate Controlling
Party”).

During the year, there were no material changes in the principal
activities of the Group, except in the process of cessation of insurance
brokerage license and disposal of a subsidiary which have been
reclassified as a discontinued operation of the Group. The continuing
operations of the Group are coalbed methane (“CBM”) gas exploration
and exploitation, financial business, general trading, comprehensive
healthcare and proprietary investment.

The discontinued operations of the Group was involved in wealth
management and sales of electronic components.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
In addition, the functional currencies of certain group entities that
operate outside Hong Kong are determined based on the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the group entities operate.

—REHR

KRB B—RREBEMRIZERETA
Al EROREBHMAERZHARA A ([H
RETDERET « RAREMREERES
BRI 7 I R BB IEE ) E A
SERES —BAEE A B IRNGEHE
#85355% Tower 535 12#12005% » B =%
—ZHF+—AttRRBRER-

ARABEERR  ARBZREERATR
L S EEREREEFR AR ([ REER
RA)  ZARR—EREBE LR SN
PRI ZFLABRAR] o HEEES )7 Rk
RS (TR HITT )

EA$¢F“ PR LRI S A R IR K T VB

RAEEMHPERAEEND RIEEBI -
FEBIEEBIREREL - XEFE
BREXGAREBR(TKRER]) BR K
K- eRER - —REH BEARERS
BIRE -

AEEAE KIS R
Pt -

EENEFE

FaPBHRRABIT(EIT)ZY) BLR
BRARAZINGEEE < 1o BETERE
DOME S EE B NE SR ARHEE
ERIZLRREZECREMETE -

NI NN,



A‘.nﬂ/p%//////////,,,/ N \\\A\

N

RNA

\

\

VRN o e
\) é }\} P

|

N S5 ON
WD %%'//1&1:\\@ %

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2022 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018
2020

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of these amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.  APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 Insurance Contracts'
and February 2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning or after 1 January 2023.

’ Effective date to be determined.
’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEFHEE

(a) Statement of compliance (@ BFEH

.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value-in-use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$155,759,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022. As at the same date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$186,618,000 and the Group’s total liabilities exceeded its
total assets by approximately HK$126,356,000.

The directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due in the foreseeable future, after taking into
consideration of the followings:

()  The management of the Company has tried to contact the
Ultimate Holding Company and Ultimate Controlling Party
to negotiate and seek for not to exercise their contractual
rights to request the Group for immediate repayment
amounted to approximately HK$173,540,000. Based on
the latest information available to the Group, in the opinion
of the Directors, there is no indication that the Ultimate
Holding Company and Ultimate Controlling Party have any
current intention to exercise their right to demand immediate
repayment thereof;

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. XESTEERE)
(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements (b) FEVBHRRZEREE(E)
(Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

(i) The Group will also seek additional financing including
but not limited to open offer, placing of the new shares and
issuance of bonds; and

(iii) The directors of the Company will continue to implement
measures aiming at improving the working capital and cash
flows of the Group, including close monitoring of general
administrative expenses and operating costs.

The directors of the Company have carried out a detailed review
of the cash flow forecast of the Group for the next twelve months
from the date of this report taking into account possible impact
of the above measures, the directors of the Company believe that
the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future
working capital and other financing requirements as and when
they fall due in the next twelve months from the date of this report
and, accordingly, are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amount, to provide for future
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and liabilities to current assets and liabilities respectively. The
effects of these potential adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)

(c) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (c) #HEREEEE)

.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’” proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)
(c) Basis of consolidation (Continued) () HEHRBEXEE)
Business combinations E =yt

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are critical to
the ability to continue producing outputs, including an organised
workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are considered unique
or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or
delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for transactions
and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed
in a business combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October 2010).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IS HRERMIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)

(c) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (c) #HEREBEEE)

Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date, that is the date when the
Group obtains control, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)
(c) Basis of consolidation (Continued) () HERBEXEE)
Goodwill (Continued) ()

(d)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in accordance
with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which the
group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction
with the other parties to the joint operation, and gains and losses
resulting from the transactions are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of other

(d)

HERBReELEMIRSELEN
AR AR AR S EL B - BEH
CEASEREH A ANERGEEE -8
AEBHERELBM(SREEE
B AR NI S EEEL) NRER
B rHERESRERMHEERRK (X
ReELBN) BARERSEL SN
(R EEBELER)BHOEREE

Ex

REgEFE 2R
REEFERETHHEE KRERIE L
&7 HRBME R 2 EERAEDH
EERNEEBEEEzAE R - [
ZHITIR LB S b - EE
RRRE R E T RIS T —
BRIEA G -

AEERERNEE  AF  WaERXH
ZERBEVHRELEL - ERAE
BrEz BB EE  BfF  BER
AR -

EREERASLERETRS (W
EREIANEE)MEBAERASEEE
77 AEBERE ARG SEF I HEME
TEIRS - AIRGEEZ WS KEE
RRNEEEEZEME TS A
7 AR AEE 2 R A B IR AR

parties’ interests in the joint operation. Re

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which the EEEERESEERETRS (N
group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase of assets), the BEE)MEREERSZEFS K
Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it SETgmREEG  WaEREE B
resells those assets to a third party. EEERFEETE=TRI -

The operation under the production sharing contract as referred to
in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements is accounted
for as a joint operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)

(e) Revenue from contracts with customers (e) REFFEHWE

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or

services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
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time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of EIZ%E - B T2 RE T ERBRER
BB ERBEATERBER -

the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the s EPRARBEILHEREREEE
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group WAt 2 Mzs
performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that o AEBRBENESREAIEME
the customer controls as the Group performs; or EREEBAOMBRESESZ

BE =X
e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with o AXAEBERBENWAREEUREEM

an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an SRERABRCZEE BEA%E
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to 252 TR 2 BH A B AR
date. AT 2 RER -
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the BRI W N B PEGZARNE ML
RS 2 15 il e 1R o

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases with
similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual
leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. XEEIHBERE)
(f) Leases (Continued) H HE#E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBEREHEA(E)
Right-of-use assets EHEEE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: ERREEZNARLRE

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the statement of consolidated financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost
of right-of-use assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F - —F+ =1 —HIFE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)
(f) Leases (Continued) # HEE)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBEREHEA(E)
Lease liabilities HEEE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - — 41+ - A =+—HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. XESTEERE)
(f) Leases (Continued) ® HEE)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEFERZFREA(E)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEBEE)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
statement of consolidated financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTEEE)
(f) Leases (Continued) H ME#E)
The Group as a lessor KEFERHHEA
Classification and measurement of leases HESERFE

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling
prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHBERA)
() Leases (Continued) H HE#E)
The Group as a lessor (Continued) AEBEBLHEA (E)
Lease modification HEEXL
Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part IR G R IGE —E D 2 BEEL
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease ZREZFIERBEELAR - BIER

modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

(i)  Operating leases
The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases
the lessee from its obligation to make specifically identified
lease payment, of which some of these lease payments are
contractually due but not paid and some of them are not yet
contractually due, the Group accounts for the portions which
have been recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e. the
lease payments which are contractually due but not paid)
by applying the ECL and derecognition requirements under
HKFRS 9 and applies lease modification requirements for the
forgiven lease payments that the Group has not recognised
(i.e. the lease payments which are not yet contractually due)
as at the effective date of modification.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g

(h)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss for the year in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss for the
year in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTEEE)

(i) Employee benefits (i) EERER

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to the mandatory provident fund scheme/state-managed
pension scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates a defined contribution mandatory provident
fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme, in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer
of the termination benefit and when it recognises any related

restructuring costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHBERE)
(i) Employee benefits (Continued) (i) EERRGE)
Short-term employee benefits EHESEF
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted 5 HIE BRI TR R B R AR TR AR

amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Equity-settled share-based payments arrangements

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
capital. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprises costs which
are directly attributable to researching and analysing existing
exploration data; conducting geological studies; exploratory
drilling and sampling; examining and testing extraction and
treatment methods and compiling pre-feasibility and feasibility
studies. Exploration and evaluation expenditure also includes the
costs incurred in acquiring mining rights, the entry premiums paid
to gain access to areas of interest and amounts payable to third
parties to acquire interests in existing projects.

During the initial stage of a project, exploration and evaluation
costs are capitalised as incurred. Expenditure on a project after it
has reached a stage at which there is a high degree of confidence
in its viability is capitalised and transferred to development assets
if the project proceeds. If a project does not prove viable, all
irrecoverable costs associated with the project are expensed in the
profit or loss.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)
(k) Taxation (Continued) k) PE(E)
Deferred tax (Continued) FEEFHE(E)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to be
reversed in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply for the year in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)

()  Property, plant and equipment ) 9% - HBRRHE

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings,
plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures, motor vehicles
and leasehold improvements held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. Details are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 2-4 years or over the terms of
the lease, if longer

Furniture and fixtures 5to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5to 10 years
Plant and equipment 3 to 10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents buildings and structures under
construction, which is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction as well as borrowing
costs during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use. No depreciation
is provided in respect of construction in progress until it is
substantially completed and ready for its intended use.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Intangible assets

(n)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

The following intangible asset with finite useful life is amortised
from the date it is available for use and its estimated remaining
useful life is as follows:

— Production sharing contract 15.9 years

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

e M RRME

ETESHBERE)

BREBIERERENEEZREE)

IS FE A THER &K AR R R ER
BREAEEZHANRSE  REHEED
BER  SRARMBETSHSEN
REEERHZEE(RZRCESE
B ER (LARFRHRKRRERE
Bl ET) FPEZ BATBRER & - (A AT Y
*ﬂzfﬁﬁfnuiﬁﬁfﬁgﬁfﬁﬁfg@ °

E-REAE(H—BERSELEM)NT
WEeBRENEREER - ZEE
(HZRSELBM) 2 REAESSHIR
EHEAREEE - HECRERBER - &
FEAR AR SR 2 BREE(ER) &
BENEORERE - BRIBEMTEIE
BEZRAE  BUPBz o5
BE - REEZFRHENSHREER
HERAFEROEXRA(AAFE) « 2
REE(NAEE)XT(R=EFP &
BERE)  RESEKZEEZRER
EeReRokRESBuP 2 EME
= o WEEIERIRERIBEE TR o

BREBBERKER  BE(HRE
EEEA) 2 RAESENELERTN
EETAIREI £ - EEINRAEREET
BB REZEE (HZIREELEN)
REFARERREEEBRTMEEZ
FRME(E - R{EEERE R R IE S

7
o °©

i
77 IR AR AN S ) R (2 BB E A
B o 7R RAR A I TR AE
T - RRHEAT RS2
SRR A R E A o

>
z
z
c
>
=
-
&
=
o
Pl
=
N
f=}
N
N
I
4
I
I
i
i
#

o7




.\\

/

N

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SiEEERZREEAR LA | GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

128

e WIS ERRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where
the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B{Z —F = —F+ - H=+—HIFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)

() BERINREEE)

(p) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other
parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
time deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and are within three months to maturity
at acquisition. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, bank overdrafts and bank loans, if any, which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of an enterprise’s
cash managements are also included as component of cash and
cash equivalents.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of the parent of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - —4 1+ _-H=+—HIFF/F
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHBERA)
(r) Related parties (Continued) r FEBE5(E)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) & TIMERMGE 2 EREIEAR
conditions applies: SEBRE
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEREASEEAR—£E
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and ZERA(BIEEAA -
fellow subsidiary is related to the others); L EyEE NS e S =N K
B A R ;
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) ER—ARm—HzEBER
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a AlskAa e bE(REP—7
group of which the other entity is a member); RE—ITMBEB 2B E R
AlgaERE)
(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party; (i) EFHRRA-—F=Fz6&
=4
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (ivy ZBBR—RBE=ZSHzaE
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ¥ -ME—ATRZE=S
P -YN-IE
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the v) ZEBDRANEBRERE

benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group;

EEHER ZEERFNIM
RZBIREN TS o IAE
BBy A E%TE - Al

BlREIEASEARRE

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) REBRX@BRMENAL
identified in (a); 2l S R

o
&
% (vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vii) @Q()BRATHRITH BEEEE
% over the entity or is a member of the key management AHENHRZER (X
g personnel of the entity (or of the parent of the entity); or ERIARTEERAER
S ZAE
8
2 (viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (viii) ZEEREHMEEEE T
z part, provides key management personnel services to ]k B R Al AR E kA&
g the Group or to the parent of the Group. o BRARRHEREIEEEA
é B R -
z
z Close members of the family of a person are those family members —B AT I RRE BIETARI A H %
= who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that ATHERHZEEBRNFZEXSTZ
S person in their dealings with the entity, which include: BAREREBEFEZREKE 8
§ 1E
g
E (i)  the person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; (i) FATHFRREGEHRAERE:
(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and (i) ZATHWEBEREHEESTF
. Zi R
£
b (iiiy dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or (i) &AL ALTHEBFEFEHF

domestic partner. BEXEA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business is presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)
(® Financial instruments (Continued) O 2@MIEE)
Financial assets (Continued) SEEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)
(® Financial instruments (Continued) O 2@MIEE)
Financial assets (Continued) SEEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTEEE)
(t)  Financial instruments (Continued) t S@WMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets EHMEERE

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including trade and other receivables). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and other
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTEEE)
(t)  Financial instruments (Continued) t S@WMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TEEEREE)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

(i)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTEEE)
(t)  Financial instruments (Continued) t S@WMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TEEEREE)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () EERRBEEEINGE)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk
of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 30 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTEEE)
(t)  Financial instruments (Continued) t S@WMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EHEERE(E)
(ili) Credit-impaired financial assets (i) HIREEREZEMERE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

BRLE-EXZEEOENEE
BEEZ B ARRRSREBK
BEEYER  IRKZEREE
HIREERE - @REELRE
EREZEERBEHUTES
ZAEREUR

BT ARERAEEREAHS
IR

(a)

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due (b) EH - HlanERSE S
event; (o
(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or () EBRAZEBAENERA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial R EEFT S S B B 438
difficulty, have granted to the borrower a concession(s) B RAERASTEEM
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; BRTHEATEEEZE
#+
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter (d)  ERAFTRE S &I AE KT
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or Hi%EM 3
(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial (e) HEmEREZERTISHEM
asset because of financial difficulties. PR B HK o
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  IEEBER

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHBEE)
(t  Financial instruments (Continued) t S@WMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EHEERE(E)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) FEREREHEEEE

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on
the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments;
. Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments/receivables
that are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises the
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount with
the exception of trade and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTEEE)
(0  Financial instruments (Continued) t S@WMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Derecognition of financial assets IR DR EE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss,
but is transferred to accumulated losses/retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEHEEE)
(® Financial instruments (Continued) O 2@MIEE)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) THEEREZ(E)

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including other borrowing, bonds, promissory
notes and other payables) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCl”), unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in
OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability
is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in OCI
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they
are transferred to accumulated losses/retained earnings upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of
the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition/non-substantial modification of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of a financial
liability with substantially different terms as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. A substantial modification of the terms of
an existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or not
attributable to the financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability.

The Group considers that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent
different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash
flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly, such exchange
of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as
an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 per cent.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - — 41+ - A =+—HIFF/Z

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised for the year in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
for the year of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(@ Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets

The Group tests at least annually whether assets that have
definite useful lives have suffered any impairment. Other assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds its recoverable amount.

The estimated recoverable amounts of construction in progress,
plant and equipment in CBM segment (note 18) at the end
of the reporting period has been arrived at on the basis of an
independent professional valuation carried out by an independent
firm of professional qualified valuers using cost approach and
market approach valuation methodology, which involves the cash-
generating units that have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations.

As at 31 December 2022, impairment losses of HK$19,532,000
(2021: HK$1,670,000) in respect of these construction in progress
and property, plant and equipment have been recognised. Details
of the impairment are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, impairment losses of HK$10,116,000
(2021: Nil) in respect of these right-of use assets have been
recognised. Details of the impairment are disclosed in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(©

Provision for ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision matrix is based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime ECL to be incurred, which is estimated by
taking into account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
trade receivables, customers’ repayment history and customers’
financial position and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions, all of which involve a
significant degree of management judgement. The Group regularly
monitors and reviews assumptions related to the calculation of
ECL. The above estimation techniques and key assumptions have
not changed significantly in 2022.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast general economic conditions. If the financial condition
of the customers or the forecast economic conditions were to
deteriorate, actual loss allowance would be higher than estimated.

Useful life and amortisation of intangible asset — production
sharing contract (“PSC”)

The PSC is amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining
contract terms of 15.9 years to 31 March 2038. Management
determines the estimated useful lives and basis for amortisation
for the PSC taking into account factors including but not limited
to, contractual terms of respective contracts, the expected usage
of the assets by the Group based on past experience, technical
obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in production
or from a change in the market demand for the product or service
of the assets. The estimation of the useful life and the basis for
amortisation is a matter of judgement based on the experience
of the Group. Management reviews the estimated useful life and
the basis for amortisation of intangible asset annually, and if
expectations are significantly different from previous estimates of
useful economic life, the basis and rates of amortisation for future
periods will be adjusted accordingly.

Had a different amortisation rate been used to calculate the
amortisation of the PSC, the Group’s result of operations and
financial position could be materially different.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 4. BRESHHERGEERBEZETER
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued) R(E)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) HETREZETERR(E)

Estimate for resources and/or reserves of CBM under the PSC

Reserves are estimates of the amount of CBM that can be
economically and legally extracted from the designated contract
areas under the PSC (note 20). In order to make an estimate for the
reserves, estimates and assumptions are required about a range of
geological, technical and economic factors, including quantities,
grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production costs,
transportation costs, commodity demand and commodity prices.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires
information on the size, shape and depth of the coalbeds or fields,
which has to be determined by analysing geological data such as
drilling samples. This process may require complex and difficult
geological judgements and calculations to interpret the data.

The Group estimates its commercial reserves and resources
based on information compiled by appropriately qualified
persons relating to the geological and technical data on the size,
depth, shape and grade of the hydrocarbon body and suitable
production techniques and recovery rates. Commercial reserves
are determined using estimates of CBM in place, recovery factors
and future commodity prices, the latter having an impact on the
total amount of recoverable reserves and the proportion of the
gross reserves under the terms of the PSC. Future development
costs are estimated using assumptions as to the number of wells
required to produce the commercial reserves, the cost of such
wells and associated production facilities, and other capital costs.

The carrying amount of intangible assets relating to the PSC at
31 December 2022 is disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

Estimate for resources and/or reserves of CBM under the PSC

(Continued)
As the economic assumptions used to estimate resources and/

or reserves may change from period to period, and because

additional geological data is generated during the course of

operations, the estimates of reserves may change from period

to period. Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s

financial results and financial position in a number of ways,

including the following:

the carrying value of intangible asset relating to the PSC may
be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows;

depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss may change as
such charges are determined by reference to the units of
production basis or the estimated useful economic lives of
the assets;

provisions for decommissioning site restoration and
environmental provisions may change where changes in
estimated reserves affect expectations about the timing or
cost of these activities; and

the carrying value of deferred tax liabilities may change as
a result of changes in the asset carrying values as discussed
above.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 4. BRESHHERGEERBEZETER

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued) R(E)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) HETEREZETERR(E)

(e) Impairment of intangible asset — PSC (e HEEEEHE—-EmRTHER
The estimated recoverable amount of the PSC (note 20) at the EmaKaR (M0 RERARL
end of the reporting period has been arrived at on the basis et E B RBE B EE A E
of an independent professional valuation carried out by an T (EBEEARERMHERM)2ZH
independent firm of professional qualified valuers using income Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
approach valuation methodology, which involves the value- FTEs H 2 BT 2 i 15 R 8 2 B IA
in-use calculations with reference to the technical assessment EFMER - AP REBEETEHNW
reports issued by Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. and AMGEEER » %GB R & 30l B
the latest internal reserve assessment. Neither the valuer nor HEAREEEEARME  THAFEE
technical adviser is connected with the Group, while both have BREMBEETERSR - AREEERE
the appropriate qualifications and relevant experience in the mAKER(ERRSEEEA) A
industry. The Group has used estimated future cash flows and BEEZEETARRBR 2R E s FTaa
profit forecasts expected to be generated from the PSC as a cash- ARAS R E LR 2 TR E - IR
generating unit and a risk-adjusted discount rate in order to FTHRE - AEERIBERS KA R
calculate the present value. The Group’s CBM business under the THREREBDENER TR -
PSC is currently at its early stage of development. The cash flow e e Mo TR K 35 78081 K k&t
and profit forecast projections involve significant judgement and FTVEH 2 RAR 2 ZEHE I B B A 21 2 Ak
estimates on the accuracy of the assumptions for the projections i HBREETRABMBE B
and estimates of, including but not limited to, government policies, B RRTHHFIEE - TH5HR AU
growth rate, the extent of the future market competition, market MASBERTERERERGES 2 EE
demand, and cost structure of CBM products that the Group will RUEE P ANZE T o

achieve during the forecast period.

Had different parameters and discount rates been used to WA TRz 28R REETR/LE
determine the estimated recoverable amount of the intangible asset, B MR RT Bl £ 5E - ARERE 2 g%
the Group’s results of operations and financial position could be BRI REBUA TR
materially different.

(f)  Exploration and evaluation expenditures ) EFERFEHETS
The application of the Group’s accounting policy for the ENRERT AR A 2 A I
exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgement to FHR—THE - BT SRHERSK
determine whether future economic benefits are likely, from either HERERARREHERN - HZEED
exploitation or sale, or whether activities have not reached a EATENEIREHEETEIEG -
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of BRABZ T EEMBHHERERZ
reserves. The determination of reserves and resources is itself an ETF R ARG o MAKEREY
estimation process that involves varying degrees of uncertainty REFHARY - SRR S A RE R
depending on how the resources are classified. These estimates FE BEBREREEERRKEMF
will be directly impacted when the Group defers exploration and FNORSE - LR R RRGEITROE LAT1TH
evaluation expenditure. The deferral policy requires management FREEMIELE T REE - HE
to make certain estimates and assumptions about future events ER - ZEhE R RERA AT s s L 2
and circumstances, in particular, whether an economically viable {t o X EANIE - WBERZASEL
extraction operation can be established. Any such estimates and Bl - AEEEANME SR E R
assumptions may change as new information becomes available. RS F NGRS B mR P -

If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available
suggesting that the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the
relevant capitalised amount will be written off in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year when the new information
becomes available.
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e year ended 31 December 2022 B Z = F = —F+=H=+—HIFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical accounting judgement in applying the Group’s accounting

policies

(@ Functional currency
The Company is carrying out its operating activities and making
management decisions in Hong Kong, that is, raising finance in
Hong Kong dollars and has significant degree of autonomy from
its foreign subsidiaries in the way its business is managed. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the functional currency
of the Company is Hong Kong dollars.

(b) Going concern consideration

The directors of the Company have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the assumption that the Group will be able
to operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future, which
is a critical judgement that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a
judgement by the directors, about the future outcome of events
or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The directors
consider that, after taking into account of all major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that individually
or collectively may cast significant doubt upon the going concern
assumption as set out in note 3(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the capability to continue as a going
concern.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group is subject to externally imposed capital requirements for
(i) a subsidiary registered under the Insurance Ordinance (Chapter 41
of the laws of Hong Kong, the “10”) which are subject to the relevant
minimum capital requirement; and (ii) two subsidiaries which are
regulated entities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)
and are subject to the relevant minimum paid-up share capital and
minimum liquid capital requirements under the Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules (Chapter 571N of the laws of Hong Kong,
the “SF(FR)R”). The management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the
capital level of these entities to ensure compliance with the relevant
requirements under the SF(FR)R and [O.

The Group has no other material exposure to capital requirements
externally imposed with regard to the Group other than described
above.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and
bank balances. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratio at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

e M RRME

REBBEZT AT EAMRE ()
REBEEEEDIE 4 ZRBRGH]([RERIEH] )
ey — KB A RAETHEAKEEARR
E o RGNBRESFREED([E5 LB
PINETRREERNMENE QR AET
BEEDE7TINEEFE S ME (MBER)
FATEZEHE(FBRER) R T8
AREHEBRARRERDESRE - 1
EERTERZFTERNESKT - AR
REEEFRAE (FBER) R A R RR G5
BITEARRAARE

B EXPraiESN - NEBEILMEA A BAE
BN REINE AR ERERRR ©

BEMER & AREFRABLRER
HER o bl RIRIFE AR AL E A5
B FERRBEBIRAS MRTTAER - &
BARGTE R GRS MBIRRKRAR)
DUFEIR

W-B-—FR-F-—F+-A=+—H
ZBEERET

2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Contract liabilities BHEE - 287
Bonds &% - 9,999
Loan from Ultimate Holding Company KEREERARZER 107,460 107,510
Loan from Ultimate Controlling Party KB BREIEITT 2 ER 66,080 70,477
Other borrowing E &K 11,186 12,138
Lease liabilities HEAE 15,163 24,459
Less: Cash and bank balances B IR e RIRTTE S (34,632) (106,379)
Total net debt FEITRAREE 165,257 118,491
(Capital deficiency) total equity (BAEAL) B (126,356) 24,752
Total capital BEXR 38,901 143,243
Gearing ratio BEkLX 424.81% 82.72%
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - —4 1+ _-H=+—HIFF/F

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. &ETH
(1) Categories of financial instruments 1 EMITEER
2022 2021
—E-—F& —EF-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHENAGTEZeRMERE 46,941 140,124
Financial assets at FVTPL EBEATEFABRZEREE 2,283 2,318
49,224 142,442
Financial liabilities -y =R
Bonds E% = 9,999
Loan from Ultimate Holding Company KA REIERAE 2 BER 107,460 107,510
Loan from Ultimate Controlling Party A BRI 2 BT 66,080 70,477
Contract liabilities AHBEE = 287
Lease liabilities HEBE 15,163 24,459
Other financial liabilities Eemas 29,505 85,936
218,208 298,668
(2) Financial risk management objectives and policies 2 TEEBREEERERIEE

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at FVTPL, trade receivables, deposits, other receivables, cash and
bank balances, other borrowings, bonds, trade payables, other
payables, borrowings, loan from Ultimate Holding Company, loan
from Ultimate Controlling Party, lease liabilities and amounts due
to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (including
foreign currency risk, other price risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk.

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIA(E)
(2) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 2 THREREEBEEERBEKE)
(@ Foreign currency risk (@ IMEmEE

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to
which the transaction relates. The currencies giving rise to
this risk are primarily Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States
dollars (“US$”). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies. All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through the People’s Bank of China or other
institutions authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. As
HK$ is pegged to the US$, the Group does not expect any
significant currency risk of US$ position.

Overall, the Group monitors its currency exposure closely
and would consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arise.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
in unlisted fund investment (note 23). The Group has not
hedged its price risk arising from investments in equity
securities. The Group’s securities investments that are listed
on the Stock Exchange are valued at the quoted market
prices at the reporting date.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to price risk at the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F - —F+ =1 —HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(2) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(b)

(©

(d)

Other price risk (Continued)
If the prices of the respective unlisted fund had been 10%
higher/lower (2021: 10% higher/lower):

e post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2022
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$228,000
(2021: decrease/increase by approximately
HK$232,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
investments in unlisted fund.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to the bank balances
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rates
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. The
directors considered that the Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is minimal.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of each class of recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. SRMIAE)
(2) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 2 cREREEEERBER(E)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (d) EEREEREEFFG(E)

In order to minimise credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team to compile credit and risk management
policies, to approve credit limits and to determine any
debt recovery action on those delinquent receivables. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual receivable at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group'’s credit risk is significantly
reduced. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model based on provision matrix
or credit impaired. Details of the accounting policy for
impairment of trade receivables has been disclosed in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial
condition of trade receivables and, where appropriate, credit
guarantee insurance cover is purchased.

The Group considers the credit risk characteristics and
the days past due to measure ECL. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the expected credit losses rate for customers
of sales of goods is minimal, given there is no history of
significant defaults from customers and insignificant impact
from forward-looking estimates. The assessed ECL for trade
receivables are not material.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including
deposits and other receivables, management considers that
its credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition with reference to the counterparty historical
default rate and current financial position except for the
rent and management fee receivables of carrying amount
approximately HK$4,672,000 and the other receivables
of carrying amount approximately HK$738,000 at 31
December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group assessed
the ECL for other receivables and deposits, an impairment
loss of HK$5,410,000 was recognised in the profit or loss.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. SRMIAE)
(2) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 2 THREREEBEEERBEKE)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (d) EEEERBEFFE(E)

Impairment losses on other financial assets at amortised
cost are presented as impairment losses, net of reversal
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line item.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables as 45% (2021: 44%) and 91% (2021: 60%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively. As at
31 December 2022, no provision for expected credit loss
on the trade receivable has been made as these debtors
has no recent history of default and a substantial portion
of the carrying amount is subsequently settled, thus the
management of the Group does not expect any significant
loss from these debtors.

Bank balances and cash in broker accounts are placed
in various authorised institutions and the directors of the
Company consider the credit risk for such institutions is
minimal.

BREHRAAECEMBEREE
ZREEETI 25 AR EREN
BRaQEE M B D o HAR P IRE 8
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(e) Liquidity risk (e) MEMELE
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible FEBNERNKCEEREERS
for their own cash management, including the raising of loans ZHEER  BESHEENRNUE
to cover expected cash demands, and to ensure compliance NEPRSHFE - THERIEZRE

with Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (the
“SF(FR)R”), as required. In the management of the liquidity
risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents and credit facilities deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. SMIA(E)
(2) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) (2 2REREEEERBEE)
(e) Liquidity risk (Continued) (€ HEMEEE)
The following table details the remaining contractual TRFANFEFHETESREE
maturities at the year end date of the Group’s non-derivative RITES BB ENREE R 2 Ftk
financial liabilities and derivative financial liabilities, which AHRHE - FHe OB EE T
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including REHNBERRRELRE(BENA
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if &R R ()7 2 R 2 RAE
floating, based on rates prevailing at the date of the reporting A2 FRGFHE 2 MBS AKRA
period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to SEATHERN Rz & A #EF
pay: I
2 201
—E-CF 3%
More than More than
Weighted Total Within ~ More than 2 years Weighted Total Within -~ More than 2 years
average  contractual Tyear  1yearbut but less average  contractual Tyear — 1yearbut but less
Carrying interest  undiscounted oron less than than Carrying interest  undiscounted oron less than than
amount e cashflow demand 2 years 5 years amount e cashflow demand 2 years 5 years
nE  ANEER 1543, 0L 254 L g AHERR 1ERE 1EH)E 2ELE
BEE  ToiE ReREAH RERX  BFRE  BFRRSE BEE  TONE RERSE% BB ETRE ERRSE
HKS'000 % HKSOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO0 HKSOW0 %o HKSO00  HKSO00  HK$O00  HKS'O00
TER % TER TER TER TR TiEn % TEn TR TR i
Loan from Ultimate Holding  RESEFRAT 2 B3
Company 07460 148% 107460 107460 = - 0750 W% 107510 107510 - -
Loan from Ultimate RE&EEAZER
Controlling Party 66,080 12% 66,080 66,080 - - 70477 12% 70477 70477 - -
Other borrowing, unsecured Ethfaz BER 11,186 - 11,186 11,186 - - 12,138 - 12,138 12,138 - -
Trade and other payables s%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%# ] 18319 - 18,319 18319 - - 73,798 - 73,798 73,798 - -
Bonds &% = = = = - - 9,999 7.0% 10441 10441 - -
Lease lablis i 15163 B% 6% 17 524 S WA I BB 1249 1155 504
Contract labiltes aHaf = = = = = - 27 - 27 27 - -
218,208 19982 214738 504 - %668 WY 2001155 504

>
z
z
c
>
=
-
A
=
o]
Pl
=
N
f=}
N
N
I
4
I
I
i
i
#




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WIS ERRME

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. SMIA(E)
(2) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 2 THREREEBEEERBEKE)
(f)  Oil and gas price risk ) HREREEE

BEXFEEZEBT AN K
SEZEBRHCAEE AT R

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above, the
Group's activities expose it to market risk relating to oil and

gas price risk.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demands for
and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world prices of
crude oil and gas could adversely affect the Group’s financial
position. The Group has not used any derivative instruments
to hedge against potential price fluctuations of crude oil and
refined products. Management will consider hedging oil and
gas exposure should the need arise.

HRERERAE SRR o

AEERERBRRABBER -
’iiﬂiﬁiﬂa&%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@iﬁ

R R 2RO R R MK
Fﬁ?&% RO MR 2 ZERETR
TR E AN B Z SIS E K
TR E o REBIAKEREM
PTETAR - S Rh RERRE
mZEEEBRKE - HMAEREE
BEREEBLhRERRR -

(3) Fair value measurement (3) AF@EHE
(@) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial (@ UELEMHBEEHSZ L FEE

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement.

BFrEHHEERTHMEREZ
AFE
AEEHNSEREENEREE
TIAE 2R Z A FERE °
TREJNEHRAR - LEEY
BIRELRE1IRA FEFER
ETHATESRHIEN=EZ
B RSB EEANTER
ENAEBEMTAZAYE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
FE1R 28K 3R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T FE T
2022 —E-—F
Financial assets SREE
— Financial assets at FVTPL —RAFEFTAERZ
(note 23) SEEE(H7723) = 2,283 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERMIBEE)
(3) Fair value measurement (Continued) (3) AFEFEE)

(@) HUZEEBEMEELGEZ A FHEG

(@ Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EFXEEHEEREHERZ
basis (Continued) NFE(E)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E1R E24% ERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
2021 —E-—fF
Financial assets SREE
— Financial assets at FVTPL —RAFEFTAERZ
(note 23) SREE(K7223) 2,318 -

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there
were no transfers between instruments in Level 1 and Level
2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as
at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Information about Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of the current unlisted financial assets at FVTPL
(note 23(a)) was estimated by the directors of the Company
with reference to quoted the price provided by the financial
institution managing the funds.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The fair values of trade and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, other borrowing and trade and other payables
approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term
maturities of these assets and liabilities.

The carrying amounts of loan receivables which carry fixed
interest rates approximates their fair value.

The fair values of the liability component of convertible notes
and bonds are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

REBEE_Z-__FrR_FT_—
TZA=ZT—HLFE  B1HR
F2MRE T AW mERNNES
FEASEL c AEBZBKA
RAFESHzHBEERNZ
REARFETR B o

BHEFE 2R FEFEZEN

BREFABRNAELD
TREENAFEME23@) )
HARREEKSEEEEDH
TREBMEHOTEREGRE

it -

WHUBEE M EEHE R
EifBZHMEERTHMBERBZ A
FlE

Bo5 hEMEKFR - B kR
THER - RfOERRE S REAM
R IR 2 A FEEEREER
5 AREEERABZFER

SR

fEM & IR B E M RS - HER
EEEQHERE °

AmERREZAEN D REFZ
DA T IR E SHA A A BB A &
SRR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WIS ERRME

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 7. WERDERSE

(@) Revenue @@ Wi
The principal activities of the Group are CBM gas exploration REEZ T ZEBRNTEARLNE
and exploitation in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), (MR Dt FEERREAR - 2/
financial business, general trading, comprehensive healthcare and 2% —RES  BERAREREER
proprietary investment. H o

AREFERERH RN 2 WESHED

An analysis of the amount of revenue from each category of

principal activities during the year is set out below: Wz T -
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
(Restated)
(#E55)
CBM RER
— Sales of natural gas —RARIHE 349 -
Financial business TR
— Consultancy and referral income — B R A 697 15,817
— Brokerage commission income — LA A 1,597 2,981
— Interest income —FEHA 35 696
— Management fee income —ERBRA 283 26
Comprehensive healthcare BEARERE
— Sales of meltblown fabrics and related — SHE AN LA AR R RR 1B
equipment and raw material R 5,956 10,488
— Sales of mask products —OSEMEE 22,240 -
General trading —RES
— Sales of plastic components —ER BB E 13,590 -
44,747 30,008

Segment information

The Group manages its business by divisions, which are organised
by business lines, in a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management, who are also the executive directors
of the Company, for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessments. The Group has identified the following
five reportable segments.

K%@ﬁz’fﬂ DREEEERY  ZFD
BREBERNE S - p BT AERE
RABRREFEAAEE 2 ZHSTTH
EEAB(TARATNMTER) N2
BEMAA B - AEEDHRIATE
BRI 2HmNHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - — 41+ - A =+—HIFF/Z

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. WERSERSE(E)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEER(E)
- CBM - KRER

.

—  Financial business (i.e. securities brokerage, money lending,
consultancy, asset management and referral service)

—  Proprietary investment (i.e. securities trading)
- Comprehensive healthcare
- General trading

Discontinued operations

As disclosed in note 15, the operating results of Strong Way
International Limited (“Strong Way”) and GCINT Wealth
Management Limited (“GCINT WM”) were classified as a
discontinued operation on disposal/ceasation of business and were
excluded from the segment information in 2022.

For the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment, the directors of the Company
decided to make some reclassification among the remaining
business units, the comparative figures of segment information for
the year ended 31 December 2021 were restated accordingly.

(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources to segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible assets, and
current assets attributable to the segments with the exception
of other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade
and other payables attributable to the activities of the
individual segments and borrowings managed directly by the
segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by the segments
and the expenses incurred by the segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to the segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “segment
result”. Segment result includes the operating profit/
(loss) generated by the segment and finance costs directly
attributable to the segment, without allocation of head office
or corporate administration costs. Income tax is not allocated
to reportable segment.

- EEHBOIRSEL  HE B
M BEEEREBRY)

- BEREMBEHREER)
- BEXREE
- —RES

BRIF¥ET

WA ST HE - SREERERA
AE#DE2ERRVEERERD
A eEERTEER DEEEEER
BRI EBR D ERBIREE -
WA T - —FEWDEER -

RIELBEBERD IR RAFHHIR
E o ARRERREHR T EBELE
TEHNENE  BE-T-—F+_R
=T —RULEFENSBRERLEREFE
HHEES -

() DEFHE BEERERE
A D BRI BN D EE DR
BRME  AEBEZESTHE
BEABRBATERERSER
EBMOBEBEZIFE  BERE

& :

DREERENBELEZMESR
WEEREBVEEMRBEE
HEMAREERI - DBREE
BREREENSEEBZES R
His @A LAD BERER
ZABFK o

WEMFAXE2E D REE 21
EMAXRDBEREZEERE
SBEAEE A OEEEA
2HRNE -

/55 ERFIFTRA 22 8 R
BISERE] - HEEEREH
B 2 RTS8 - M
BAOBEBMIE 2 MEARA - A
SER P Ve LR S
AELAR - FEHTEHRE
A2 HALE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WIS ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F - —F+ =1 —HIFE

7.  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7.

(b) Segment information (Continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 December 2022

(i)

and 2021 are set out below:

Year ended 31 December 2022

Wi Ko BEE ()
b) DEERE)
() PEEM HERAMBMN)

Py —— g
ToAZ+—BLEFE  #ol
BREFAEDERAMRERTA
EERETHREEABZAEHE
A 2O FEERDT ¢

——fF

BE-B-—F+-H=+—0

LLFE
Industrial sector Financial sector
xR SRR
General Comprehensive Financial ~ Proprietary
trading CBM  healthcare business  investment Total
—RE5% RER BRARR SREH HERE &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$/000 HK$/000 HK$'000
TAT ThL TEL TEL TRL TAT
Recognised at a point in time R (AR SR 13,590 349 28,196 1,901 = 44036
Recognised over time PR FRER - - - 676 - 676
Recognised from other source BEMRRER - - - 35 - 35
Reportable segment revenue from ~ RENREF2A 2%
external customers PENE 13,590 349 28,196 2,612 - 44,747
Reportable segment results U2RDEXE (177) (92,790) (21,302) (11,329) 400 (125,198)
Amortisation of production sharing ~ ERARARZ &
contract - 4,294 - - - 4,294
Depreciation on property, plantand 9% + #ERFEZNE
equipment ) - 10473 2,478 67 - 13,018
Depreciation on right-of-use assets ~ #FHEAEZHE - - - 565 - 565
Provision of impaiment loss under ECL EfEF11E 2 BEES
model on other receivables, netof  EEEAE MREEEA
reversal & - MBER - - - 738 - 738
Write-off of trade receivables s 2 SREIE - - 211 1,199 = 1,410
Impairment loss on production sharing  EGARA R 2 AEEE
contract - 32,464 - - - 32,464
Impairment loss on property, plantand 1% * #ERREZHE
equipment FR - 187 19,345 - - 19,532
Imputed interest on lease liabilites ~ EEBEZEETIS - - - 8 = 8
Gain on disposal of financial assets at  HERAT BT ABEZ
FVTPL SRAEHE - - - - (197) (197)
Netloss on revaluation of financial ~ E#ERATEFABEZ
assets at FVTPL SHEEZFBR - - 35 - - 35
Other income EAIA (10) @3 (74 (387) (250) (7124)
Write-off of property, plant and iEnE  RERRE
equipment - 38,468 - - - 38,468
Write-off of inventories HiEEs - - 113 - - 113
Reportable segment assets N2RAEEE 4,962 66,803 5,902 18,675 171 96,513
Additions to non-current segment  AEEFFBLBEEL
assets during the year RE - 4,341 27 1 - 4,369
Reportable segment liabilities I2HLEAE (240) (27,665) (7,455) (1,260) > (36,620)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. WERSE®RE(E)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEERGE)
(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (i) DEXE LEREEE)
Year ended 31 December 2021 (Restated) Hz—_Z2-_—F+=-A=+—H
LEFE(EE)
Industrial sector Financial sector
EXRA PR
Comprehensive Financial Proprietary

CBM healthcare business investment Total

RER  BEAER CRER BERE EH

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThER TR ThT TR

Recognised at a point in time R HHER - 10,488 18,399 - 28,887
Recognised over time ReR RIRERR - - 425 - 425
Recognised from other source B AR - - 696 - 696
Reportable segment revenue from external  RESREF 2 T 28

customers 2RUE - 10,488 19,520 - 30,008
Reportable segment results TERIERA (43,834) (692) 4,497 (946) (40,975)
Amortisation of production sharing contract  E&A AR 2 & 4,754 - - - 4,754
Depreciation on property, plant and nE BERRELE

equipment 9,873 2,306 04 - 12,243
Depreciation on right-of-use assets RAEEELHE - - 1,754 - 1,754
Gain on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE - BERTEZ

equipment Wz - - - (53) (53)
Gain on fair value change of convertible ~ T#EZE-REITAETE

notes - embedded derivatives 2 DTHERE e (34,383) - - - (34383)
Impairment loss on production sharing EnnfaR AERE

contract 5,342 - - - 5,342
Impairment loss on property, plant and NE  BERRBOANES

equipment B 1,670 - - - 1,670
Imputed interest on convertible notes THRREE 2 ([HEFE 48,388 - - - 48,388
Imputed interest on lease liabilities HEEEZEENE 20 - 128 - 148
IPO loan interest expenses ENDREEETN R - - 382 - 382
Loss on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL - HERATE: AE&Z

tREECEE - - 814 814

Net loss on revaluation of financial assets at - Zfa& AT B ABH 2

FVTPL SREEBRFE - 19 - - 19
Other income LSO (28) (18) (575) (28) (649)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment ~ #i$8¥1% + # 2Rk 141 - - - 141
Reportable segment assets TERNBEE 159,125 32,081 55,695 43,875 290,776
Additions to non-current segment assets ~ AEEFRBLEEEZ

during the year B 7,712 4,993 98 - 12,803
Reportable segment liabilities UERLEEE (31,398) (15,132) (30,772) - (77,302)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WIS ERRME

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. WBEBRDEHREE)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEER(E)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or (i) TEFFEWz - EFLES -
loss, assets and liabilities BEREBEZHEK
2022 2021
—E-CF —E- 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(Restated)
(#=51))
Revenue &=
Reportable segment and consolidated 2w LEa e
revenue 44,747 30,008
Profit or loss B%*UEEE? B
Reportable segment results EWm/EERE (125,198) (40,975)
Other income ﬁﬁﬂ”ﬂl}\ 3,159 6,790
Other gains and losses Hfblhes & E51E 1,056 7,235
Unallocated head office and corporate ROTLAEMEE R ¥
expenses (37,123) (37,224)
Consolidated loss before tax R IER =Y E (158,106) (64,174)
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets A 2o tEEE 96,513 290,776
8 Assets of discontinued operations ERIEEBEE 550 3,909
= Unallocated head office and corporate AT ER R PHEEE
% assets 27,320 71,547
o
g Consolidated total assets FaAEME 124,383 366,232
z Liabilities EF
g Reportable segment liabilities EWHFEAE 36,620 77,302
& Liabilities of discontinued operations E%@Jﬁ%ﬁ%ZE\E 748 25,126
z Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEAE 8,486 15,728
& Tax payables eI 5,332 5,491
% Unallocated head office and corporate RofemERRP¥EE
z liabilities 199,553 217,833
- Consolidated total liabilities e aREeERE 250,739 341,480
o
2
&
£
=
pe

162

o



\

=\ :
INNEIS==

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

=PIV IIINS/SES =
A‘.nﬂ/p%//////////,,,/ N \A/ VWIS

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. WBEBRDEHREE)
(b) Segment information (Continued) b) DEERE)
(iii) Geographical information (i) HEEZEH
In presenting geographical information, revenue is based on 275 [@ B R - WS TR ESN
the geographical location of the external customers. Specified KRB ZHIBANERY - HFEIE
non-current assets, which comprise property, plant and RHEE(BREME  HBENE
equipment, intangible assets, right-of-use assets and financial B BYEE FRAEEEAR
assets at FVTPL, are based on the geographical location of BATEFABZZEMEE)
assets. RIBEEMEHET
Hong Kong PRC Total
"t FE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T FE T
2022 —E-
Revenue g 25 35,314 9,433 44,747
Specified non-current assets BEERBEE 10,206 63,576 73,782
Hong Kong PRC Total
BB s #aEt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
2021 (Restated) —T - —F(RE)
Revenue Wz 13,156 16,852 30,008
Specified non-current assets BEIERDEE 33,351 179,575 212,926
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. WERDERE(E)
(b) Segment information (Continued) b) DEERE)
(iv) Information about major customers (ivy BEEEEZEFZEZH
Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to DAMEREE K 10% A F 2
10% or more of the Group’s revenue, is set out below: ETREFPKSEHSIT -
2022 2021
—EBC-CF —E-—F
Revenue Revenue
Wz g
Percentage Percentage
HK$’000 of revenue HK$'000 of revenue
FERT WaESL FHET Wmask
Customer A’ PR 8,000 17.32% - -
Customer B? B2 4,781 10.35% - -
Customer C? TP - - 7,187 19.46%
Customer D* EETH N/ATER  N/ATER 5,338 14.45%
Customer E* BRI N/ATNER  N/ATER 4,770 12.92%
! Revenue from sale of mask products in comprehensive healthcare ! HEBBRARREBZOZEEMR
business. ZWas o
2 Revenue from sale of plastic components in general trading. 2 —RRE P2 R S I Es o
s Consultancy and referral income in financial business. The ’ SRMEBOFAREBEA - B
corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of total ZECCF - EEREG G
revenue of the Group in 2022. FEEBIEE10%A E »
‘ Revenue from sale of meltblown fabrics and related equipment 4 HEBBRANREEL ZBEMIA
and raw material in comprehensive healthcare business. The RAAERER RN 2 RS - B
corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of total “ECCF HREKRELEGAR
revenue of the Group in 2022. EEBWERT10%A £ ©
Save and except for the above, no other single customers frbaiEN R ZFR
contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue for both To—F BEHEME-FFG
2022 and 2021. AR B ES10%3A L -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HftbgA

2022 2021

—E- 8 —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET TET

(Restated)

(#E55)

Bank interest income RITHLEMA 8 10

Dividend income NI PN 17 28

Interest income from time deposit TEEIFRZ FBHA 255 -

Interest income from fund E& 2 FBHEA 233 -

Interest income from refundable rental deposit ARBEMRER S 2 FBUWA 427 936

Sundry income FETAWA 257 46

Rental income el A 1,562 3,125

Rent concession HE TR 180 -

Management fee income EREWA 330 660

Government subsidy (note (i) BT HEL (e ) 614 -

Referral income HEREWA = 2,634

3,883 7,439

Note: Kz -
() The government subsidies of HK$614,000 were granted from the 2022 () MIFTZF  ERBUTHE614,0008TTHKE
Employment Support Scheme and Subsidy Scheme of the Securities Industry BARHTRERGZHEREERET 2=
under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the Government of the Hong Kong Special T oFI R BIRE S XA E -

Administrative Region in 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - —4 1+ _-H=+—HIFF/F
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9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HrhmRER
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
(Restated)
(#E55)
Gain on fair value change of convertible notes - A[#RZEE - AE/TAETAZ
embedded derivatives NPEEB 2 W - 34,383
Gain (loss) on disposal of financial assets at HERAFEFABEZEHE
FVTPL E 2z W (E8) 197 (814)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment &Y% - #es K82 W = 53
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE RN B R Rz e 18,203 -
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain B H, (&5 18 ) Was F 88 (2,359) 7,559
Net loss on revaluation of financial assets at BERAHEAABS Z2BE
FVTPL EZBEFE (35) (19)
Loss on derecognition of a subsidiary BB AR EE = (16)
Write-off of trade receivables ii8H & 2 ped kIR (1,410) -
Write-off of inventories WEEs (113) -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEERERE (10,116) -
Impairment loss on goodwill R ERERE = (308)
4,367 40,838
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BERA
A 2022 2021
g B T4
= HK$/000 HK$'000
2 THET FHET
) (Restated)
g (#8%571])
2
% Imputed interest on bonds BEHZHEF R 441 703
% Imputed interest on convertible notes AIHARR SRR 2 R E LS = 48,388
2 Imputed interest on lease liabilities HEABZHENS 2,964 4,287
g Interest on borrowings ERZHE = 65
z Interest on IPO financing BRARBEREZFR - 382
:
é 3,405 53,825
Z
2
g
I3
&
&
=
e
]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 11. BREAIER
Loss before tax from continuing operations is arrived at after charging REFBLEE CRBAIE BT ER
(crediting): (FFA)A TS IERS -
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET
(Restated)
(#E55)
(@) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (a) ETHAKN(BEESEHE)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHMET 24,929 25,273
Contributions to defined contribution AERFERIRET B2 3K
retirement plans 1,372 1,271
Total staff costs B IR E%E 26,301 26,544
(b) Other items (b) EHAtEE
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN S
— Audit services — B2 750 750
— Non-audit services — BRI 100 100
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses RABFAZ 2 FEKTR 40,399 9,559
Depreciation of property, plant and M WERRBZITE
equipment 15,454 14,679
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRREEZITE 9,919 11,622
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - WRRRBZ
equipment Yeas = (53)
Lease payments for short-term lease not WA AHEAETEF
included in the measurement of lease ZREHEE 2 HERNR
liabilities 1,398 793
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

2 -EF -

Ft—A=+—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

(@)

12. EERITHAZHE

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@ EERITHEEMS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments disclosed pursuant to RIEEE R BROIZE383(1) KRR A A
section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part (REEENHER)ROIE2E D W E
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of ZERERITRAZME0T
Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2022 —2-F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
2= 3\
e REYAE WA HE 8 #st
HK$/000 HK$/000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Executive directors HTES
Pan Jibiao (Chairman and BER(EERITEHAET)
Chief Executive Officer) (IR -F-—F
(resigned with effect from =A%)
14 November 2022) = 628 = 17 645
Shao Yanxia Ll
(resigned with effect from (BAR-F-=%F
17 January 2023) —A+EAER) = 1,354 = 18 1,372
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Lai Kin Keung g 240 = = = 240
Yeung Chi Wai BEHE
(resigned with effect from (BAR-F-=%F
22 March 2023) ZAZFZHEM) 240 - - - 240
Wong Man Hung, Patrick T 240 - - - 240
720 1,982 - 35 2,737
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e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS 12. EERTHATMES(EZ)

(Continued)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) @ %$§i‘ﬁ' BREME(E)
2021 —TF
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
oo 28 BRI
e REWNR BB HEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THET TAT THT TAL
Executive directors HTES
Pan Jibiao (Chairman and BER(FERTHAE)
Chief Executive Officer) - 720 - 18 738
Shao Yanxia AR E - 1,110 - 18 1,128
Non-Executive director FHUTES
Shiu Shu Ming E it
(resigned with effective from (BHR-F=—%F
1 October 2021) TH—A%3) 270 - - - 270
Independent non-executive directors B FHTES
Lai Kin Keung Rze 240 - - - 240
Yeung Chi Wai BEE 240 - - - 240
Wong Man Hung, Patrick E
(appointed on 1 April 2021) (R=F-—FMA—H
BZfT) 180 - - - 180
Chan Yim Por Bonnie BRAR
(resigned with effective from (BHR-F=—%F
1 April 2021) BH—HER) 25 - - - 25
955 1,830 - 36 2,821
Notes: Bit
(i) None of the directors or chief executive waived any emoluments during (i) E_@%i?::‘?::i&:%:f%-f—:ﬁ!
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. =+-HIEFE  BREFRITHAR
HEEEHE -
(i) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their (i)  EIHTEBMEERMTREREE >
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company :i{?::%&:%ﬁ:_iﬂL; =T Z
and the Group during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. {i%%ﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁl&$%ﬁfi$%ﬁﬁ S
-
(iii)  The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were (i)  FIPEHVIEHITEEME X R THS ‘;3
mainly for their services as directors of the Company during the years RBE-F-—FR-_F-_—5F+—A o
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. =+ —HIFERITAARNEE 2B - S
(iv)  The chief executive’s emoluments shown above were mainly for his vy ESITTERABEING X BRA T RARNEE— L:j]
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company T —ER-F_—F+-_A=+—H [
and the Group during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. %$§ﬁ¢ﬁi N AR EBEE ETS i
. Bl
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

Directors’ retirement benefits
Except for those disclosed above, none of the directors received or
will receive any retirement benefits during the year (2021: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company did
not pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporates and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there are no loan,
quasi-loan and other dealing arrangement in favour of the
directors, or controlled body corporates and connected entities of
such directors (2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

Save as those disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions/Continuing Connected Transactions” of the
Report of the Directors of this annual report and “Related Party
Transactions” in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements,
no significant transaction, arrangement and contract in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year (2021: Nil).

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

12. EERTBARME(E)

EERHNER
B EXFrRBEESN RAFE - HEE
£ 0 WA B R KB A (= F
ZF ) e

ESRIEZREER
RAEE - BHEE SO EE R EE
AR IERERMN( T ——F : &) -

RENEEREMBAE=SZAHR
B
REBEE-Z-_—_F+-A=1+—ALF
g RNARIEERERESRE AT
ME=ZAIARE(ZZE=Z—F : &) -

FRNES  XESEHNEERE
HEERARBANEN EERRH
R 5 HER

REBE-T-__F+-A=+—HLEF

B MEAEE - x%%?ﬂ%fl&
FEERAXEANER  EEFRHH
WRGLEH(ZEZ—F &) o

BEENXS  ZHHEHNF2ERE
&

BAFREFRMEMERD, K
ER 5 | — 8 MR A MR E38
(BER S IFRBEES  XEREBAR
AEBMARBNER/EFR—TTAARHA
EENETERIREAEEAEGR
AR SN AN AL B AR R
EXRH  BHRAN(ZT=—F:
) o

o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

13. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 13. REFHFMAL

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included REEREBRUSSHMALHE —(E
one director (2021: one director), details of whose emoluments are set B(ZEZ—F: —NESB)  FEZHFHRN

out in note 12 above. The emoluments of the remaining four individuals X2 c AT (5

(2021: four individuals) are as follows: POz ) A2 FrBfan T -

2022 2021

—E-=F T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind e R REMEYRR 5,607 5,512

Discretionary bonuses EYIBIEAL - 20

Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIBER 90 84

5,697 5,616

Number of individuals

AE
2022 2021
B B4
Emoluments bands HNEE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L 22,000,000/ 7T 1 -
4 4
There was no arrangement under which any of these individuals REBE-_Z-__FR-_FT_—F+-H1
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 =t—HIEFE - BEEZEALHRESL
December 2022 and 2021, AR RTINS 2 %5k -
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14. INCOME TAX 14. FiEH
(@ Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (@ RiFeBEmmET ZMENIE:
represents:
2022 2021
—B-—fF —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
(Restated)
(&E751)
Current tax AREAR IR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRI PRI 76 142
Hong Kong Profits Tax EEMNEH = -
76 142
Deferred tax IRFETH IR
Current year RER (5,945) (2,524)
Income tax credit from continuing RAFECEEB 2 MEHER
operations (5,869) (2,382)
Income tax credit from discontinued REBRILER 2 FIEHER
operations (2) (1)
(5,871) (2,383)
(i) ~ Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong, (i) REFBFNFSHWASG  &EHB
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity & H & 2 & 2,000,000 7T 2 4
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will 12 8.25% 0 K F - i@
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying 2,000,00078 7T i 7 #1216.5%
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to TR GH o AT NS TR AR S
be taxed at the rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong BERzEEER 26N SEER
profits tax has been made as the Group has no assessable 16.5%8] — M @M - AR ALE
profit derived from Hong Kong during the years ended 31 EREE_T__FR_FT_—
December 2022 and 2021. FT-A=+—RLEEIER

BEBZERBUEH - B EET
REANEH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

/
i
\

14. INCOME TAX (Continued) 14. FABHL(E)

@@ (Continued) @ (&)
(i)  The Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Canada (i) XRAFBzEEZENBARME

Can-Elite Energy Limited (“Can-Elite”), incorporated under
the laws of British Columbia, Canada, is subject to Income
Tax Act (Canada) at a rate of 28% (2021: 28%).

Pursuant to the tax treaty agreement between the PRC
government and the government of Canada for the avoidance
of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with
respect to taxes on income, tax payable in the PRC on profits,
income or gains arising in the PRC shall be deducted from
any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income
or gains. No provision for Canadian tax has been made as
the Group has no assessable profits under the Canada tax act
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to PRC Enterprise
Income Tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%).

REERRERRA ([ HFEEE
IR 1) TyIR AR AN S K 58 S fw tL 35
BEREMKIL 2 AE - AEST
MERFIEBEZ28% 2 HE (=
T 28%) BUNFRIS DL

AR 35 B BT B NS KT 2
FLEWA BB BB L AR
e EEHE R ILERT 2R
BB - NP RERRSHE
ZmF o WA Sk Uk S T RS 2
TIE - AT NS REE L
A U A sk U 25 A B 2 R
TMIEPHR - BRAEBRER
T ZFRZF—F+ZA
—t+—BUEFEREMEXF X
WA ERTR T - MO AR
ERMIE -

PP EZHEATBREPHED
EFRBHRMR%( T —F
25%) #9F °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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14. INCOME TAX (Continued) 14. FifEH(4E)
(b) Income tax credit for the years can be reconciled to the loss before (b) FEMSHERATEEAERBRAZ
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: BRELAIEIRERRNT ¢
2022 2021
= T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
(Restated)
(& 55)
Loss before tax from continuing operations REFEREEE 2 BB ATEE (158,106) (64,174)
Loss before tax from discontinued operations 2R B B 4% | E %75 2 BRI RIE 1 (3,932) (638)
(162,038) (64,812)
Notional tax on loss before tax, calculated MRAAIEIE 2 ENIE - REH
at the rates applicable in the jurisdictions AERER AN EAE
concerned (42,309) (12,734)
Tax effect of income not taxable of BARBA 2 B2
tax purpose (326) (5,803)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax — “NA] $0FE RIS 2 Bl i 7 2
purpose 22,747 12,677
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences KR A] F1E BF ZZ 78 2 B 7%
not recognised ga 23 216
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERM SRR R 2 14,088 3,691
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B) A S AT AR AR ZTRIEJEETE
recognised (94) (430)
a Income tax credit FSHiER (5,871) (2,383)
5
% Income tax credit from continuing operations R B &AL & %75 2 SRR (5,869) (2,382)
5]
]
z Income tax credit from discontinued KEBRIEEBZ FAEHHER
:9' operations (2) (M
g (c) Current tax liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial () MNEFEAMBRRRZNPHRIAEER
E position represents:
z
=) 2022 2021
g —EB-=fF T
é HK$’000 HK$’000
g FHET FET
g
% PRC Enterprise Income Tax Bl SRS 4,251 4,400
Hong Kong Profits Tax EENEN 1,081 1,091
=
P
& 5,332 5,491
£

174
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14. INCOME TAX (Continued)

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

14.

(d) The components of deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as

(e)

Fris®i (&)

(d) REEMBRARERZELEHE(E
E)BERD  UREREE—_ZT_—
ER-_E_—F+_A=+—HIFE

follows: ZEhIN -
Fair value
adjustments
on PSC
arising from Accelerated
the business tax
combination depreciation Total
E3 N EIE
HERARE
Gl EHE
ATERE wE @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEL TAT FAET
At 1 January 2021 R-B-—%—F—H 17,684 7 17,691
Credit to consolidated statement of profitor loss ~ RERABERER P AM i 14()

(note 14(a)) (2,525) - (2,525)
Exchange adjustment [ X % 562 - 562
At 31 December 2021 R-B-—FE+-F=+-A 15,721 7 15,728
Credit to consolidated statement of REFEBRERTTA

profit or loss (note 14(a)) (Hizt14() (5,945) 2) (5,947)
Exchange adjustment [ 5 % (1,295) - (1,295)
At 31 December 2022 WZZ-_—F+-A=+—H 8,481 5 8,486

Deferred tax assets not recognised

Deferred tax assets of the Group amounting to HK$32,124,000
(2021: HK$25,831,000), arising from unused tax losses have not
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements due to
the uncertainty as to their future utilisation. The unused tax losses

have no expiry date.

() RERELEHEBEEE
REE ZIRLERIEE E A32,124,0008
JTL(=Z = —% :25,831,000/87C) °
TERERTERKRRSETEA - A
KRBTGS VIERER TP ERRB AR
BIEMES - KRB AMKEBILETIH
E| °
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15.
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 6 December 2022, the Company announced the decision to cease
business operation of GCINT WM, which is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and is a licensed insurance broker under the
10 to conduct general and long-term business (including linked long-
term business) related regulated activities. GCINT WM will comply with
all applicable laws, rules and regulations in respect of the cessation and
request for revocation of the licenses for the regulated activities under
the 10. As a result, as at 31 December 2022, GCINT WM was classified
as a discontinued operation. With the GCINT WM being classified as a
discontinued operation, the wealth management segment is no longer
included in the note for operating segment information.

On 31 December 2022, the Group completed disposal of its indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary, Strong Way, which was mainly engaged
in sale of electronic components. As a result, as at 31 December 2022,
Strong Way was classified as a discontinued operation. The disposal is
consistent with the Group’s long-term policy to focus its activities on
operation of other businesses. The electronic components segment is no
longer in the note for operating segment information.

15. BRIEEK

RZZBEZZF+=AH  AREEMLEIE
KRlfEEENB AT EEENEER
ZEBKEE  SEHEEVEEEARBER
BT 2B RERSL - TETE-—RER
HMEB(RIEEERPER) B2 ZHEE
B ARV EERBETERBRERE
KRR EGNTZRE FER B
WAERE - RRIRAEN - Bt - RZF==
F+-A=1+—H 2EBEERMEEERS
HADKRIEEY HMESCEHBRUEEEW
DEADKILER  VEEENETHBE
D ERMFER -

R_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 FEEZK
HEREMEIZENBARIEH X BH
FEFTTHHE Bt RZZT_=F+=
A=+—H E#WSEACKLEER - O
EREAEEMBEEHETRNEMEREL
HMREEE - ETTUHSECTBRALE
AR

The results of the discontinued operations are as follows: BRIEEB 2 FENT
2022 2021
—E-C—fF ZE—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHET
Revenue WS 1,449 6,923
Cost of sales THEMK R (935) (2,360)
Gross profit EF 514 4,563
Other income HAUA 51 8
Other gains or losses, net H it Woes 58550 6 (16)
Administrative expenses TR (4,492) (5,180)
Finance costs BEKAK (11) (13)
Loss before tax from discontinued operations BRI 2 R AR (3,932) (638)
Income tax credit FiS iR 2 1
Loss for the year from discontinued operations BRI FEER (3,930) (637)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 15. BRIEEK(E)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations include the following: ERIEEB 2 FEBEBEATERIA -
(@) Staff costs (including director’s emoluments) (@ EIFRS(BIFEEERME)
2022 2021
—E-=F —TBo—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 2,453 4,192
Contribution to defined contribution R ERFERIRET S 2 3k
retirements plans 71 158
Total staff costs 8 TR A a%E 2,524 4,350
(b) Other items (b) HAttEE
2022 2021
—EB-—fF —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses &2 &5 X 7 ERA 821 1,149
Depreciation of property, plant and M - HBERREBINE
equipment 11 11
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 120 230
Write-off of property, plant and equipment #3512 - Bz Mi& - 25
16. DIVIDEND 16. RS
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year 2022, nor has any R-T - - FWERNEEZRMNRS
dividend been proposed since the end of reporting period (2021: Nil). A2 HAREIEEDEHEARE(ZE
)
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17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BRER
(a) Basic loss per share (@ BREXEE
Calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of the RARER NEIEFRERBIETIRE
Company is based on the following data: THIBURETE -
2022 2021
—Eo—F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
(Restated)
(&E751)
Loss for calculation of basic loss per share  FFESREREIE ZEIE
Loss for the year attributable to owners of REFERRNEHEE AEGER
the Company
From continuing operations REFFELE TS (152,201) (61,802)
From discontinued operations REERIEER (3,558) (158)
(155,759) (61,960)
2022 2021
—Eo—fF —T—F
Number of shares RDER
Number of ordinary shares/Weighted average @M E Bt E G EKEE
number of ordinary shares for the purpose 2 AR e T 8
of basic loss per share 4,454,196,695 1,669,822,168
(b) Diluted loss per share (b)) BREHER
No diluted earnings per share for 2022 was presented as there AR —F - _FUEBEHETELEER
were no potential ordinary shares in issue for 2022 (2021: No % At WEZHN —_T - —F 78k
adjustment was made in calculating diluted loss per share for the BEAN (T _—F  FEBEE-F
year ended 31 December 2021 as the conversion of convertible ZHt+tZ ATt RULFREZEEH#E
notes would result in decrease in loss per share. Accordingly, the SEEMER IR R - B RATRAL
diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share.). ERBEREREERD - ALt - B

BEBRESRENEEMER - ) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y3 - HEBERFRE

Construction Plant and Furniture Motor Leasehold
in progress equipment and fixtures vehicles  improvements Total
HEIR  HERRE  GAREE BE  HENERE @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL FAL TAL TAL
Cost KA
At 1 January 2021 RZZ-_—5-A-H 47,199 122,615 2,977 5,185 8,500 186,476
Exchange adjustment i % 1,196 4,632 41 70 - 5,939
Additions AE 7,639 5,054 285 - - 12,978
Transfer 25 (27,334) 27,334 - - - -
Impairment WA (1,670) - - - - (1,670)
Write-off s - (322) (538) - - (860)
Disposals e - - - (532) - (532)
At 31 December 2021 and WZE--%+-f=1-H
1 January 2022 RS- fF-F- 27,030 159,313 2,765 4,723 8,500 202,331
Exchange adjustment A% (1,650) (10292) (79) (173) - (12,194)
Additions NE 4,340 - 34 - - 4,374
Transfer & (1,445) 1,445 - - - -
Impairment BfE (187) (23,771) (305) - - (24,263)
Write-off i (19,232) (52,614) (16) - - (71,862)
At31 December 2022 \ZEZZETZA=T-R 8,856 74,081 2,399 4,550 8,500 98,386
Accumulated depreciation ZHHERAE
and impairment
At1 January 2021 s R - 71,042 1,650 3,496 1,170 77,358
Exchange adjustment S - 2,553 2 39 - 2,614
Write-off s - (209) (485) - - (694)
Charge for the year EELi - 11,861 397 338 2,094 14,690
Disposals HE - - - (532) - (532)
At 31 December 2021 and WZE-—%+-fA=1-H
1 January 2022 RS- —fF-F- - 85,247 1,584 3,341 3,264 93,436
Exchange adjustment i AE - (5,927) (40) (107) - (6,074)
Impairment HfE - (4,513) (218) - - (4731)
Write-off i - (33,379) (15) - - (33,394)
Charge for the year EExi - 12,649 391 331 2,094 15,465
At31 December 2022 RZE-ZETZA=t—H - 54,077 1,702 3,565 5,358 64,702
Carrying amounts REE
At31 December 2022 R-B-ZETZA=t—H 8,856 20,004 697 985 3,142 33,684
At31 December 2021 R-E-—F+-f=+-F 27,030 74,066 1,181 1,362 5236 108,895
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18.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, impairment loss of
approximately HK$19,345,000 (2021: Nil) related to comprehensive
healthcare business has been recognised in profit or loss.

Pursuant to the Sixth Modification Agreement mentioned in note 20,
Can-Elite and China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Limited
(“China United”) agreed to release the obligations and liabilities of
Can-Elite in Area B under PSC after all necessary arrangements have
been performed and accepted by China United at no consideration.
Therefore, the Group has written off approximately HK$37,645,000
through profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Besides, there are further HK$823,000 (2021: HK$141,000) related
to CBM business has been written off and recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the directors conducted a
review of the Group’s construction in progress and plant and equipment
during the year. The recoverable amounts of construction in progress
are lower than the carrying amounts as at 31 December 2022 which
is carried at valuation based on both cost approach and market
approach carried out by an independent qualified valuer, Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited. Market Approach considers the price recently paid
for similar assets, with adjustment made to the indicated market price
to reflect condition and utility of the assets valued relative to the market
comparative and cost approach generally furnishes the most reliable
indication of value of assets without a known used market comparable,
both approaches must be considered as one or more approaches may
be applicable to value the subject assets. In some situations, elements of
both approaches may be combined to reach an opinion of value.

Accordingly, impairment losses of approximately HK$187,000 (2021:
HK$1,670,000) related to CBM business has been recognised in profit
or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022.

None of property, plant and equipment was pledged as security for
borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

18. W% - WESRRE(E)

HE_Z-_—_F+-A=+t—HLEFE &
BB KRR SRR EE184919,345,000
BT ZEZ—F - BN IERER -

RIEMI 20T I B B 7RG 7T e » TEEEAE
BERAEHEERERETAB(HREHREE
ERITMABVERHRPEZENE - BER
ERRBR IR B RE IR E D KA R 1A B AY
EBREF B BEZTZZ_F+=A
=+ —ALFE  AEBCFEBBRMIELY
37,645,000/ 7T °

Hitt - K ERERER SI823,000%8 T
(ZFE=—4% : 141,000E8T) CREBE-Z
T oHE+ - A=+ H I EENERE A
LR -

HE-Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE &
ERFREAREE Z EETRIARMEEE R
BETEE R E-_—_F+-_A=+—
B ERIRZAkESEERERAE
MmEEEIRBEY & ERGEMRETEE
PR A B LABK ASE R T 35 0A AT i 2 (4 {E 5
BEe-MBEER T RBEUEBESNZE
% WHEIETTEEL THEE - URBIEY
RIS RGE 2 EEMK I RAA - ME
WECHN-FHEAELEBEE 2BRT
RAEBEREGIEZEEEBEETR MW
BRI ERG A B ZEAEANY
EMEEETHEZTE EETEBRT
AEMER L ZRAES - WEREE
ZR -

At - EREE-—ZE-——F+-A=+—H
IEFEZBETRRAEHEEREFNRE
E51E£9187,0008 L(ZF=—% 1,670,000
PEIT) °

RZEZZFR-_E-_—F+_RA=+—
H - BEME - e BB EARNEBER
fEsRZ 3 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EAREE
Leased
properties
for own use
EPERi=EsES
HK$’000
TFET
As at 31 December 2022 REBZZH+ZA=+—H
Carrying amount fREE 3,134
As at 31 December 2021 R—_ZE——F+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount frmEE 23,399
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E--HF+-A=+—HLHFE
Depreciation charge FEER (10,039)
Impairment loss REEE (10,116)
Exchange adjustments M 3, R (29)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-_Z-—F+-_A=+—HLFE
Depreciation charge TEER (11,852)
Exchange adjustments M 3,5 53
2022 2021
B —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Expense relating to short-term lease BRERHEEZFY 1,398 793
Total cash outflow for lease MEvRe R EsE 13,556 15,054
Additions to right-of-use assets ERREEZRE 157 282
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37) BE—FMBRR(HH37) (126) -
Early termination of lease contract REREERITHEEH (112) -
For both years, the Group lease various offices for its operation in Hong RREFE  AEBERESMPEAOERHE
Kong and the PRC. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms of 2 EETHAE - sl UMBHEAHNAETFH
years to 4 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and 2EEAF o FHENEFIVREERIE R 1% 7 m
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining T HABESKBARMIER LG o« g ’%’
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, EREHR MR BUSERE - AE® S
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period KB TAYONEENIET T AHR R EIT =
for which the contract is enforceable. A ERBR o g
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BILEE
Trading
PSC right Total
EmDRER S wat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T THETT TETT
Cost R
At 1 January 2021 R —F—H—H 3,919,239 1,000 3,920,239
Exchange adjustment M 34, F 129,647 - 129,647
At 31 December 2021 and RZZE——F+=-A=+—8K
1 January 2022 —T-—#—H—H 4,048,886 1,000 4,049,886
Exchange adjustment [E 5 A% (317,543) - (317,543)
At 31 December 2022 N-E-—F+=-_A=1+—H 3,731,343 1,000 3,732,343
Accumulated amortisation and B RRE
impairment
At 1 January 2021 R-ZZT-_—%—H—H 3,835,273 - 3,835,273
Charge for the year FEXH 4,754 - 4,754
Impairment loss B R 5,342 - 5,342
Exchange adjustment PEE 34 R 28 126,957 - 126,957
At 31 December 2021 and RZZE=—_—F+=-A=+—8K
1 January 2022 —T-—#—H—H 3,972,326 - 3,972,326
Charge for the year FEXH 4,294 - 4,294
Impairment loss REEE 32,464 - 32,464
Exchange adjustment P&+ A% (311,662) - (311,662)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—#+-A=+—8H 3,697,422 - 3,697,422
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2022 N-EBE-—F#+=-A=+—H 33,921 1,000 34,921
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—4F+-A=+—H 76,560 1,000 77,560
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 20. BIEEE(Z)

2022 2021
—E-F - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FABT
Analysed for reporting purpose as: SEHRME TR
Non-current asset EMENEE 33,921 77,560
Current asset mEEE 1,000 -
Total st 34,921 77,560
Notes: Bz -
(@  Through the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Merit First Investments Limited (@ BBER-_TENFT AT RBREELER

on 26 November 2008, the Group has obtained the interest in a CBM PSC which
was entered into between Can-Elite and China United on 8 November 2007.
The interests of China United and Can-Elite under the PSC are in the proportion
of 30% and 70% respectively, or in proportion to their participating interests in
the development costs.

On 21 March 2008, the PSC was approved by the Ministry of Commerce of
the PRC in respect of (i) the execution and implementation of the PSC; (ii) the
terms of the PSC; and (iii) 70:30 profit sharing ratio between Can-Elite and China
United. Beijing Z&D Law Firm, the legal adviser of the Company as to the PRC
laws at that time, advised that China United and Can-Elite had obtained all
relevant approvals in relation to the execution and implementation of the PSC.

Can-Elite and China United entered into five modification agreements including
but not limited to the amendments of contracted area, the number of wells to be
drilled by Can-Elite and extension of exploration period on 18 February 2009,
29 August 2013, 23 December 2015, 21 August 2017 and 10 August 2020
(the “Fifth Modification Agreement”). All other terms of the PSC shall remain
unchanged.

Pursuant to the Fifth Modification Agreement, the exploration period applied
to Area A (part of Luling Block with an area of 23.686 square kilometres that
has its proven reserves submitted) (“Area A”) shall begin from the date of
commencement of the implementation of the contract, to the date of filing to
the relevant authorities under the PRC government for the overall development
program (“ODP”). Further, the exploration period of Area B (primary part of
Su’nan Block with an area of 401.942 square kilometres, with the proven reserve
yet to be submitted) (“Area B”) has been extended for two more years, from
the original expiry date (being 31 March 2020) to 31 March 2022. During the
extended exploration period, at least 17 wells are required to be completed in
Area B with the performance of relevant exploration works such as fracturing,
drainage and extraction. In order to complete the above exploration works,
Can-Elite is required to utilise at a minimum of RMB35,000,000 equivalent in

EERARZ 2R REEDIGEERE
RERBEA-—ZTLE+—ANRTLZRE
REMDKRARZER - HH#REEEIRRN
EmD KA FF AT a5 5 830% K&
70% @ RIWEE BRFEKARG 2 S B
ety -

RZTT)\F=A=+—H ERSKARE
ROBTREHRERDKER : (VERDKE
B2 65K ¢ R(ii) BB g R B R B 2 70:305% 7
DEL R R BB LR KARE R
ZHEEZERIE R mREZMEBAEM
FEREEEREREIRERERDKER
ESFTAEREHL -

BREREARHN_ETAF_A+N\B =
T—=FN\A=+NAB - ZFE—HF+=A
—t+=B ZZ—tF/\AZ+—HEKZZEZ
TFENATB(ERXERBE]D IS ABE
AE - BIEETRAEITANE - RERER
G TFHEEZRHAYERERMELY - ERDK
ERZ A EMER MRS

BIRERRETHE - AR(BREAREN
EEERID  mEA23.686FFTAE)([A
& ) iEABEFEEERN A RRBIAITE BRs -
EERSBHEE S R((EBREIRAFTE
B ABIFIERMB AL - 1ho - BE (&
RRXEHHENEREREEZRS  BES
401902 F FRE)([BE ZHHERBELERS
ME > ARANEHE T -FF=F=+—
ARRE-ZZT--_F=ZA=+—H -RERZ
BIFEEAN - BRATE TR EHEAEL L0
H o WETERGREEEMRIEE - BT
B B ENRIESE - B RERFUBEILBED A
R ¥35,000,000 T EE/ZETT - fEREEHRL
SEREMRER -

| 2207 14OdId TVNNNY

US dollars towards Area B as the expected minimum exploration expenditure
amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - —4 1+ _-H=+—HIFF/F

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(Continued)

Pursuant to a modification agreement entered on 3 January 2023 (the “Sixth
Modification Agreement”), the exploration period of Area A has been further
extended to 31 March 2024. In order to complete the above exploration works
for preparation of the ODP, Can-Elite is required to utilise a minimum of
RMB8,000,000 equivalent in US dollars per year towards Area A as the expected
minimum exploration expenditure amount. On the same date, Can-Elite and
China United entered into the agreement and agreed to release the obligations
and liabilities of Can-Elite in Area B under the PSC at no consideration after all
necessary arrangements have been performed and accepted by China United.

The PSC provides a term of thirty consecutive years commencing on 1 April
2008, with a production period of not more than twenty consecutive years
commencing on a date determined by the joint management committee which
is set up by Can-Elite and China United, pursuant to the PSC, to oversee the
operations in the contract area.

Can-Elite and China United shall reimburse the costs incurred during the
development and production periods in the proportion of 70% and 30%
respectively, or in proportion to their participating interests of each CBM field.
Upon extraction of the CBM and liquid hydrocarbons, the CBM and liquid
hydrocarbons products shall be sold by China United and the proceeds will
be deposited into a joint bank account opened by Can-Elite and China United,
and the profits will be distributed between the parties in the proportion of
their participating interests in the development costs, or any other marketing
approaches and procedures to be agreed upon between Can-Elite and China
United.

For all assistance to be provided by China United, administrative fees in the sum
of US$30,000 and US$50,000 were payable by Can-Elite to China United during
the exploration period and the development and production period, respectively,
as agreed by Can-Elite and China United with reference to the administrative fees
payable by other foreign investors to China United in other production sharing
contracts. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the administrative fees
payable by Can-Elite are comparable to those payable by other foreign investors
to China United in other production sharing contracts.

The PSC is amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining contract terms of
15.9 years (2021: 16.9 years) of the PSC.

Impairment test

The recoverable amount of the PSC attributable to the Group has been
determined based on value-in-use calculations in accordance with HKAS 36.
The valuation was carried out by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent
firm of professional valuers not connected with the Group. For the purpose of
impairment testing, the carrying amount of intangible assets has been allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit.

e

20. BLEE(E)

Wit -

(@)

(&)
(#)

BE—NR T _=F— A=AV 2E:TH
#H([ERNRIEETHH]D - AROBIRSEE—
BERE-F-_MFE=—A=+—H - BT 5K
BRI ) R TR Ll BV ERIE S - B
RS FEHARLEEZE D AKRS,000,000
TEENET  (EAEBHORERENFE
- RB - BEERATHIIIHE - YRE
ERITAMBUERERPEEMNE  BERE
FRRR B BER N E MDA A FITE TBE R ZEH &
5T -

ERORERFHAE-_TTN\FNA AR
BE=TF AEHTEBEE_TF BR
BAEREPBRBEER D RERKILE EEE
RENEZEEZHAEREREGMEEZA
HRest -

W ELR R P B 1R 70% M 30% 2 LIl siiR
BRESANEREBRE 22 BIERIE LI
PRAEREERRNAEEZKAE o RIZEUE
BREREKLEADE  KERRRELLLE
MERGHTEEE - WEMERBETARSE
R R R 2 R IRITERE - BIREEH
RFIBE R AR PTG 2 IR L] - s EE R
FERIE 2 EtmIE AR FE S HF) -

RRBIRMZ B MM E - AR
K2EPBEARLMIINTIREEREMERD K
ARz ERTTIE R&ETRIE D BI85 2 A
Ko B I A 7 B BB AR IR S AN T AR B 2 AT I
% A /530,0003 7T &% 50,0005 7T © NARIEH
BB WEERERMN Z1THE B EE A INE R
BEREMER DK E RN P2 8 AE

e

H e

ERHPKERRBT15.9F (=T =—4F 1 16.9
F) 2 ERBRANE GERH -

HERE

AEERGEERARERZATNESERES
BEFERERIREMAERETE - AREE
Ty B SSEND £R B 2 B A AR
BT AR AT - sURERRT 5 - 8P
AEZEREC S REERReELEML -




»

/,/' 7

=\

"

= /NN
/ e N
A‘lll',l/'///////////////l/ )A \//.\\
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

\Z
i
!

ENE

4

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 20. BIEEE(Z)
Notes: (Continued) Bt (48)

(b)  Impairment test (Continued) (b  REARE)

For impairment assessment purposes, cash flow projections are prepared on the
following assumptions:

atEREN S - RERTBATIRETIIRR
(T

2022 2021

—EB-—F —E-—fF

Period of cash flow projections RemiaRERm 15.9 yearsF 16.9 years
Discount rate (pre-tax) WIRE(HiA0) 25.22% 23.64%

The calculation is based on the pre-tax cash flow projections of the financial
budgets approved by management, which have duly reflected risks specific to
the PSC, assuming that all key information provided by management, which
includes reserve quantity, feasibility of business plan, and exploitation method,
are appropriate and feasible. The cash flow projections are based on budget
sales, expected gross margins and expected capital expenditure determined
based on management’s experience and expectations of market developments in
the CBM industry in the PRC. The CBM reserve quantity used in the valuation of
the PSC as at 31 December 2022 is based on the reports, including the technical
reports issued by Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. on 2 March 2011 and
31 October 2008, the technical reports prepared by an integrated geoscience
and engineering consulting company on 23 March 2015 and the reserve
evaluation report prepared in respect of the reserves located in Luling Block,
being part of the contract area, which had been approved by the Office for Oil
and Gas Profession of the Mineral Resources and Reserves Assessment Centre
of the Ministry of Land and Resources of the PRC and was duly filed with the
Ministry of Land and Resources of the PRC on 4 June 2014 after the compliance
review. The completion of the approval and filing procedure signified that the
risk assessment stage of Luling Block in the contract area has come to an end,
and the PSC work will proceed to the design and development stage. Due to
the further delay in the implementation and the scale-down of the business plan
for the exploration and exploitation of the CBM and the continuous low level of
domestic natural gas price in the PRC, the carrying amount of the PSC exceeds
its estimated recoverable amount and an impairment loss of HK$32,464,000
(2021: HK$5,342,000) has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The trading rights are retained for stock trading and stockbroking activities
carried out by GCINT (HK) Limited (“GCINT (HK)”). The trading rights are
considered to have indefinite lives because they are expected to contribute to
the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not amortised. They will
be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

On 6 December 2022, the Company announced the decision to cease business
operation of GCINT (HK). The cessation will be completed within one year and
the trading right was reclassified to current portion.

ILIBFERA 2 BRBRTR R E TR TBIRE
BREIAEREERRERDKE REERR
ZHBBEANE  WEHREHEEERE S
BEZER(BERE - EBHTEATTHERRA
WHE)REBRAIT - BeRTERATEE i
£ BHENERREHEARSAREE mE
BEENERNREREZ B LEPRERE
RITEERTEHMETE - MEERHIKER
RIE-—F+-_A=+—RAZEBEFRED
CHRERBEHZNRESZHRESEL - 818
Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. A — &
——H=ZAZBARZZETN\E+A=F+—A%
B2 HEMHRE  ZHE—BEEHERERT
BEEATNR-Z-—RAF=ZAZT=HFEE
BT s AR & QR A 2 E A @ 4R 2
iR EE A+ ERBEEERFEEFEFR O
BRRAREERAERS L - LAPEE
TERBEANEERN T —NFANA
FEXFUBERZFETERS - TREHRE
REFZEANEAZEERBDLHERT AR
B - ATABE MR AT I PR R o RRE—
TR E e X MR R R RN R I B R AT B A R AP
BB ARARERFERNMEKT - ERDK
ARZEMESREGFATKESRE - HER
BE-_Z-_—"F+-_A=1+—RILtEEZHA
B R R R ER1E32,464,0008 T (= F
——1%F 1 5,342,000/ 7C) °

RHERBELEEKFER(FE)ERQF
(TEEEEESR DETHRREERRELRL
X5 AR EHAR SR ERPUAEEZ T
EREBFHEEHER  SHERGAAFERSE
B BXEHE ZEXSHEBEFRRES
FTREREM IR TRERR -

RIZB-_H+"ARA ARAEMELS
BERESFCEHEE - BRRLET 58

R—FERNZEK - MR HEDEH D EFIEEND

B -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F - —F+ =1 —HIFE

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the particulars of major subsidiaries of the

21. RMBARZRE

/
NN,

TREJIAEELIZMBRRZER - B3

Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. BEERIN A Z B8R EmAR -
Proportion of ownership interest
RERREDL Issued and
Place of Group's paid up capital/
incorporation/ effective Held by the Held by a registered  Principal
Name of the Company operation interest Company subsidiary capital activities
BRTR
AR, A&E AR2F —FEMEQHE BERE
NRAERH Fedgikls ERES bkl BE HMER  TEEK
Ace Elect Investments ~ Hong Kong 100% - 100% HK$1  Investment holding
Limited and provision
of consultancy
services
FREEBRLA Eit BT REERREHER
R
Alpha Guidance Hong Kong 100% - 100% HK$1  General trading
Limited
IBEERAT &k BT —KRES
Barraza Company Hong Kong 100% 100% - HK$2  Provision of
Limited secretarial services
Barraza Company B 28T REMERS
Limited
Canada Can-Elite Canada/PRC 100% - 100% CAD10,000 CBM gas exploration
Energy Limited and development
and exploitation
MEREERLR nEX/HE 10,000MEAT  #F - FER
BRAT FRRER
GCINT Comprehensive  Hong Kong 100% - 100%  HK$21,000,000  Sales of mask
Investment Limited products
(formerly known as
“GCINT Limited”)
(Al 2 BERES  BF 21,000,000/ AZERHFEE
BRAR])
GCINT (HK) Limited Hong Kong 100% - 100%  HK$43,000,000  Securities brokerage
cRERER(ER) BB 43,000,00087C  EHFALL
BRAT

o
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. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 21. RHBLARZIRE(E)

Proportion of ownership interest

REREEDL Issued and
Place of Group's paid up capital/
incorporation/ effective Held by the Held by a registered  Principal
Name of the Company  operation interest Company subsidiary capital  activities
ERTR
AV Fr&E ARR —FMELQH BRERE/
DREH B B ER BE okl HMER FTEXK
GCINT Asset Hong Kong 100% - 100% HK$6,500,000  Asset management
Management
Limited
SREREE B0 6,500,000 AEERE
ERBRAR
GCINT Wealth Hong Kong 100% - 100%  HK$5,800,000  Insurance brokerage
Management
Limited
S RERMEERE 0 5,800,000/87C  {REAEAR
BRAT
Giant Front Limited BVI 100% - 100% US$T  Investment holding
A AR A A EBERMRES 1T REER
Goal Reach Hong Kong 100% - 100% HK$1  Investment holding
Investments Limited
R EBRAF e BT REEKR
Magic Chance BVI 100% 100% - US$T  Securities trading
Investments Limited
Magic Chance REERRES 1%L BFEE
Investments Limited
Merit First Investments ~ BVI 100% - 100% US$T  Investment holding
Limited
ERREBRAT EREARES 1T REEK
Nation Rich BVI 100% 100% - US$T  Investment holding
Investments Limited
EBRAERRAT EBERRES 1ET KREEK
New Smart Credit Hong Kong 100% 100% - HK$1  Provision of financing
Service Limited services z
EFEEUBERAT BB VBT RERERS €
New Smart Holdings Hong Kong 100% 100% - HK$2  Provision of :;:;
Limited corporate services o
B EEERAA BB 2B RRERRS s
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

BAEEZAIL

21. RMBLARZRE(E)

Issued and
Place of Group's paid up capital/
incorporation/ effective Held by the Held by a registered  Principal
Name of the Company operation interest Company subsidiary capital activities
BETR
AL F5E ARE —ZMEAF BERE,
NEEB BB BRER il BE AMEER FTEEHR
Powerful Sky BVI 100% - 100% US$T  Investment holding
Investments Limited
NARBRERRRF] RBRRREE €T KREER
S RERKRERT PRC 99% - 99%  RMB4,950,000  Provision of
CRIDBR AR consultancy and
(note i) referral services
SRERBRRE S I ARE  REERRERRS
CRINEBRRA] 4,950,0007C
(Hizi)
HEBERRIMAE PRC 100% - 100%  RMB20,000,000  Sales of meltblown
BRAEFERF (note i) fabrics and related
equipment and raw
material
MERERREAME  hE ARE  HEREMRIEH
BREERE(Htii) 20,000,000 RE KRR
Notes: Yoz
(i)  The company is a limited liability company established in the PRC. () RAFARFEKZBREERTF -
(i) The company is a limited liability company (non-natural person investment or (i  ZATBRPBERILZAREERAFAGEEAA

holding corporation sole investment) established in the PRC.
(iii)  The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non-controlling interests for (iii)

the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

(iv)  As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unpaid portion of registered capital (iv)
totaling RMB450,000 (2021: RMB2,050,000) for injection into & {EEIEIE &
ARIDBRAR.

RASREBRAREE)

HE-Z-—FrRZFT=Z—F+=-A=+—H
IEFE - AEEYEES AT RS 2
BAF -

RZE-_—F+=-A=+—8 ' A&£E KM
BB ARG D A £ AR 450,000 (=
——% : AR¥2,050,0007T) A S EEEE
BHACRYDARAR] ©

o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

22. INVENTORIES 22. 7€
2022 2021
—E-—fF —EC
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FHT
Mask products ASEm 540 -
Meltblown fabrics related raw material VA NE A RS R A - 255
Total 4aEt 540 255

At the end of both reporting years, the Group’s inventories were stated

at the lower of cost and net realisable assets.

No inventories of the Group were carried at net realisable value at the

end of both reporting years.

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

RMEREFER » AEBZFEEKAR
AERFEZBIEEIR -

R EREER R - AL B R TR
BFEDIE -

23. BAFEFARSZEHEE

2022 2021
— g T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET
Current WE
Unlisted investment fund in the Cayman Islands ~ AFEBE 2 LHIEEES
(note (a)) (Hiz@) 2,283 2,318
Note: Kt
(@  The fair values of the unlisted fund was measured with reference to the quoted @ FEMESZAFENZEERESZ SEIK

BATREZIREE -

price provided by the financial institution managing the funds.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F - —F+ =1 —HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
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24. E5 R HEMBEYWRE

2022 2021
—E- 8 —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FET
Trade receivables from: THEEZE S EWFIE
Electronic components BFEH - 14,643
General trading —RES 4,950 -
CBM HER 339 -
Financial business SREER
— Consultancy and referral service — EAR R AR T
— Referral services —HEERRTS - 3,202
- Management fee receivables —EWERE = 9
Wealth management IEER 109 347
Comprehensive healthcare U= - 5,742
5,398 23,943
Less: Impairment allowance (note (a)) B ORERE (i) = (14,472)
5,398 9,471
Financial business SRR
— Securities brokerage — B
— Cash client (note (c)) —BeRP(Hitc) 406 11,011
5,804 20,482
Other receivables H bl s 3,118 9,178
Deposits and prepayments ZE RIERFIE 5,554 7,480
8,672 16,658
14,476 37,140
Analysed for reporting purpose as: EREHRENITE
Non-current asset EREEAE 3,043 3,072
Current asset MENEE 11,433 34,068
Total st 14,476 37,140
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(@

(b)

(©

Impairment allowance

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Group’s trade receivables were
determined to be impaired (2021: HK$14,472,000). The individually impaired
receivables related to customers that are in financial difficulties and management
assessed that it is highly unlikely that the receivables can be recovered in 2021.
The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade receivable balances for
the both of reporting years.

24.

EZREMBEWRIAE)

HERE

R-ZE-—F+-_F=+—0 #HEALAEEH
ZEBFEBFBECEEARE(ZE=—F
14,472,000/ 7T) ° 18 516 (B FE Y5k T8 B2 HH 3R B
R ZFEE AEEEMHN T - —
F 28 EEWERIEG A Al g A e o Rm(E
WEFE - AEEVERE S EBFIELE RS
BEAERR -

Ageing analysis of trade receivables b)  EREREREZ KR
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, other than from cash clients, of the BRHEESI "$%§Z§%E§”K%{E(ﬁ¥%
Group, based on the dates of the invoices and net of impairment allowance, is as B REMBRERE) 2 RERAIMT -
follows:
2022 2021
B —F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
0-45 days 0Z45K 4,947 3,714
46-90 days 46E90K 1 637
91-365 days 91E365K 450 5,120
Over 365 days HEiE365K = 14,472
5,398 23,943
Less: Impairment allowance R E R - (14,472)
5,398 9,471
For trade receivables from cash clients, it normally takes two days to settle after (0 HeFFPELAZEWESIRBBAENELRD

trade date of securities transactions. These outstanding unsettled trades due from
clients are reported as trade receivables from clients.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of the Group's securities brokerage
business, therefore, no ageing analysis is disclosed.

ZRBBARMABE - ZEHRBEZERE
FEZDRIAIREFPELEZ BRE SR

ARBEFRR  ERNLAKEERERZED
MHE - BRECD IS OREIMEE - Bt I
BB
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24. B5 R HEAMEKKEE)
Notes: (Continued) Mat - (#4)
(d)  Trade receivables which are past due but not impaired d) CEBEEKEEZESERRE
As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables of approximately HK$451,000 RZBEZZF+ZA=+—0 BHEKE
(2021: approximately HK$983,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate #7451,0008 7T(—Z = —% : £7983,000/%7T)
to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of EEMERARE -  ZFRUFES RS LR
default and a substantial portion of the carrying amount is subsequently settled. HEENRBCBIRP Ao REERE
The Group does not hold any collateral as security over these customers. The “ETEHE - AEELERZERFEE EMA
ageing analysis of the trade receivables which are past due but not impaired is as HERRERER - CEHERKREZESE
follows: WA ERR DTN T
2022 2021
—EB-—F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
0-45 days 0%45H 1 637
46-90 days 46%290H 450 346
451 983
25. CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS 25. REFHBEZAE
The Group maintains separate trust accounts with licensed banks to REBNFRIRTTRE EBEFRP - AR
hold clients’” monies arising from its normal course of business. The BREXBRRETELEZEFPHIE - REE
Group has classified the clients’ monies as cash held on behalf of HFREEGIZRE  AEBEKEFOFIE
customers under current assets and recognised the corresponding DERRPEETREFPHEZES - 1
accounts payable to respective clients as stipulated under the SFO. REMNBEEF 2 EERP < RIBES LS
The Group is not allowed to use the clients’ monies to settle its own B0 REENSHATFFIAREITH
obligations under the SFO. BHER -

SiEEERZREEAR LA | GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

192

o



\

VNN Z I S=S
NEINES

SN

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

26. RERBPITHER

2022 2021

—E-C—F —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T FET

Cash at banks and on hand (note (i) SRITFERNFERE (W) 34,632 106,379

Less: Restricted bank balances (note (ii)) B ZBRBISRTTEERR (M2 (i) (300) (325)

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated FehenekbcRe kRS

statement of cash flows %fEIEH 34,332 106,054

Notes: Kiet -

(i) As at 31 December 2021, the cash at banks and on hand included the fixed
deposit of HK$120,000 with maturity of less than 3 months. They carried interest
at 0.15% per annum.

(i) Among the bank balances of the Group as at 31 December 2022, approximately
HK$300,000 (RMB265,500) (2021: approximately HK$325,000 (RMB265,000))
was restrained from dealing due to the civil actions taken by the PRC claimant
for the default in payment of an outstanding recruitment fee to a headhunting
company and the Company was defeated. The Company appealed pending
hearing at 31 December 2022.

(iii)  For 2022, balances carried interest ranging from 0% to 0.3% per annum (2021:
balances carried interest ranging from 0.01% to 0.3% per annum). Short-term
bank deposits amounting to HK$120,000 carried fixed interest rate of 0.55% per
annum in 2021.

27. OTHER BORROWING, UNSECURED

Other borrowing, relating to the CBM business under the PSC and
payable to an independent third party, is unsecured, interest free and
with no fixed repayment terms. The movements in other borrowing
during the year are as follows:

i)y MZZTE-_—F+-A=+—8: RBIEZXL
FHEESBER=ZMEARNIHZEETEFTR
120,000/ T2 F F%0.15%:1 8. °

(i) BERPERBAERBRKANEBEARZBES
AmMER s REFA - BARAKEF - #UAK
EER B —F+-_A=t+—BHZRITEH
# - 49300,0007% 7T (A R#265,50070) (=%
——% 1 #9325,000( A R#265,0007T)) % &
REBRH - ARRDIRELF  HE=ZT ==
F+Z A=+ BINESHEA -

iy M-TZ—Fms  RITEBKENT0%E
0.3%Z FHMEFB(ZE=—F :0.01%Z£0.3%
ZEMEFL) c RZTZ—F » RERITER
120,000/ 7T + 12 E T FFIFL0.55%:T 2 °

. HAERK - BEA

BHREMDYKERIET 2 EEREL RER
T—R2BUE=F2EMERASERR 2
BRERFENRSR HMEFRAFEZE
E) N

2022 2021

—E-CF —F-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FET

At 1 January n—AH—H 12,138 11,749
Exchange adjustment M 3 (952) 389
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 11,186 12,138
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. ESRHMENRE
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2022 2021
—B-—fF —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TETT
Trade payables for: THIEEZ B S ENFIA
Electronic components BFEMH = 429
Wealth management EER 9 55
Financial business DRI
— Securities brokerage — B4
— Clearing house —EEFT 234 10,905
243 11,389
Financial business TRUETE
— Securities brokerage —BEHFELE
— Cash clients (note (a)) —BeRP(Kita) 525 9,344
— Margin client —REEEP 6 525
Total trade payables B 5 RIA MR 774 21,258
Other payables (note (c)) o R FRIE (At () 17,555 35,423
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of e — PR A B 3E iR R
a subsidiary =g - 17,168
Accrued expenses FERTRI, 18,703 21,542
Total other payables and accruals H e FE R st B AR 36,258 74,133
Total trade payables, other payables and accruals & 5 ERTFIE « E At BRI FNIE 2
JERHE R4 37,032 95,391
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 28. BE5RHEMBNAREE
Notes: Bt
(@)  Trade payables to securities brokerage clients represent the monies received @ RENEFRLEPZESFIBRERARENE
from and repayable to brokerage clients in respect of the trust and separate TRBERDBIEFEWRREFEEZER
bank balances received and held for clients in the course of the conduct of the RBURITESRERREEETELEP 2K
Group's regulated activities. I8 o
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not ARREERR  ERNAEEZEBNE - R
give additional value in view of the nature of the Group’s business; therefore, no BN WA REEIMEE : Fit - WEKER
ageing analysis is disclosed. BT
(b)  The ageing analysis of the remaining balance of trade payables of the Group, by AEEZESENFEHBGREZAM) ZE
based on the dates of the invoices, is as follows: RO ¢
2022 2021
—E-—F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current — within 1 month BN ——EAR 234 11,083
More than 1 month but within 3 months 2w —EA BT BB=1EA - 285
More than 3 months but within 6 months HBim =18 A BT ERB/<E A - 1
More than 6 months i@ E A 9 20
243 11,389
(c)  Other payables included approximately RMB1,875,000 (equivalent to (© EtEAFURSEENTREERAZ TRRLY
approximately HK$2,120,000) of engineering fees payable to creditors in AR¥1,875,0007T (#HE 1 492,120,0007 7T )
the PRC and approximately RMB3,512,000 (equivalent to approximately R JER R IBLARYES,512,0007T (FHE R
HK$3,971,000) of amount payable to China United. #13,971,000%7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F - —F+ =1 —HIFE

29. BONDS 29. {83
Unlisted
bond
(“Bond 111”)
FEHES
(T&zm )
HK$'000
FET
(note (a))
(Biita))

1 January 2021 WR-_ZE-_—F—H—H 9,996

Interest charge MERX 703

Less: Interest paid B EARALE (700)

At 31 December 2021 and RZZE_—F+=-A=+—8HK

1 January 2022 —ET-—_F—H—H 9,999

Interest charge MERMX 441

Less: Interest paid W EARALE (440)

Repayment B3 (10,000)

At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+=-A=1+—8 _

Note: Hiat -

(@ In August and November 2016, Bond Il with an aggregate principal amount of @ RZFB-ANFNART—A EAZEEHNR
HK$11,000,000 were issued to individual subscribers with an interest rate of 7% fE ANBATR € 485 /511,000,000 T 2 &%
per annum payable semi-annually. N RENR7EER - WAGFFXAT -
Under the original terms, Bond Il would mature and be redeemed by the BIERA BT  EFNERETESEHAE=
Company on the third anniversary of the date of issue correspondingly. BERBMRAAARED -

In March 2019, the maturity date of Bond IIl with an aggregate principal amount RZE-NF=R - AS4E% 10,000,000
of HK$10,000,000 was extended from the third anniversary in August 2019 to TTZEHFNZE A RBETRRRIEZRASF
the sixth anniversary of the date of issue in August 2022. (RZZ-NAFNA)EREETHERTER

BFERZFZZFN\A) -

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the principal amount of HEZ-"F+-_A=+—RHIFE K&
HK$10,000,000 was fully paid. There was no balance of Bond Il outstanding as #10,000,0008 T ABBER - =T ==
at 31 December 2022. TZA=T—R - BEFIE AR EERE -
Imputed interest expenses on Bond IIl with an aggregate principal amount of 7R #8%8 /310,000,00078 7T 2 B2 {EE F
HK$10,000,000 was calculated using effective interest method with an effective BRXTITRIERERAEERFEENEREF
interest rate of 7.04% (2021: 7.04%) per annum after extension. R7.04E(ZF=—F : 7.04E)5TE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

30. LOAN FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY AND 30. REEAKREZERATNERERIEG A2

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY £
The loan is unsecured, and non-interest bearing and repayable on ZEBRAELEM £ ORAREREER
demand (2021: unsecured, and interest bearing and not repayable (ZTZ—F - BER  FERBER—F
within one year). NEE) -
31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HERE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the TREJAEEEREBEZ RGBS OB
group’s lease liabilities: A :
2022 2021
—ECCF T —F
Present Present
value of value of
the lease Total lease the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
HEMRRE HESKEE HENFRE HEENRESE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET THTT T
Within 1 year 15K 10,129 11,713 9,455 12,429
After 1 year but within 2 years 15 12B2F R 5,034 5,224 8,826 11,555
After 2 years but within 5 years 2 1&E5F R - - 6,178 5,224
5,034 5,224 15,004 16,779
15,163 16,937 24,459 29,208

Less: total future interest expenses & : A 2R F| B FH =

4878 (1,774) (4,749)
Present value of lease liabilites ~ BE&ERE 15,163 24,459
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. B&
Number of
ordinary Share
shares capital
ZEREE &N
HK$’000
TETT
Issued and fully paid BETREARE
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-——F—HF—H 937,172,167 2,075,632
Issue of shares upon placement (note (a)) B ERFEITR D (HT7E () 558,691,195 109,504
Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible AR AR SRR R S TR D)
notes 2,958,333,333 366,452
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and R-Z-_—F+-_A=+—8"
at 31 December 2022 —EF-A—RBk
—ZE-_—_#F#+-A=+—H 4,454,196,695 2,551,588

Note: iz -

(@  Placing of new shares under general mandate (@)

On 25 March 2021, completion of the placing of the 149,691,195 ordinary
shares of the Company at a placing price HK$0.2 per share took place with net
proceeds of approximately HK$29,340,000 raised.

On 17 November 2021, completion of the placing of the 409,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company at a placing price HK$0.2 per share took place with net
proceeds of approximately HK$80,164,000 raised.

RIE—RIR R SR

R-ZZE-_—F=ZA-+HH  UEEEERK0.2
BT EARRT149,691,195 8% T @A E 5T/
EEFSRIEFEEL A29,340,00078 7T ©

RZZEZ—F+—A++t8  UEEESFR.2
75 TLAC & 2K 2 51409,000,000 % & 3R B T2
EEFSHRIBFRELR80,164,00078 7T ©
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved
by the shareholders on 11 November 2014, under which the directors
of the Company may, at their discretion, offer any eligible participants
(including any directors) of the Company or of any of its subsidiaries
options to subscribe for shares in the Company subject to the terms and
conditions stipulated in the Scheme. For each lot of the share options
granted, the participants will pay a nominal consideration of HK$1. The
period within which the shares must be taken up under an option is
determined by the board of directors of the Company from time to time,
except that such period shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant
of the options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, that it shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of
share options; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange’s closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of the grant.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 June 2017,
an ordinary resolution was passed refreshing the scheme mandate limit.
The maximum number of shares of the Company issuable upon exercise
of all share options granted and to be granted under the Scheme is an
amount equivalent to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at
7 June 2017. This limit can further be refreshed by the shareholders of
the Company in a general meeting in accordance with the provisions of
the Listing Rules. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options granted to each eligible participant under the Scheme within
any twelve-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the shareholders” approval in a general meeting.

There were no share options granted and exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. There were no share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

e M RRME

. BRESHE

AAREE-HERRN _F—NF+—A
T— B B 81 (45181 - RIE
Zatd NRRREEARERARRRHEE
A ER B2 EAAER2EE (RIEER
EF)REBREARBARRRD - 1HEA
BB BIPTIRE 2 IRK R M5 - 2 8E L
BHERCBRESNBEREET - R
BEREERARN 2 BRBARRZESER
THRETE  HEABEMR T SEBBEER N
REIEE 4 -

AR T EEMEEET - LTBOR0
AR RS R BB BE LR B 2 A 9
ZURTE ¢ R ARG A
TR 3 EAEBB R AR 2 FH M (B2
K% -

—HABEHERERE EBARRE
RARREZZE—tFRALARITZER
BEXE LEGREE - MRIBZETEIMR
A TR 2 A BT - AAR]
ABRITZRNBE REZHEERARRR-F
—EFRALASETRMDZ10% ° R
A A R BIRRAR R BT Bl 2 SR i
RAREE—FTEH - RER+ ZE AR -
BTREER2EEZBERETETZRN
HERSZUARTREMRHESBETRG 2
1% AR - ARSI RE 2 BRI AEK
RABERAE LRS- FRT -

HE - T —F+-_fF=+—
HIEFE - WERHRITERERE - RN=Z
ZZFERZEZ—F+ZA=1+—H  UE
FER M AR TIE o
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For th

34.

35.

e year ended 31 December 2022 B Z = F = —F+=H=+—HIFFE

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately. The Group
has no other material obligations for the payment of pension benefits
associated with the MPF Scheme beyond the annual contributions
described above.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Group participates in a defined contribution retirement scheme
organised by the local government, whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the pension fund scheme at a certain percentage
of the employees’ relevant basic salaries. Contributions to the scheme
vest immediately.

The Group’s contributions to employee retirement benefits for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were HK$1,443,000 (2021: HK$1,429,000).
As at 31 December 2022, there was no material outstanding
contribution to employee retirement benefits.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as
follows:

34.

35.

BERKEF

AEERBEESRFEDES GO BZEE
EBIEG 2 AL EEEMIER 2 B8R 3R
MATEETEI([RESTE]) - wFES:TE
BRBYZAAEE Y TEEFURIRGTE
RiEeESTE BERESHAZEER
¥ & 25%METEELE - HEE AN
ALA30,0007 7T BBR o METEI1EL 2 AN
BB o B Ll FEHRRIN  AEEWE
H b BLo8 18 & 5T EIFARA 2 BRI RIS K
BT

REBEHERBSE TRARMRY  ARESHE
m 7T BT RR L 2 E R TR KRG8 1B
It ARERREREREAHECETH
DR AREFEEL HK - mEtEIELZ
AR -

REBE-_E-_—_F+-_A=t+—HILFE -
AEBERESERKBMNFEEL 2 HAE
1,443,000 70 ( ZF = —4 : 1,429,000
L) e RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H &
BARZMNZEERNERIHK -

EAREE
RZEZZFR-_TE-_—F+=_RA=+—

A RRERA M RER P EHE B 2 B AR
T

2022 2021
—E-_—F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Production sharing contract: Emakam :
— Contracted but not provided for —BERT4E R 17,807 17,758
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (Continued)

In addition to the above, Can-Elite entered into the Sixth Modification
Agreement with China United regarding the modified PSC on 3 January
2023. Pursuant to the Sixth Modification Agreement, the exploration
period of Area A has been further extended to 31 March 2024. In
order to complete the above exploration works for preparation of the
ODP, Can-Elite is required to utilise a minimum of HK$9,046,000
(RMB8,000,000) equivalent in US dollars per year towards Area A as
the expected minimum exploration expenditure amount. On the same
date, Can-Elite and China United entered into the agreement and agreed
to release the obligations and liabilities of Can-Elite in Area B under
the PSC at no consideration after all necessary arrangements have been
performed and accepted by China United.

. CONTINGENCIES

Environmental contingencies

The Group has not incurred any significant expenditure for environment
remediation and is currently not involved in any environmental
remediation. In addition, the Group has not accrued any amounts for
environmental remediation relating to its operations. Under existing
legislation, management believes that there are no probable liabilities
that will have a material adverse effect on the financial position or
operating results of the Group. The PRC government, however, has
moved and may move further towards more rigorous enforcement
of applicable laws and towards the adoption of more stringent
environmental standards. Environmental liabilities are subject to
considerable uncertainties which affect the Group’s ability to estimate
the ultimate cost of remediation efforts. These uncertainties include:
(i) the exact nature and extent of the contamination at various sites
including, but not limited to mines, concentrators and smelting plants
irrespective of whether they are operating, closed or sold; (ii) the extent
of required cleanup efforts; (iii) varying costs of alternative remediation
strategies; (iv) changes in environmental remediation requirements;
and (v) the identification of new remediation sites. The amount of such
future costs is not determinable due to such factors as the unknown
magnitude of possible contamination and the unknown timing and
extent of the corrective actions that may be required. Accordingly,
the outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed or future
environmental legislation cannot be reasonably estimated at present,
and could be material.

e M RRME

35. BAREIEE)

B _EXCRTALAN - BEERE IR R R B RS BT EE
DRARBR-ZZE-=F—A=H:IYFE X
BT - BIBFE KB HE - ARSE
FHRE—HERE-_E-_ME=A=+—
B BTHREUAEBRAEARTK LAY
HIEE  BBEREFAHARTER D
9,046,000/ 7T ( A R #8,000,0007T ) SEH
U ERETESNSEREMEER - [
B - HEREFBI I YRSER
TABEVELZEE R ZERE  BERER
BREEERNRERDKNARE TBENER
REE-

. WAREIE

BRRSBER
AEBESRERRRBRELEAIH -
B ATINR B 2 B BRE AR T - gtoh
AEBRAEREEB RERAREURE 2
8o REBRITED - ERERELEFER
EEHAKEPHRR AL EXEFEAT
M8 zaflE - A PEBFSERER
BLE — TERMBITER AR - WIRRE
REEZRFREE -RRTAZABEFES
TOTHERE  FEAREGSEBY
HIERRBERZEN - BETHEERRE
& OB ESH  BREETRREES B
BRME L EATRS - SRR N6 SRR A 2
SRR ENIZE ¢ ()FRETLE
BETEZIZE (i) B RERIEEZKA : (iv)
REMEREIHE kv ERFHES
o ANATBESRIRE AP RAAHRIZ M
RIERNEEREMEETRBERER - 8
BABEZEARRER - Ut - KiIRE#ESK
ARZBBREEFAE ZRRBEERE
FEBRAEET - BRAAETSEXR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #{2 —F - —4 1+ _-H=+—HIFF/F

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 37. HE—BEMBAT

The Group disposed of its 60% equity interest in Strong Way, an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to a non-
controlling party of Strong Way, for a consideration of HK$1. The
disposal was completed on 31 December 2022. The carrying amounts

AEBHEENARFEZEIEZEH BT
EHEZ60%ER T EMZIEERT - RE
BB - HER-TE_—_F+-_A=1+—
HEK - EENBENHE R ZRAEDR

of the assets and liabilities on the dates of disposal were as follows: N
For the
year ended
31 December
2022
BE-Z__F
+=—A=+—H
LFE
HK$’000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which REEFEZEEREBEDI
control was lost:
Right-of-use asset EREEE 126
Trade and other receivables EEYEN 0 e 722
Less: impairment allowance A ORME (329)
Cash and cash equivalents Re B eEEHER 412
Trade and other payables B 5 KA e KA (25,024)
Lease liabilities HEARE (126)
Net liabilities disposed of sz 8EF8 (24,219)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE - E L = RS
Consideration received ERER(E -
Net liabilities disposed of P& BEFHE 24,219
Non-controlling interest derecognised BRI R 2 R (6,016)
Gain on disposal HE W 18,203

An analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the

disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

HE—RNBARZRE MRS EEHRB R
HFREDITT -

F 2 2 B AR 2 A7) | GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

HK$’000
FHET
Cash consideration received ERIMIRERE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of PrHE 2 RS RIRTTHE R (412)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in FRHE—MNBARRe RAEEMEIER
- respect of the disposal of a subsidiary Pipteebeitc (412)

&
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. EEEARS
AAFEEMBAT AR T 2 AT >
BB RZSENGEE AR Y - I E
U3 EE - BEAEE BRI
ZRINR S EBEN T XRE -

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions
between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

(@) Transactions with related parties (@) EEBEAMAZXS
During the year, the Group had the following transactions with RARERE - REERHBERBES R
related parties in the normal course of business: Bl 7 2 =22
2022 2021
—E- 8 —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Ultimate Holding Company BAERAR
Imputed interest on convertible notes AR RIE 2 (HEFE - 48,388
Ultimate Controlling Party BAEGS
Loan interest BRAE 1,164 -
Commission income il N 334 236
Handling fee income FHEERA = 1
Interest income on IPO financing BERAHEEEREZFEWRA - 33
Salaries paid [RARE=A 628 738
Ms. Li Dan (“Ms. Li”) (note (v)) Rzt (ErL])(HiFw)
Commission income ikl N 928 512
Handling fee income FEBBA - 1
Interest income on IPO financing (note (viii)) B X AFREERVE 2 F2UMA
(Hifat(viii)) - 57
Dividend collection fee income B R B FRUCA 1 -
Commission income by provision of insurance F# R AC 42 IR 7% 2 B U
brokerage service (note (vii)) (Hiztvii) 109 3,269
Ms. Shao Yanxia (“Ms. Shao”) (note (vi)) BReaEs 2+ ([BRh 2+ ) (A e vi)
Commission income e WA 1 13
Handling fee income FEBBA - 1
Interest income on IPO financing (note (viii)) B X AFREERVE 2 F2UMA
(Hifat(viii)) - 23
Salaries paid BftE e 1,354 1,128
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

38. BHBARS(E)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) EREAEETS 2B REBER
2022 2021
—Eo—F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TETT
Loan from KETHIER ZER
— Ultimate Holding Company (note (i)) — RN B (KT 5T () 97,500 97,500
— Ultimate Controlling Party — BRI (e i) R (iii))
(notes (ii) and (iii)) 63,320 66,255
Loans interest payable to JERTFI%T5 2 EFFR
— Ultimate Holding Company — R AT 9,960 10,010
— Ultimate Controlling Party — BRI 2,760 4,222
Commission receivables by provision of MF L TR PR 4IRS
insurance brokerage service with Ms. Li JEWER 2 & 109 -
Accounts payables — cash client’s accounts  FEERF —HESEFIRN
— Ultimate Controlling Party — BRI - 2,709
- Ms. Li —FRE - 7,166
— Ms. Shao —HBzt - 11
Convertible notes interest payables AR RS
— Ultimate Holding Company — BRI AT 5,831 5,831
g Amounts due to non-controlling interests of & —FHM B A RIFERER 2
s a subsidiary (note (iv)) FIA(HEE (i) - 17,168
=
=}
2 Notes: iz -
S
g (i) The loans were sub-ordinated in nature which were unsecured, interest () EXRBRENE ERN-Z_TFAE
=) bearing at 12% to 24% per annum and not repayable within one year in I - REFIR12EZR24E B RBA
© 2020 and changed to unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on R—FERNEE TR T —F—F—
Z demand from 1 January 2021. HEFEREER  RERAREREE -
z
g (i) The Ultimate Controlling Party of the Company is Mr. Pan Jibiao. (i) ARFZBELIEGT RBELEE
Z
& (iii)  The loans were sub-ordinated in nature which were unsecured, interest (i) EFRBRERESE ER-_Z-_ZTFRE
z bearing at 1% per month and not repayable within one year in 2020 and IR RAFIE B B RBAR—FA
= changed to unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand BE WHR_ZE_—F—F—HEEAR
E from 1 January 2021. BRI 2B MBRENRERE -
; (iv)  None of amounts due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary since the (ivv BFAHEHRBEARAR  BEEN—
a subsidiary was disposed during the year (2021: unsecured, non-interest B AR 2 RS (— T = —F :
g‘ bearing and repayable on demand). IR RO REREREER)
w
«
PN
s
#*
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 38. BHBARS(E)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued) (b) EEEEEETS ZREMREBEER(E)
Notes: (Continued) Bat - ()

(v) Ms. Li is the spouse of Mr. Pan Jibiao.

(vi)  Ms. Shao is the former executive director of the Company. She resigned as
at 17 January 2023.

(vii)  On 10 November 2020, GCINT WM a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the client agreement dated 10 November 2020
(“Insurance Brokerage Agreement”) in relation to the packaged insurance
brokerage services provided by GCINT WM to Ms. Li in procuring
insurance policies to be taken out with third party insurer(s) with Ms. Li,
who is the spouse of the Ultimate Controlling Party, pursuant to which
GCINT WM provided a packaged insurance brokerage services to Ms.
Li for a term of 12 months commencing from 10 November 2020 and
expiring on 9 November 2021. The transactions contemplated under the
Insurance Brokerage Agreement constitute a connected transaction for
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details of the
transactions contemplated under the Insurance Brokerage Agreement,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 19 February 2021 and
the Company’s circular dated 24 May 2021.

(viii)  During 2021, GCINT (HK), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in its ordinary and usual course of business, have granted a
number of loans for the purpose of acquiring securities in the initial public
offerings on the Stock Exchange (“IPO Loans”) to, among others, Ms. Li
and Ms. Shao which constituted connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter T4A of the Listing Rules. For details of the IPO Loans,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 30 November 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group effected the following
material non-recurring transaction:

On 31 December 2022, Ever Double Investments Limited, which is an
immediate holding company of Strong Way, entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with non-controlling interests in consideration of the sum of HK$1
for 600,000 ordinary shares of Strong Way. The Group recognised the gain on
disposal of a subsidiary amounting to approximately HK$18,203,000.

v FRLABBFYEEZRE -

V) BEEAADTZHRITEE o N
ToSE-ATLARE-

Vi) RZZZZTF+—A+8  AarZ3k
2EMBAR G EEENEEREARK
TH B 2 RBER LA VARA-T
TE+—-ATENEFPHE ([REBREL
W#l) NE BB ERERMEEER
FELTREZERBELRT - UAE
= HERAREBRE - Kt SEER
MEEERAFZTRESZERBELR
% BT EFT+-ATHRE=ZE
——F+—ANBE"R AB+=@E
A oo BIR EMAAE14A K - REBEL
HEE T ES TR ZFER AR RN
HERG - ARRBELHRE THETT
NZ 515 FLEARRAHAE=T
Z—FZA+NBEMAERARR A
BT —FRA-FNAMNEK -
Efg =

SR ARRZEEEZEWE
AR EERESRERE R —REH
|EF - ER(EFRRE) FREREL
IRTFZEET  AREBIMERR
MBEETRENEF(ERAREEE
) HERKARTR EWRBE14A
BHETZHERS - EHERRREE
BERmMEE  B2HARFTRHR-E
——F+—R=1+BZ@K -

(viii)

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=1+—ALEE K&
EE#ETUTEAEHUERS ¢

M-ZZE-_—HF+=H=+—H ' Ever Double
Investments Limited (S 4 FEEEA% A 7)) B2 3E
TRRER ] BB e 0 S #600,000/% AR
HRER/IET - AREBALE—RHMBEAR
#UER 418,203,000/ 7T °
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e year ended 31 December 2022 B Z = F = —F+=H=+—HIFFE

()

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 38. BABEAERZ (&)

Key management personnel compensation (0 EEEEERERM
2022 2021
—E——F ZEZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances and e R REMEMR

other benefits in kind 5,829 5,724
Discretionary bonus YIS TEAL - -
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGT B 102 108
5,931 5,832

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note 12).
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The deemed disposal for contracted CBM exploration area and
further update of CBM business

On 3 January 2023, Can-Elite has entered into an agreement with China
United. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the said agreement,
each of Can-Elite and China United agreed to release the obligations
and liabilities of Can-Elite in Area B under the PSC at no consideration
after all necessary arrangements have been performed and accepted by
China United. On the same date, Can-Elite has entered into the Sixth
Modification Agreement with China United to modify certain terms of
the PSC.

Sales Framework Agreement signed

On 12 January 2023, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,
Alpha Guidance Limited entered into a sales framework agreement (the
“Framework Agreement”) with Dalian Puhua Petroleum and Chemical
Company Limited* (K # & % A f /b TH R 2 A) (“Dalian Puhua”),
pursuant to which Dalian Puhua shall supply to the Group fuel oil and
refined oil from time to time during the terms of the Framework
Agreement.

The Framework Agreement shall be valid for the period from the date
of the Framework Agreement to 31 December 2023. According to the
terms and conditions of the Framework Agreement, once the terms of
each purchase transaction have been agreed, the Group and Dalian
Puhua shall enter into definitive agreement(s) to set out the detailed
terms and conditions of the relevant transaction.

* For identification purpose only

39.

e 2 Al B TA ] (FIaE12) ©
SRAREER

BHNRERDREZRIFHESERERE
REB2E-—SRHER
RZZ_=F—A=0  ZBEREPH
M % heg o ARIRK hE A IR B AR AE - B3
RERETEZERBENMELAESNEL TR
hEEAE  BERERRAZLRNER
DRARETBRNEEREE -RA &
BRLIRE R BRI S B NIIERT R - SABRT
AR A RIEE TR o

CHEBHEER R
RIBZ=%—A+=H ARAEEELE
MEARBREERAREEEEL T
BRAB(TRELE]DATLHEERGH
(MERWE]) - Bt - KEEERNVER
A R N [A) AR SR B R AR E B R
H o

ERGZEEEERBEANEE_T_=F
TZA=+—BRHHEAR - REERBER
RGN —BRBR 5 IRTEZ -
AR B AE AT L &R e - AR
MRRAZE 5 805 AR BRI
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e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

40. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

40. DT EEMBIRRE

2022 2021
—EBE-C—F B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FET
Non-current assets EREBEE

Interest in subsidiaries, net KB AR 2= - TR - -
Right-of-use asset FREERE 3,134 22,603
Rental deposit HEZe 3,043 2,622
6,177 25,225

Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries, net KB A RIFRIE - 58 8,003 87,091
Other receivables H A e GRTE 406 4,828
Cash and bank balances B4 MIRITAE 11,216 17,457
19,625 109,376

Current liabilities REBAE
Bonds &% - 9,999
Loan from Ultimate Holding Company REREERDRZER 107,460 107,510
Lease liabilities HEBE 10,129 8,765
Other payables E e 5R0E 8,755 10,144
126,344 136,418
Net current liabilities REEETEHE (106,719) (27,042)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F - —F+ =1 —HIFE

40. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  40. AREBHEBBEMRRK(E)

(Continued)
2022 2021
— g T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
Total assets less current liabilities EERERRBAE (100,542) (1,817)
Non-current liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 5,034 14,943
Net liabilities REFE (105,576) (16,760)
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital [N 2,551,588 2,551,588
Reserves &t (2,657,164) (2,568,348)
Capital deficiency =N (105,576) (16,760)
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and RARMBHRARCESTIRN T _=F=
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and A=+t—BHERRETE T TIIES
are signed on its behalf by: REREE
Wong Man Keung Lee Nga Ching
YR THE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE =

SiEEERZREEAR LA | GOLDEN CENTURY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BlZ2 —F - —F+ A =1—HIFZ

40. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  40. AREBHEBBEMRRK(E)

(Continued)
Note: e
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual components of reserves between ARARRREBIFEHES I RFRER 2 BB FHH
the beginning and the end of the year are set out below: ST
Special Accumulated
capital reserve losses Total
BRIEAGHEE REtER et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET TET
(note 41(a))
(Hizt41(a)
At 1 January 2021 WZEZ—%—HF—H 579,799 (3,087,225) (2,507,426)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year FEBEIREMSEHE - (60,922) (60,922)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-ZE-——F+-A=+—H
k== —A—H 579,799 (3,148,147) (2,568,348)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year FEBERZEMAY LS - (88,816) (88,816)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—fF+-H=+—8 579,799 (3,236,963) (2,657,164)

Pursuant to the reductions in capital of the Company in 2003 (“2003 Capital
Reduction”), 2009 (“2009 Capital Reduction”) and 2012 (“2012 Capital Reduction”),
the Company has undertaken that in the event of its making any future recoveries
in respect of the provisions against certain specific subsidiaries as at 31 December
2002, 2008 and 2011, respectively, all such recoveries up to maximum amounts of
HK$367,938,000 in relation to 2003 Capital Reduction, HK$130,663,000 in relation
to 2009 Capital Reduction and HK$171,025,000 in relation to 2012 Capital Reduction,
will be credited to a special capital reserve of the Company, which shall not be
treated as realised profits for the purpose of section 79B of the predecessor Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) and shall be treated as an un-distributable reserve of
the Company for the purpose of section 79C of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 32).

No credit transfer to this special capital reserve was made by the Company in 2022 and
2021.

AARRRZEZ=F([ZTZT=FRAEIR]) - =
ZENF(ZZTAFERFER D R —=F([=
T ZFRAEIR]) 2 BRAHREE - ANARE A&
o MARARRKRRBEARARD IR =TT =F
—EEN\FR-TE——F+-_A=t+—BRETHET
MEBARREZEE  AAZSRESE(R=-F
T=FRABRIM S &= £367,938,0008 7T * BE=
TS NFRAEDRM S & 4130,663,000% 7T 5t
ZE - ZFRAEIRME &= A171,025,000% 7T) #
BARRRZFREAEER - ERREB R BHED
(B3NE)E7IBEMEIEHERACER HH - MAE
REBEBRNFED(F32F) F7ICIKEIEBARR 2T
AN IREFERE -

RITZZZFR-ZT=—F  ARAHEERERSE
BB AN -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F - —F+ =1 —HIFE

41. RESERVES 41. f#fs

(a) Special capital reserve (@ HRERFEE
Pursuant to 2009 Capital Reduction and 2012 Capital Reduction, RIE-ZTNFRAERNE —T——%F
the amounts of HK$492,172,000 and HK$87,627,000 by which MRAEIR - BRANEIR R BB A TR
the capital reductions exceed the total accumulated losses of EEN\F+A=+—RARZZE—F
permanent nature of the Company as at 31 December 2008 TZA=T—HZKAMREERE
and 31 December 2011, have been credited to a special capital Z #B5492,172,0007% 7T & 87,627,000
reserve of the Company which shall not be treated as realised BITEBARRDR ZFHRIERFHEA -
profits for the purpose of section 79B of the predecessor Hong MEREBRAEDI(£328) E79B %KM
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) and shall be treated as an ETEREREEREHN - MEARRE
un-distributable reserve of the Company for the purpose of section R ANEGI (5328 ) 8B 79CIEIER/RR
79C of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. Bl PRI IRREERIE -
32).

(b) Exchange reserve (b) EXHE
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences R B REMERESINIB AR R
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign TBINETS 2 BI TSRS PREE 2 R H %
subsidiaries and foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with o HEIRBES VB IREM g
in accordance with the accounting policies in note 3(g) to the Pl < &t R R IE -

consolidated financial statements.

(c) Distributable reserves (0 FIHD KA
As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves RZBE__F+A=t+—0 A#H
available for distribution to owners of the Company, as calculated KT ARRREEE A2 FEEEGREN
under the provisions of Part 6 of the new Hong Kong Companies BEEREEA(F622F)FE6HH 215
Ordinance (Cap.622), with reference to section 79B of the XA SEREEDAMGHI(FENE)E
predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) was Nil 7IBIGETE) RE(ZZ_—F : ) o
(2021: Nil).

o
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\

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 42. @& EBIfiEA 8B HE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising T%§5'1$%@%$§%§bﬁﬁﬁi/25 & &
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. B BRERSIIFRCES - RAEBE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows EZBERRERNAREG AR RERT
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated NEAMETHREREZREREIKK
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. REeHE -
Convertible  Convertible Loan from Loan from
Other notes - notes - Ultimate Ultimate
Lease  borrowing, embedded liabilities Holding  Controlling
liabilities unsecured Bonds  derivatives portion  Borrowings Company Party Total
TEREE RERE RER#E
Afofast -RE  TERRE BRAR 2HAE
HEAR EER % fiAIE  -2E32 EE 2B At ait

HKS/000 HKS'000 HKS/000 HKS'000 HKS/000 HKS'000 HKS/000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TR T TR T TR TET AR

(Note 31) (Note 27) (Note 29) (Note 30) (Note 30)
(Brt31) (Hii#27) (Biit29) (Hi#t30) (#rzt30)
At 1 January 2021 W=2--%-f—-AH 34,082 11,749 9,996 46,234 311,945 - 107,655 68,220 589,681
New leases entered HEHE 279 - - - - - - - 279
Financing cash flows RESERE (9,961) - - - - 20,000) - - (29,961)
Addition FE - - - - - 20,000 - - 20,000
Interest paid ERHE (4,300) - (700) - - 65) - - 5,065)
Interest payable FERFIS - - - - (5732) - (145) - (5,877)
Interest expenses fleRx 4300 - 703 - 48,388 65 - - 53,456
Changes in fair value ATEES - - - (34,383) - - - - (34,383)
Conversion of convertible notes ~ EH A EREE - - - (11,851) (354,601) - - - (366,452)
Exchange adjustment EHE 59 389 - - - - - 2,257 2,705
At 31 December 2021 and i St
1 January 2022 TZA=T-Bk

—“I--F-f-H 24,459 12,138 9,999 - - - 107,510 70,477 224,583
New leases entered HAHE 157 - - - - - - - 157
Financing cash flows HERSTE (9,183) - (10,000 - - - - - (19,183)
Addition AE - - - - - - - 2328 2,328
Interest paid ERFIS (2,975) - (440) - - - (50) (1,164) (4,629
Interest expenses EE 2,975 - 441 - - - - - 3,416
Derecognition RIHER (116) - - - - - - - (116)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FRBAR (126) - - - - - - - (126)
Exchange adjustment EHA% (28) (952) - - - - - (5,561) 6,541)
At31 December 2022 RZBZZF

+zA=+-A 15,163 11,186 - - - B 107,460 66,080 199,389
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Financial Summary

MEHE

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=+—-HLEFE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
=B —T-—F —T-THE —TNF ZFTN\F
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET FHET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(gg&E7) (gg&E7) (gg&E7) (5g&E5))
Results ES
Revenue from continuing REFBEEER 2
operations e 44,747 30,008 61,208 - 559
Loss before tax from REFEREEBZ
continuing operations BERTE B (158,106) (64,174) (65,043) (504,3306) (656,434)
Income tax 1554 5,869 2,382 111 108,572 127,083
Loss for the year from REFHBEEER2
continuing operations FEEIE (152,237) (61,792) (64,932) (395,764) (529,351)
Discontinued operations BRI
(Loss) profit from REDLIEEBZ
discontinued operations (E518) 5= (3,930) (637) 305 (1,397) (1,440)
Loss for the year FEEBE (156,167) (62,429) (64,627) (397,161) (530,791)
Other comprehensive (expense) FfE H 2 E (FZ)
income for the year ON (957) (5,288) (6,577) 3,197 (33,081)

Total comprehensive expense & /Z 2 TE % 458

for the year (157,124) (67,717) (71,204) (393,964) (563,872)
(Loss) profit for the year fEfs R (E1E)
attributed to: A
Owners of the Company RRBHEB A

Q — from continuing operations  — 2R B BT & F 7 (152,201) (61,802) (64,908) (395,764) (529,351)
= — from discontinued operations — 2R [ E 48 | ¥ 75 (3,558) (158) 539 (1,027) (1,101)
S Non-controlling interests JEPE R
2 — from continuing operations  — KB R & F 7% (36) 10 (24) - -
& — from discontinued operations — 2k B B 4% 1F ¥ (372) (479) (234) (370) (339)
8
é (156,167) (62,429) (64,627) (397,161) (530,791)
o
; As at 31 December
z W+=B=+-H
g . 20;2 . 202% . 25%%‘9 — Zﬁg . 202'58
E —E-C —E-— —ZT-F —F— —T—N
2 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000
z FTET AT AT TAT TAT
2
[=
& Assets and liabilities BEEREE
z
a Total assets BEAE 124,383 366,232 361,908 190,954 690,821
S Total liabilities BiEME (250,739) (341,480) (745,016) (518,688) (652,371)
-
o (Capital deficiency) total equity (& AN E#l) s (126,356) 24,752 (383,108 (327,734) 38,450
Non-controlling interests Bt 50 5,658 4,849 4,904 4,534
pm
f%g (Capital deficiency) equity RRRIER NEG
E attributable to owners of (BARE4) R
f;ﬂ the Company (126,306) 30,410 (378,259) (322,830) 42,984
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